

Genomic analysis of carbapenemresistant environmental Gram-Negative Bacteria

by Sopheak Hem

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**

Under the supervision of: Distinguished Prof. Steven P. Djordjevic Dr. Veronica M. Jarocki Dr. Ethan R. Wyrsch Prof. Erica Donner

University of Technology Sydney Faculty of Science, School of Life Science Australian Institute for Microbiology & Infection (AIMI) September 2023

Certificate of original authorship

I, Sopheak Hem, declare that this thesis, is submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the award of Doctor of Philosophy degree at the School of Life Science, University of Technology Sydney, specifically at the Australian Institute for Microbiology & Infection (AIMI).

This thesis is wholly my own work unless otherwise referenced or acknowledged. In addition, I certify that all information sources and literature used are indicated in the thesis. Furthermore, I confirm that this document has not been presented for qualification purposes at any other academic institution.

This research is supported by the Australian Government Research Training Program.

Signature:

Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.

Date: 13/ 09/ 2023

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors, Distinguished Prof. Steven Djordjevic, Dr. Veronica Jarocki, Dr. Ethan Wyrsch, and Prof. Erica Donner, whose expertise, guidance, support, and training were instrumental in making this project possible and enabling me to complete it.

I am also grateful to Dr. Barbara Donner, Prof. Erica Donner, and the University of South Australia for providing me with a valuable collection of aquatic environmental isolates that I had the privilege to work on during my research.

I would like to express my appreciation to Prof. Ian G. Charles and Mr. Dave J. Baker from Quadram Institute Bioscience, Norwich, United Kingdom, for their significant contributions to the field of whole genome sequencing, which provided valuable and remarkable data for our study.

I extend my thanks to all the past and present members of Djordjevic lab, and in particular, Dr. Max Cummins, Dr. Cameron Reid and Dr. Dimitry Li for their invaluable assistance and guidance in the field of bioinformatics, as well as for sharing scripts and databases throughout my candidature.

Special thanks go to Prof. Garry Mayer, Prof. Branwen Morgan, Ms. Shima Baradaran Vahdat, and Ms. Meggie Leung for their assistance in facilitating administrative matters during my international candidature and throughout my time here.

I am immensely grateful to the University of Technology Sydney (UTS), the Australian Institute for Microbiology and Infection (AIMI), Ausgem, and UTS eResearch for their exceptional financial and technical support throughout my project.

Lastly, I would like to express my gratitude to my family and friends, especially my husband and daughter, for their unwavering emotional support during the challenging times, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic, which significantly impacted the timeline of my thesis. Their constant reminders of how proud they are of me have been a great source of motivation.

Statement

This thesis is presented by compilation. Chapters 4, and 5 constitute the results chapters and each has been published while Chapter 6 constitute the results chapter submitted for publication, all are in a peer reviewed journal. The figures, tables, and sections within these chapters have been appropriately revised to ensure consistency and coherence with the overall thesis.

List of publications

<u>Title</u>: Genomic analysis of *Elizabethkingia* species from aquatic environments: evidence for potential clinical transmission

Published in Current Research in Microbial Sciences, 26 November 2021

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100083

<u>Authors</u>: **Sopheak Hem**¹², Veronica M Jarocki¹², Dave J Baker³, Ian G Charles³⁴, Barbara Drigo⁵, Sarah Aucote⁵, Erica Donner⁵, Delaney Burnard⁶, Michelle J Bauer⁶, Patrick N A Harris⁶, Ethan R Wyrsch¹², Steven P Djordjevic¹² Author affiliations

¹iThree Institute, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, NSW 2007, Australia. ²Australian Centre for Genomic Epidemiological Microbiology, University of Technology Sydney, PO Box 123, Broadway, NSW 2007, Australia.

³Quadram Institute Bioscience, Norwich, United Kingdom.

⁴Norwich Medical School, Norwich Research Park, Colney Lane, Norwich NR47TJ, United Kingdom.

⁵Future Industries Institute, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia. ⁶University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Royal Brisbane and Woman's Hospital, Building 71/918 Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital Campus, Herston, QLD 4029, Australia.

<u>Title</u>: Genomic analysis of Carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* in water matrices: implications for public health and wastewater treatments

Published in Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 16 June 2022

https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00646-22

<u>Authors</u>: **Sopheak Hem**^{a,b}, Ethan R. Wyrsch^{a,b}, Barbara Drigo^c, Dave J. Baker^d, Ian G. Charles^{d,e}, Erica Donner^c, Veronica M. Jarocki^{a,b}, Steven P. Djordjevic^{a,b}

Author affiliations

^aAustralian Institute for Microbiology & Infection, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, New South Wales, Australia

^bAustralian Centre for Genomic Epidemiological Microbiology, University of Technology Sydney, Broadway, New South Wales, Australia

^cFuture Industries Institute, University of South Australia, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia ^dQuadram Institute Bioscience, Norwich, United Kingdom

^eNorwich Medical School, Norwich Research Park, Norwich, United Kingdom

<u>Title</u>: Genomic analysis of *Citrobacter* from Australian wastewater and silver gulls reveals novel sequence types carrying critically important antibiotic resistance genes

Published in Science of the Total Environment, 16 November 2023

DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.168608

<u>Authors</u>: **Sopheak Hem**^{1,2}, Max L. Cummins^{1,2}, Ethan R. Wyrsch^{1,2}, Barbara Drigo³, Bethany J. Hoye^{4,5}, Kimberly Maute^{4,5}, Martina Sanderson-Smith⁶, Jody Gorman⁶, Daniel R. Bogema⁷, Cheryl Jenkins⁷, Ania T. Deutscher⁷, Jerald Yam⁷, Faisal Hai⁸, Erica Donner⁹, Veronica M. Jarocki^{+1,2}, Steven P. Djordjevic^{+,1,2}

Author affiliations

¹Australian Institute for Microbiology and Infection, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, Australia

Australia

²The Australian Centre for Genomic Epidemiological Microbiology, University of Technology

Sydney, Ultimo, Australia

³UniSA STEM, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia

⁴School of Earth, Atmospheric and Life Sciences, University of Wollongong NSW Australia ⁵Environmental Futures Research Centre, University of Wollongong NSW Australia ⁶School of Chemistry and Molecular Bioscience and Molecular Horizons, University of

Wollongong, NSW, Australia

⁷Elizabeth Macarthur Agricultural Institute, NSW Department of Primary Industries, Menangle NSW, Australia

⁸School of Civil, Mining, Environmental and Architectural Engineering, University of Wollongong, NSW Australia

⁹Cooperative Research Centre for Solving Antimicrobial resistance in Agribusiness, Food, and Environments (CRC SAAFE), Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

Conference Presentations

- Elizabethkingia species from aquatic environmental settings: Genomic analysis of phylogeny, antimicrobial resistance, and mobile genetic elements
 Australian Society for Microbiology (ASM) Annual Scientific Meeting 2021

 Poster presentation, 31 may 03 June 2021 by <u>Sopheak Hem</u>
 Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Centre, Victoria, Australia
- Genomic analysis of Carbapenem-resistant Comamonas in water matrices: implications for public health and wastewater treatments Australian Society for Infectious Diseases (ASID) Annual Scientific Meeting 2022 Poster presentation, 16 – 18 June 2022 by Sopheak Hem Perth Convention & Exhibition Centre, WA, Australia
- Shared research experiences through *Elizabethkingia* spp. genomic analysis
 Science Talk, 31 August 2022 by Sopheak Hem
 The Loft, University of Technology Sydney
- Genomic analysis of *Elizabethkingia* species from aquatic environments: Evidence for potential clinical transmission The Adelaide JAMS and Flinders Accelerator for Microbiome Exploration (FAME) team Oral Presentation, 20 October 2022 by <u>Sopheak Hem</u> Main Entrance Bradley Building, University of South Australia

Table of Contents

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINAL AUTHORSHIP II		
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	III	
STATEMENT	IV	
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	V	
ABBREVIATIONS	. XII	
ABSTRACT	XV	
CHAPTER 1.THESIS OVERVIEW	1	
1.1 PROJECT BACKGROUND AND RESEARCH QUESTION	1	
1.2 Project AIMS	2	
1.3 CONTRIBUTION TO THE LITERATURE	3	
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	5	
2.1 ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE: A GLOBAL PUBLIC HEALTH THREAT	5	
2.2 EMERGENCE OF AMR IN GRAM-NEGATIVE BACTERIA	6	
2.2.1 AMR in environmental GNB	8	
2.2.2 AMR in environmental Elizabethkingia, Comamonas and Citrobacter species	10	
2.3 MECHANISMS BEHIND AMR	14	
2.3.1 Mechanisms behind carbapenem resistance	16	
2.3.2 Mobile genetic elements: vectors of AMR and pathogen evolution	18	
2.4 ONE HEALTH AMR GENOMIC SURVEILLANCE	25	
CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	28	
3.1 SUMMARY	28	
3.2 SAMPLE COLLECTION AND BACTERIAL ISOLATION	30	
3.3 DNA EXTRACTION AND WHOLE-GENOME SEQUENCING	31	
3.4 BIOINFORMATICAL METHODS	31	
3.4.1 Genome quality control, assembly, and annotation	31	
3.4.2 Phylogenetic analysis	32	
3.4.3 Genotypic identification of novel species	35	
3.4.4 Gene screening	35	
3.4.5 Mobile Genetic Elements detection	36	
CHAPTER 4. GENOMIC ANALYSIS OF <i>ELIZABETHKINGIA</i> SPECIES FROM AQUATIC ENVIRONMENTS: EVIDENCE FOR POTENTIAL CLINICAL TRANSMISSION	38	
4.1 DECLARATION	38	

4.2 Abstract	41
4.3 BACKGROUND	41
4.4 Methods	43
4.4.1 Sample collection and Isolation of carbapenem-resistant Elizabethkingia spp	43
4.4.2 MALDI-TOF MS species identification and DNA extraction	44
4.4.3 Real-Time multiplex PCR assay	45
4.4.4 Whole-genome sequencing	47
4.4.5 Phylogenetic analysis	48
4.4.6 Genotyping	48
4.4.7 Genome annotation	49
4.4.8 Minimum Inhibitory Concentration testing	49
4.5 RESULTS	49
4.5.1 Absolute quantification of Elizabethkingia species	50
4.5.2 Identification of Elizabethkingia species	51
4.5.3 Phylogenetic analysis	51
4.5.4 Identification of proposed new species Elizabethkingia umeracha sp. nov	53
4.5.5 Pangenome analysis	54
4.5.6 Virulent gene identification	56
4.5.7. Beta-lactamase resistance genes and Other ARGs	57
4.5.8 AMR phenotypic analysis: MIC testing	60
4.5.9 Mobile genetic elements characterization: ICEs, Plasmid and Phage	64
4.6 DISCUSSION	64
CHAPTER 5. GENOMIC ANALYSIS OF CARBAPENEM-RESISTANT <i>COMAMONAS</i> IN WATER MATRICES: IMPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC HEALTH AND WASTEWATER TREATMENTS	69
5.1 DECLARATION	69
5.2 Abstract	71
5.3 BACKGROUND	
5.4 METHODS	
5.4.1 Sample collection and bacterial isolation	73
5.4.2 Isolation of Carbapenem-resistant Comamonas species and MALDI-TOF MS	,0
species identification	74

5.4.3 DNA extraction and WGS	74
5.4.4 Phylogenetic analysis	74
5.4.5 Genotyping	75
5.4.6 Genome annotation	75
5.5 Results	76
5.5.1 Identification of Comamonas species	76
5.5.2 Phylogenetic analysis	77
5.5.3 Pangenome analysis of Comamonas denitrificans	80
5.5.4 Antimicrobial resistance genes identification	81
5.5.5 Comamonas denitrificans IncP-1 plasmid	84
5.6 DISCUSSION	86
CHAPTER 6.GENOMIC ANALYSIS OF <i>CITROBACTER</i> FROM AUSTRALIAN WAS AND SILVER GULLS REVEALS NOVEL SEQUENCE TYPES CARRYING CRITIC/ IMPORTANT ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE GENES	STEWATER ALLY 91
6.1 DECLARATION	91
6.2 Abstract	94
6.3 BACKGROUND	94
6.4 Methods	96
6.4.1 Bacterial isolation and DNA extraction	
6.4.2 Whole-genome sequencing, read filtering and genomic assembly	
6.4.3 Quality control	
6.4.4 Species identification	
6.4.5 Phylogenetic trees and generation of pairwise SNP distances	
6.4.6 Genotypic characterisation	
6.5 RESULTS	
6.5.1 Identification of Citrobacter spp	
6.5.2 Resistance traits, ARG and MGE carriage	
6.5.3 Preliminary analysis of CIA resistance gene context in Citrobacter spp	
6.5.4 Putative virulence traits	
6.5.5 Investigation of potential One Health linkages	
6.6 DISCUSSION	110
0.0 Discussion	-

A	PPENDIXES	164
REFERENCES12		.126
	7.5 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND DIRECTIONS	.124
	7.4 DISCUSSION OF AIM 4: COMPARISONS TO PUBLIC DATA	. 122
	7.3 DISCUSSION OF AIM 3: FINDING NOVEL SPECIES	.121
	7.2 DISCUSSION OF AIM 2: IDENTIFYING CRITICAL GENES AND MOBILE ELEMENTS	.118
	7.1 DISCUSSION OF AIM 1: GENOMIC ANALYSIS OF SELECTED SPECIES	. 117

Abbreviations

AmpC	Type C ampicillinase
AMR	Antimicrobial resistance
ARG	Antimicrobial resistance gene
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
Вр	Base pairs
BRIG	BLAST Ring Image Generator
CARD	Comprehensive antimicrobial resistance database
СС	Clonal complex
CIA	Critically Important Antimicrobial
CLSI	Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
CRE	Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae
CRR	Complex resistance region
DDH	DNA-DNA hybridization
DNA	Desoxyribonucleic acid
ESBL	Extended-spectrum β-lactamase
EUCAST	European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
GES	Guiana extended-spectrum ß-lactamase
GGDC	Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator
GI	Genomic Islands
GIM	German imipenemase
GNB	Gram Negative Bacteria
HGT	Horizontal gene transfer
ICE	Integrative conjugative elements

IMI	Imipenem-hydrolyzing ß-lactamase
IMP	Imipenem-resistant Pseudomonas carbapenemase
Inc	Incompatibility
IS	Insertion Sequence
iTOL	Interactive tree of life
Kb	Kilobases
KPC	Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase
LB	Lysogeny broth
MALDI-TOF	Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight
Mb	Megabases
MBLs	Metallo-ß-lactamase
MDR	Multi-drug resistant
MDS	Multidimensional scaling
MGE	Mobile genetic element
MIC	Minimum inhibitory concentration
MLST	Multi-locus sequence type
NCBI	National Centre for Biotechnology Information
NDM	New Delhi metallo-ß-lactamase
NSW	New South Wales
ORF	Open reading frame
OXA	oxacillinase
PCA	Plate Counting Agar
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PK-PD	Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic
pMLST	Plasmid multi-locus sequence typing XIII

RST	Replicon sequence type
SA	South Australia
SDR	Short-chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase
SIM	Seoul imipenemase
SMP	Sao Paulo metallo-ß-lactamase
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
ST	Sequence type
Tn	Transposon
UTI	Urinary tract infection
VAG	Virulence-associated gene
VFDB	Virulence factor database
VIM	Verona integron-borne metallo-ß-lactamase
WGS	Whole genome sequencing
WHO	World Health Organisation
WWTPs	Wastewater treatment plants

Abstract

The contamination of water bodies with antibiotics, biocides/pesticides, metals, pharmaceuticals, as well as antibiotic-resistant bacteria creates constant selection pressures that promote horizontal gene transfer, a major driver of microbial evolution. Consequently, contaminated water may introduce multiple drug resistant pathogens into healthcare facilities, food production environments, wildlife and agriculture. There is also a growing concern that healthy human and food animal microbial flora harbour considerable antibiotic resistance and virulence gene loads. These developments enhance reliance on carbapenem and other last line antibiotics, which play a crucial role in treating severe Gram-negative bacterial infections This study aimed to investigate the issue using whole genome sequencing (WGS) on carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacterial isolates from environmental water sources. The investigation focused on three genera: *Elizabethkingia* (n=94), *Comamonas* (n=39), and *Citrobacter* (n=77). Comprehensive genomic analyses were performed to explore phylogenetics, species typing, SNP distances, and to characterise mobile genetic elements (MGEs), virulence-associated genes, and antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs).

The study revealed intriguing findings concerning carbapenem-resistant bacteria. In *Elizabethkingia*, environmental isolates closely related to clinical strains causing sepsis were identified, indicating the significance of natural water bodies as potential sources for pathogenic *Elizabethkingia*. Furthermore, a novel species, *E. umeracha*, was identified, carrying novel metallo β -lactamase and extended-spectrum cephalosporin gene alleles. The investigations into *Comamonas* revealed *bla*_{GES-5} and *bla*_{OXA} present on unique putative genomic islands. Additionally, one *C. denitrificans* isolate carried an IncP-1 plasmid with metal resistant genes involved in xenobiotic degradation. Regarding *Citrobacter*, it was observed that isolates from wastewater exhibited a substantial burden of ARGs, and several novel multidrug-resistant lineages were identified. Notably, *C. freundii* isolates carried two carbapenemase genes, *bla*_{IMP-4} located within a class 1 integron on IncM plasmids, and *bla*_{KPC-2} on IncP plasmids. Additionally, our study identified a *C. portucalensis* isolate carrying *bla*_{NDM-1}, *bla*_{SHV-12}, and *mcr-9* genes.

Our study provided valuable insights into the presence of carbapenem-resistant species in environmental waters. The identification of new species and novel ARG alleles enriched our understanding of the genetic diversity within these bacterial genera. Moreover, the investigation shed light on the MGEs that harbour and presumably

transmit these genes. We also identified phylogenetic and genotypic connections between environmental isolates and other sources, unveiling potential origins and transfer mechanisms of MGEs. These findings contribute to our knowledge of the spread of antibiotic resistance in water environments which is crucial for implementing effective measures to mitigate the impact of this growing public health concern.

Chapter 1. Thesis Overview

1.1 Project Background and Research Question

Understanding the genomic characteristics of resistant Gram-negative bacterial populations in natural environments is of paramount importance due to the widespread release of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) factors and selection pressures resulting from human activities. Anthropogenic activities such as wastewater management [1,2], healthcare and pharmaceutical waste [3,4], stormwater runoff [5], agricultural practices [6,7], and aquaculture [8] all contribute to the release of antibiotic resistant bacteria, antibiotic residues, heavy metals, disinfectants, pharmaceuticals, and other chemicals. These factors create a persistent selection pressure for bacteria to develop resistance mechanisms and proliferate.

Despite mounting evidence highlighting the environment as a crucial reservoir of AMR, there is a significant knowledge gap regarding the prevalence of resistant Gramnegative bacteria (GNB) in natural environments, both in Australia and globally. In this thesis, we use the term "environment" to refer to entities that are neither human nor animal. Consequently, we define "environmental isolates" as those derived from non-human and non-animal sources. These sources include soil, water, air, plants and inanimate objects. We aimed to address this gap, at least partially, by asking the following research question: what are the genomic characteristics and AMR profiles of GNB in Australian aquatic environments?

As part of the One Health surveillance initiative OUTBREAK, water samples were collected from various sources such as wastewater, dams, and wetlands. These samples were cultured on carbapenem selective media, allowing for the isolation and subsequent whole genome sequencing (WGS) of 665 isolates. The collection of isolates represented approximately 40 genera and hundreds of species (Figure 1). However, in order to conduct in-depth genomic analyses, the study focused on three key genera: *Elizabethkingia* spp., *Comamonas* spp., and *Citrobacter* spp. These genera were chosen based on their prominence in the sample collection and/or their global relevance, as supported by a comprehensive literature review (Chapter 2).



Figure 1: A phylogenetic tree which is midpoint rooted generated using Phylosift of the focal collections in the study, showcasing the genomes of all 665 isolates grown on carbapenem plates. Isolates studied in this thesis are boxed in blue.

1.2 Project aims

- Characterise the population structures of the three chosen bacterial genera through phylogenetic studies, genotyping, and single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) analysis.
- Characterise antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) and virulence associated genes (VAGs), plasmid replicon sequence types and critical mobile genetic elements (MGEs) using bioinformatic methods to highlight any potential threat from environmental isolates in our study and compare these gene profiles to sequences in public databases.
- Identify possible novel species or rare species from the environmental water sourced and contribute these genomes to public database repositories.
- Compare the dataset generated by this project with WGS data accumulated in public database repositories, sourced from humans, swine, poultry, and wild bird populations to identify evidence of the mobility of dominant clonal lineages and mobile genetic elements.

1.3 Contribution to the literature

. The primary findings of the study were as follows:

- The study identified environmental *Elizabethkingia anophelis* that were closely related to sepsis-causing clinical isolates. This discovery highlights water bodies as an important source for pathogenic *Elizabethkingia* spp., shedding light on potential transmission dynamics.
- The study determined the genetic context and mobilization potential of carbapenemase-encoding genes in the three species under investigation. Notably, it revealed evidence of the horizontal acquisition of carbapenemase *bla*_{GES-5} via genomic islands in *Comamonas* and the presence of carbapenemases *bla*_{IMP-4} and *bla*_{KPC-2} on IncM2 and IncP6 plasmids, respectively, in *Citrobacter* species. These findings contribute to our understanding of the mechanisms underlying the spread of AMR in these bacteria.
- The study identified a novel species, *Elizabethkingia umeracha*, expanding the known diversity within the *Elizabethkingia* genus.
- By adding 33 Comamonas denitrificans genomes to public databases, this study significantly enriched our knowledge of the genetic diversity of this species. Prior to this study, only one Comamonas denitrificans genome was available, underscoring the importance of this contribution.
- The study discovered diverse Australian environmental populations of *Citrobacter*, including the identification of 17 novel sequence types (STs) and several novel multidrug-resistant (MDR) lineages.
- The study identified the presence of a recently reclassified species, *Citrobacter portucalensis*, in wastewater. Furthermore, one *C. portucalensis* isolate was found to carry genes conferring resistance to nine different classes of antibiotics. The arrangement of genes in this isolate's genome was investigated in greater detail.

In summary, these findings provide valuable insights into the genetic characteristics, epidemiology, and potential public health implications of carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria in aquatic environments. They expand our understanding of the diversity, evolution, and transmission dynamics of these bacteria,

providing a foundation for further research and potential interventions to mitigate their impact on human health and sheds light on the genetic features of mobile genetic elements carried by these bacterial lineages that harbour genes encoding resistance to clinically important antibiotics.

Chapter 2. Literature review

2.1 Antimicrobial resistance: A global public health threat

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) poses a major threat to human health around the world. It refers to the ability of microorganisms, such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, and parasites, to develop resistance to the drugs used to treat infections caused by them, resulting in prolonged illnesses, higher healthcare costs, and increased mortality rates [9].

A study conducted in 2019 across 204 countries and territories revealed that 4.95 million deaths were associated with bacterial AMR, with 1.27 million deaths directly attributable to it [10]. This death toll is projected to steadily rise, imposing an estimated economic burden of around 86 trillion dollars by 2050 [11]. This clearly leads to a profound global impact on economics and healthcare management [12].

The rise of AMR is influenced by several factors. Misuse and overuse of antimicrobial drugs, both in human medicine and agriculture, have played a major role in accelerating the development and spread of resistance. Inappropriate prescribing practices, patients not completing full courses of antibiotics, and the use of antibiotics as growth promoters in livestock over many years have contributed to the emergence and dissemination of resistant strains [13]. Resistant bacteria can easily spread between countries through international travel and trade, further exacerbating the problem. Developing countries are particularly vulnerable due to inadequate healthcare infrastructure, limited access to quality antimicrobials, and poor infection prevention and control practices [11].

The most widely consumed antibiotics worldwide are β -lactams, which include penicillins and cephalosporins, and are used to treat infections caused by both Gramnegative and Gram-positive bacteria [14]. However, the overuse of β -lactams results in resistance, necessitating the use of "last-resort antibiotics", such as carbapenems, for the treatment of severe infections in situations where both Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria are resistant to penicillins, cephalosporins, and extended-spectrum β lactams (ESBLs) [15]. The development of carbapenem resistance results in complete resistance to all β -lactams [14, 15, 16].

The selective pressure exerted by an antibiotic lead to a scenario where populations of predominantly susceptible bacteria are killed providing an opportunity where resistant bacteria survive and proliferate. Consequently, the population becomes predominantly composed of resistant bacteria [17] (Figure 2) enhancing opportunities for mobile elements that carry many of the resistance genes to spread to other bacterial populations that are simultaneously experiencing the same selection pressure. These scenarios are exacerbated by co-selection, a process that arises because resistance genes co-evolve, often within close proximity to one another on the same mobile genetic element. As such any one of a number of different selection pressures (biocide, metal or pharmaceutical agents) can promote resistance to a clinically important antibiotic.

Addressing AMR requires a multi-pronged approach that includes measured and informed antimicrobial use, a greater emphasis on genomic surveillance, improved communication, and data sharing. While there is pressing need for the development of new antimicrobial drugs [18] unless there are substantial improvements to how we manage antimicrobial selection pressures, these new drugs will likely experience comparatively short-lived success [13].



Figure 2: Diagram illustrating the development of antibiotic resistance depicted through selective pressure by killing susceptible bacteria, allowing antibiotic-resistant bacteria to survive and multiply. Figure obtained from [19].

2.2 Emergence of AMR in Gram-negative bacteria

Gram-negative bacteria (GNB) cause a plethora of diseases, including pneumonia, gastrointestinal diseases, urinary tract infections UTIs), and bloodstream infections. Therefore, emergence of AMR in GNB is a critical concern for public health, particularly in hospital and healthcare settings [19], as common and previously easy-totreat infections become harder to treat and potentially lethal [9]. Gram-negative bacteria, such as *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Acinetobacter baumannii*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Enterobacter* spp. and *Escherichia coli* are all important members of the ESKAPE-E pathogen group (*Enterococcus faecium*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *K. pneumoniae*, *A. baumannii*, *P. aeruginosa*, *Enterobacter* spp. and *E. coli*), which account for the majority of AMR bacterial infections worldwide [20], and are associated with the highest risk of mortality and increased healthcare costs [21]. The literature is full of reports of ESKAPE-E strains exhibiting multidrug-resistance (MDR),defined as acquired resistance to a minimum of one drug within three or more categories or classes of antimicrobial agents [22]. As such, the World Health Organization (WHO) recently listed ESKAPE-E pathogens as a priority for the development of new antibiotics [23].

MDR Gram-negative infections are a major global health challenge due to the inadequate response of these pathogens to antimicrobials [24]. The unique structure of Gram-negative bacterial cell wall which comprises two lipid membranes contributes to their ability to acquire and transfer resistance mechanisms. The outer membrane acts as a selective chemical barrier, restricting the entry of antibiotics rendering them unable to exert their therapeutic potential [25,26]. Additionally, GNB can develop various resistance mechanisms, including the production of enzymes to inactivate antibiotics, efflux pumps to expel drugs from the cell, and alterations in drug targets [27].

The consequences of AMR in GNB are significant. Infections caused by these resistant pathogens are associated with higher morbidity and mortality rates compared to susceptible strains [9]. Furthermore, the limited treatment options for MDR Gramnegative infections often necessitate the use of last-resort antibiotics, such as carbapenems and colistin. However, as mentioned previously, even these options are increasingly being compromised by the emergence of carbapenem-resistant and colistin-resistant strains, leaving clinicians with few effective options [28]. Resistance to carbapenems emerged shortly after their introduction into the clinical environment, similar to other antibiotics used to treat Gram-negative bacteria (Figure 3) [29]. Colistin is currently an antibiotic of last resort for the treatment for life-threatening infections caused by carbapenem-resistant GNB. However, bacteria resistant to colistin have been detected in several countries, leading to infections that currently have no effective antibiotic treatment [30].

Bacteraemia caused by GNB is a pressing public health issue, leading to severe disease and billions of dollars in global economic costs [31]. Between 1997 to 2013, the

global proportion of bacteraemia cases attributed to GNB including *E. coli*, *K. pneumoniae*, *P. aeruginosa*, and *A. baumannii*, increased from 33% to 43% [32]. UTIs caused by GNB such as *E. coli*, *K. pneumoniae*, *P. mirabilis*, and *Citrobacter* species are another severe public health problem, affecting 150 million people worldwide each year [33]. Nosocomial infections caused by these microorganisms pose a significant challenge in patient management, particularly in lower respiratory tract infections where they exhibit high resistance rates and non-responsiveness to antibiotic therapy [34].

Lack of effective antibiotics are affecting healthcare systems globally, regardless of the country's development level. Ineffectiveness due to the spread of drug resistance has led to more difficult-to-treat infections and increased mortality rates [35]. There is an urgent need for new antibiotics, particularly to treat carbapenem-resistant and colistinresistant Gram-negative bacterial infections. However, if effective tools for the prevention and adequate treatment of drug-resistant infections are not found and access to existing and new quality-assured antimicrobials is not improved, these new antibiotics will face the same fate as current ones, resulting in increased treatment failure [36].



Figure 3: Emergence of antibiotic resistance following introduction into clinical use. This graph shows the time lag between an antibiotic being introduced to clinical use and the first appearance of resistance. Figure obtained from [29].

2.2.1 AMR in environmental GNB

The environment serves as a reservoir for diverse GNB populations [37]. These bacteria can be exposed to antimicrobial agents through various sources such as agricultural runoff (antimicrobials, biocides, and metals), wastewater discharge, and the

release of pharmaceuticals and antimicrobial residues from hospitals and the general community, into the environment. Consequently, GNB in the environment may encounter selective pressures favouring the development and persistence of AMR [38].

Humans can become colonised with resistant bacteria following exposure to contaminated medical equipment, water (consumable and recreational), and companion animals [39–41]. Particularly problematic are highly contaminated environments, such as wastewater treatment plants and hospital drainage systems, which can act as hubs for pathogen accumulation, facilitating the exchange and acquisition of genetic elements, including ARGs [41,42].

Many antibiotics are partially absorbed and unmetabolised antimicrobial components are subsequently released into the environment through sewage treatment plants, waterways, and food animal and horticultural practices [43]. Therefore, the environment, especially water and soil, serves as a dynamic ecosystem that harbours a diverse pool of ARGs [44,45]. Collectively, the environment likely represents the largest reservoir of known and latent antimicrobial resistance genes and has an abundance of mobile genetic elements to capture these genes. As such environmental bacteria play a crucial role as a source of new ARGs [46]. Latent ARGs, defined as genes encoding antimicrobial activity that are yet to reach clinical significance and remain poorly or undefined in AMR gene repositories. However, a recent study analysing more than 10,000 metagenomic samples found that latent genes are abundant in wastewater and in environmental microbial communities [47]. Latent ARGs are widely distributed and often mobilised and associated with MGEs [47]. Latent ARGs are also evident in human and animal microbiomes and are found in ESKAPE pathogens [48]. This suggests that latent ARGs may pose significant risks to human health [46,49,50] but are poorly defined and remain undetected.

Latent ARGs likely to contribute to poor concordance in phenotype/genotype associations in some pathogens (48) and present a major knowledge gap in efforts to implement mitigations strategies to better control the flow of resistance genes from a one health perspective. These knowledge gaps also hamper efforts to extend the efficacious half-life of existing and new antibiotics.

The importance of investigating known and novel ARGs carried by environmental bacteria should not be underestimated. Prominent ESBLs (bla_{CTX-M}), quinolone resistance genes (*qnrA*), fosfomycin resistance genes (*fosA8*) and carbapenemases

 $(bla_{OXA-48}, and bla_{NDM-1})$ all originated from marine and soil bacterium and have subsequently entered clinical isolates through plasmids [51]. The presence of these genes in both environmental and pathogenic bacteria further highlights the interconnectedness of resistance gene dissemination [52].

2.2.2 AMR in environmental *Elizabethkingia*, *Comamonas* and *Citrobacter* species

It is known that many environmental bacteria are intrinsically resistant to carbapenems. For example, *Elizabethkingia* species are environmental GNB that display intrinsic resistance to carbapenems [53]. Another genus of GNB, *Comamonas* spp., is abundant in aquatic and soil environments, including wastewater, harbouring genes encoding carbapenemases and other clinically important antibiotic resistance genes [54,55]. Similarly, *Citrobacter* spp., which are ubiquitous in soil, food, and water bodies, and are part of the commensal intestinal microbiota of humans and animals are intrinsically resistant to broad and extended-spectrum beta-lactamases due to the presence of chromosomal *bla*_{CMY} genes [56–58]. However, recent reports have also identified carbapenemase-encoding genes in *Citrobacter* populations [59–61].

Understanding the resistance patterns of environmental bacteria can help predict the regional resistance situation [62] and potentially provide indications of historical antibiotic use [63]. Several recent studies have used sewage monitoring as a complement to clinical surveillance of resistance, phenotypic analyses, and ARG analysis [64,65].

2.2.2.1 AMR in *Elizabethkingia* species

Elizabethkingia is a genus of Gram-negative bacteria that belongs to the *Weeksellaceae* family, commonly found in the environment, including soil, water, and plants, and can also be present in healthcare settings [66]. This genus was named after Elizabeth O. King, an American microbiologist who made significant contributions to clinical microbiology.

Elizabethkingia species are opportunistic pathogens that can cause severe infections in humans, particularly in immunocompromised individuals or those with underlying health conditions. There are six species identified: *E. meningoseptica, E. anophelis, E. miricola, E. occulta, E. ursingii*, and *E. bruuniana* [53]. Among these species, *E. meningoseptica* and *E. anophelis* are the two known human pathogens causing bloodstream infections, pneumonia, meningitis, and UTIs [53,67].

Elizabethkingia spp. carry genes that confer resistance to clinically important antibiotics. These unique genes include the chromosomal metallo-beta-lactamase genes bla_B and bla_{GOB} , which encode resistance to carbapenems and bla_{CME} , which confers resistance to all cephalosporins [68].

Treating *Elizabethkingia* infections is challenging, and case fatality rates are high. Added to carbapenem and cephalosporin resistant, these bacteria have also been reported to produce simultaneous resistance to many other antimicrobial agents, including most β -lactams and inhibitors, aminoglycosides, macrolides, tetracycline, vancomycin, fluoroquinolones, and sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim. In addition to *bla*_{CME}, *bla*_B and *bla*_{GOB}, *Elizabehkingia* isolates have been reported carrying other β -lactamase genes, such as *bla*_{OXA} and *bla*_{TEM} [69]. Other resistance genes found in *Elizabethkingia* species include the aminoglycoside resistance genes *rnaA/rnaB* and the chloramphenicol resistance gene *catB11*. Aminoglycoside resistance genes such as *aadS*, *aac(3)-IVb*, and *aac(3)-IIIc* have also been detected [69]. Fluoroquinolone resistance is associated with mutations in the *GyrA* gene, specifically a single amino acid substitution (Ser83Ile or Ser83Arg) in *GyrA* [70].

To date, most studies on *Elizabethkingia* have been performed on clinical isolates. For example, a study performed in Saudi Arabia in 2019 reported diverse resistance genes in clinical *E. meningoseptica* strains, including different lactamases, fluoroquinolone resistance mutations in *gyrB*, (tetracycline resistance genes *tetA*, *tetO* and *tetB*) and numerous multidrug resistance efflux pumps but it did not delve into the specific mechanisms by which these genes confer resistance [71]. A recent Australian study reported that some Australian *E. anophelis* isolates are genetically closely related to strains from the United States, England, and Asia [72].

Comparative genomics of clinical and environmental strains of *Elizabethkingia* spp. identified evidence of nosocomial transmission in patients, indicating probable infection from a hospital reservoir [72] but little has been done to extend the research to investigate isolates from natural environments. Another study in 2019 at Taiwan [73] utilized comparative genomics to analyze the genomes of six species within the *Elizabethkingia* genus, including *E. meningoseptica*, *E. anophelis*, *E. miricola*, *E. bruuniana*, *E. ursingii*, and *E. occulta*.

The study identified clusters of orthologous groups and observed an expansion of the pan genome, indicating adaptive evolution in response to environmental changes.

Genomic analyses of these isolates showed evidence of various antimicrobial resistance mechanisms, including multidrug resistance efflux pumps, β -lactamases, proteins linked to vancomycin resistance, and quinolone-resistance determining regions (related to DNA gyrase and topoisomerase IV). While the study provides information about the presence of various antimicrobial resistance mechanisms in the studied species, it does not elaborate on their specific impact or significance. It is unclear how these resistance factors contribute to the overall antimicrobial resistance profile of the species or their potential implications for clinical treatment. Further exploration of the functional aspects and clinical relevance of these antimicrobial resistance mechanisms would help bridge this knowledge gap.

2.2.2.2 AMR in Comamonas species

Comamonas spp. are non-fermenting Gram-negative bacilli, consisting of 24 species identified to date [74]. They are found in various environmental settings such as soil, wastewater, and freshwater bodies including ponds and rivers. They have also been isolated from industrial environments like activated sludge and polluted soil, as well as from the hospital environment and clinical samples such as urine, pus, blood, faeces, and kidneys [75].

While *Comamonas* species have diverse catabolic abilities, some species can also act as opportunistic pathogens causing serious infection such as septicaemia and endocarditis in immunocompetent hosts [76–78].

However, they may be underdiagnosed in routine clinical microbiology due to poor growth [79], and even when successfully cultured, biochemical identification tests often mistakenly classify them as *Pseudomonas* species. Additionally, MALDI-TOF MS identification can also lead to misidentification of *Comamonas* at the species level [80]. While WGS could be used for accurate speciation, there is currently a lack of WGS data on many *Comamonas* species. Furthermore, antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in *Comamonas* species poses a significant concern due to its potential impact on human health.

Resistance to β -lactam class antimicrobials in *Comamonas* spp. has been attributed to the presence of multiple genes. A study in China in 2017 found *C. testosteroni* carries a novel Class A β -lactamase (*CzoA*). Located upstream of *czoA* is a *LysR* family transcriptional regulator *czoR*. Studies showed that CzoR is likely to regulate the expression of *czoA* because it specifically binds to the *czoA* regulatory region [81].

Expression of *czoA* results in resistance to benzylpenicillin, ampicillin, cefalexin, cefazolin, cefuroxime, ceftriaxone, and cefepime. In *C. kerstersii*, several resistance genes were identified, including *tetA*, *strB*, *sul1*, *bla*_{OXA-1}, *strA*, *sul2*, *catB3*, and *floR*. Additionally, *C. thiooxydans* was found to possess *bla*_{IMP-8} reported from UTI in China with *bla*_{IMP-8} and *bla*_{OXA} genes (encoding resistance to β-lactams) and *aac*(6')-*lb-c* gene (resistance to aminoglycosides) [55]. Antimicrobial susceptibility analysis indicated that the *C. thiooxydans* strain ZDHYF418 was susceptible to imipenem, intermediate to meropenem, and was resistant to aztreonam, fluoroquinolones, and aminoglycosides.

The bla _{IMP-8} gene found in *C. thiooxydans* ZDHYF418 [55] was chromosomally located, and was part of a Tn402-like class 1 integron characterized by the following structure: *DDE-type integrase/transposase/ recombinase-tniB-tniQ-recombinase family protein-aac(6')-lb-cr-bla* _{IMP-8}-*intl1*. Another study in Japan in 2022 identified a *bla*_{IMP-1} gene in *C. thiooxydans* NR4028 possessed plasmid-encoded IMP-1, a common carbapenemase gene in Japan, and resistant to meropenem [82]. The IMP-1-encoding plasmid was about 30 kbp in length and did not have a locus Tra region, which is an essential region for conjugation.

Moreover, this study found that the plasmid structure of *C. thiooxydans* NR4028 with similar plasmid replicase genes and the genetic environment of resistance genes in IMP-1-encoded plasmids. The plasmid *repA* replicase gene that was present in their isolate was different from that circulating in *Enterobacterales*, but had high homology to those of plasmids in non-fermenting Gram-negative bacteria, including *Vitreoscilla filiformis* (CP022425), *Xanthomonas* spp.(CP024031), and *P.aeruginosa* (KR106190) [83]. These findings highlight the presence of various resistance mechanisms within different species of *Comamonas*, underscoring the importance of monitoring and understanding antimicrobial resistance in this bacterial genus.

Given their potential involvement in wastewater bioaugmentation and bioremediation strategies, it is also of interest to investigate whether these bacteria have the ability to transfer resistance genes to other microorganisms, thereby contributing to the spread of resistance in different ecological niches.

2.2.2.3 AMR in *Citrobacter* species

Citrobacter species are Gram-negative, opportunistic pathogens commonly found in the environment, as well as in the gastrointestinal tracts of human and animal [84]. *Citrobacter* spp. have the potential to cause a range of infections involving the

urinary and respiratory tracts, bloodstream, and intra-abdominal infections. Up to date, 16 species have been identified. *C. koseri* has been associated with cases of neonatal meningitis and brain abscess while *C. freundii* with gastroenteritis, neonatal meningitis, and septicemia [85]. *C. freundii* is a frequent cause of UTI [86]. AMR in *Citrobacter* species poses a challenge in the treatment of infections caused by these bacteria. Resistance to various classes of antimicrobial agents, including β -lactams, aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones, and sulfonamides, has been reported [87].

Citrobacter species are intrinsically resistant to broad and ESBL due to the presence of chromosomal *bla*_{CMY} genes [88,89]. However, recent reports have identified the presence of carbapenemase encoding genes in *Citrobacter* populations. Metallo- β -lactamases (MBLs), encoded by genes such as *bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{OXA-48}, *bla*_{VIM}, *bla*_{IMP}, and *bla*_{NDM}, confer resistance to carbapenems and hydrolyze almost all β -lactams, making the treatment of MBL-carrying pathogens challenging [90]. AMR encoding genes are reported with increasing frequency in *C. freundii* in recent years [91]. MDR *C. freundii* has been reported in numerous hosts including chickens, in petting zoo animals, turtles, foxes and ducks [87,92–95].

The increased prevalence of AMR in *Citrobacter* species emphasizes the need for effective surveillance and improved infection control measures, and appropriate antimicrobial stewardship. The focus needs to shift from having a clinical imperative to one that adopts a one health approach: human-animal-environment [96] and apply genomic methodologies to examine lineages of *Citrobacter* spp. This data underpins efforts to optimize infection prevention and control practices to minimize the transmission of resistant *Citrobacter* strains.

2.3 Mechanisms behind AMR

AMR can arise through intrinsic and acquired resistance mechanisms, facilitated either by the capture of resistance genes through horizontal gene transfer (HGT) for the latter or via genetic modifications to molecules, resulting in altered function for the former. These adaptations enable microbes to resist the actions of antimicrobial agents. One common mechanism is the production of enzymes by bacteria that leads to resistance to important classes of antibiotics. For example, the β -lactamases inactivate or modify β -lactams. Another mechanism involves the alteration or mutation of target sites [26] in core genes needed to execute essential cellular functions. Certain bacteria may undergo genetic changes that modify the structure of their cell wall or other components, making

them less susceptible to the effects of antibiotics. This alteration can reduce the ability of antibiotics to bind to their target and inhibit the growth or kill the bacteria. Efflux pumps are also used by bacteria to resist antibiotics. These pumps actively expel the drug from inside the cell, preventing it from reaching its target and exerting its antimicrobial activity. This mechanism is particularly relevant in multidrug-resistant bacteria, as efflux pumps can confer resistance to multiple classes of antimicrobial drugs (Figure 4A).

ARGs can be found on the bacterial chromosome or mobilised by plasmids. Additionally, ARGs on the chromosome may have been obtained through HGT [97] (Figure 4B) [17]. HGT is facilitated by mobile genetic elements (MGEs) such as plasmids and phages and enables the movement of ARGs not only within the same species but also between different species and genera. This mobility is achieved through various mechanisms, including conjugation, transduction, and transformation [98].

HGT serves as the primary driver of MDR in both Gram-negative and Grampositive bacteria. The diversity and mobility of antimicrobial resistance genes contribute to the emergence and spread of AMR [99]. Resistance that is acquired via plasmids plays a crucial role in both HGT. It is important to distinguish between the different mechanisms that influence HGT (see below). Once resistance genes are captured by the action of insertion elements and via the action of other mobile genetic elements, complex resistance regions can be assembled by facilitating the assembly of ARGs through transposition and recombination mechanisms [100].



Figure 4: Mechanisms behind antimicrobial resistance in Gram–negative bacteria. (A) Expression of intrinsic resistance such as target modifications, permeability alterations by loss of outer membrane porins, mutations chromosomal genes resulting in antibiotic-inactivating enzymes and efflux pump. Involved mechanisms in horizontal gene transfer. Figure obtained from [101]. (B) Horizontal transfer of AMR via conjugation, transduction, and transformation. Figure obtained from [102].

2.3.1 Mechanisms behind carbapenem resistance

The mechanisms behind carbapenem resistance are often multifactorial, involving a combination of different resistance mechanisms in a single bacterium. However, carbapenem-resistant GNB employ three primary resistance mechanisms: i) carbapenemase-producing enzymes, ii) porin mutations, and iii) efflux pump expression [103]. Carbapenemase-producing enzymes represent a critically important mechanism which can inactivate carbapenems and other β -lactam antibiotics [24]. The capture of a novel genes encoding carbapenemase activity on a mobile genetic element poses a serious threat to the long-term effectiveness of these last-line, life-saving antibiotics.

Carbapenemases have been divided into three classes: A, B and D. Class A carbapenemases encompass penicillinases encoded by such genes as *bla*GES, *bla*IMI, bla_{SME} and bla_{KPC}. Class B are comprised of metallo-β-lactamases encoded by such genes as *bla_{NDM}*, *bla_{VIM}* and *bla_{IMP}*, and Class D contains oxacillinases represented by a series of bla_{OXA} genes [104] (Figure 5). For Carbapenem resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) are generally divided into two main subgroups: carbapenemase-producing CRE (CP-CRE) and non-carbapenemase-producing CRE (non-CP-CRE) (Figure 5B) [105].



Figure 5: (A) Phylogenetic tree of the carbapenemase genes in Gram-negative bacilli: Enterobacteriaceae, Pseudomonas and Acinetobacter that divided into three classes: A, B and D. Figure obtained from [104]. (B) Classification of the different mechanisms of drug resistance in CRE which divided into two main subgroups: carbapenemase-producing CRE (CP-CRE) and non-carbapenemase-producing CRE (non-CP-CRE). Figure obtained from [105].

Epidemiologically, carbapenem-resistance has emerged worldwide in the last three decades. Since the first identification of blakPC from Klebsiella pneumoniae in 1996 [106], other carbapenemase-genes have been reported at accelerating rates worldwide [107]. For example, *bla*_{IMP-1} was first reported in Japan in 1991 in Serratia marcessencs [108] and is now endemic to Japan. Outbreaks and isolated instances of infections caused by Gram negative bacteria carrying *bla*_{IMP} as well as *bla*_{VIM} have now been made in the USA, Europe and Asia [109,110]. The New Delhi Metallo-β-lactamases (*bla*_{NDM}), first discovered in Sweden in 2008 in a patient returning from the India subcontinent [111], is now widespread across the globe. *bla*OXA was first described in A. baumannii in 1985 in Scotland. One variant of this gene, *bla*_{OXA-48}, has been identified predominantly in K. pneumoniae across Europe [112]. Figure 6 depicts the global distribution of major carbapenemase encoding genes.



Figure 6: Distribution of carbapenemases in clinical Isolates worldwide. Although carbapenemases are prevalent, specific types, such *bla*_{KPC} *bla*_{IMP} *bla*_{VIM} and *bla*_{NDM}. exhibit a geographical distribution. Figure obtained from [112].

One of the biggest gaps in knowledge lies in identifying the phylogenetic relatedness between carbapenem-resistant GNB from the natural environment and humans, as well as animals, and understanding the driving forces behind the transfer of mobile horizontally acquired antibiotic resistance genes among different species.

2.3.2 Mobile genetic elements: vectors of AMR and pathogen evolution

Mobile genetic elements (MGEs) are genetic structures that can move between different organisms or locations within a genome, facilitating the transfer of resistance genes and contributing to the dissemination of AMR [113]. They play a significant role in the spread of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and the evolution of pathogens.

MGEs are important vectors for AMR, carrying and transferring resistance genes between bacteria [98]. They can take on different structures and can be categorized into two main groups: i) intercellular MGEs, which are transmissible from one isolate to another, including plasmids, integrative conjugative elements (ICEs), genomic islands (GIs), and phages, and ii) intracellular MGEs, which cannot transfer themselves but can do so after integration into members of the first group. Intracellular MGEs comprise IS, transposons, and integrons [52, 53]. These elements have the capacity to harbor multiple resistance genes, often conferring resistance to diverse classes of antimicrobial agents. When bacteria acquire MGEs containing resistance genes, they gain the ability to survive exposure to antibiotics, leading to treatment failures and the emergence of multidrug-resistant strains. Carbapenemase genes, along with other ARGs, are predominantly associated with MGEs, CRR, biocides, metals and pharmaceutical substances.

A significant characteristic of MGEs is their capacity for horizontal transfer, enabling the movement of resistance genes between bacteria, even across species. This horizontal gene transfer plays a crucial role in the often rapid dissemination of AMR by facilitating the transfer of resistance genes among diverse bacterial populations [114]. MGEs can transfer between bacteria occupying the same ecological niche or during interactions between environmental and clinical settings. For instance, MGEs can transfer resistance genes from environmental bacteria to human pathogens, leading to a critical impact on human health [115].

MGEs not only facilitate the dissemination of AMR but also contribute to pathogen evolution [116]. They can mediate the acquisition of virulence factors, enhancing the pathogenicity of bacteria. MGEs can carry genes encoding toxins, adhesion factors, or immune evasion mechanisms, allowing pathogens to better colonize and cause infections in hosts. The coexistence of resistance and virulent genes within MGEs can lead to the emergence of multidrug-resistant and highly virulent strains, posing significant challenges in public health [117]. Understanding the role of MGEs in AMR and pathogen evolution is crucial for addressing the global threat of AMR and developing effective strategies for surveillance and control [118].

2.3.2.1 Plasmids

Plasmids are extrachromosomal DNA found in bacteria that play a significant role in genetic exchange [119]. They can carry a variety of genes, including those involved in antimicrobial resistance, virulence factors, metabolic capabilities, and other adaptive functions. Plasmids are important components of the accessory genome – genes not part of an organisms conserved core genome - that playing a significant role in host and niche adaptation, disease etiology and enabling microorganisms to survive and thrive in diverse environments. An important characteristic of plasmids is their capacity to replicate independently from the bacterial chromosome. This allows plasmids to persist in bacterial populations even when selective pressures change. Plasmid maintenance systems, including multimer resolution systems, partitioning systems, post-segregation systems and restriction-modification systems, ensure the stable inheritance of plasmids during cell division and cell growth [120]. Plasmids vary in size, ranging from a few thousand base pairs to hundreds of kilobases [98]. They can exist as circular or linear DNA molecules. Circular plasmids are more common and tend to be more stable due to their ability to form closed loops. Plasmids can also be classified based on their copy number, with some existing as low-copy-number plasmids (1-5 copies per genome) and others as high-copy-number plasmids (10-100 copies per genome) [121].

Resistance genes located on plasmids provide bacteria with the capability to resist antibiotics [122]. These genes may encode enzymes that deactivate or modify drugs, efflux pumps that expel antibiotics from bacterial cells, or modified target sites that hinder antibiotic binding. This transferable resistance is a significant concern in the context of antimicrobial resistance, as plasmids can spread resistance genes among bacterial populations, leading to the emergence of multidrug-resistant strains [123].

Since the 1970s, plasmids have been categorized based on incompatibility [124], which denotes the incapacity of plasmids sharing similar replication and partition systems to coexist within the same host (F, P, I, X, etc.). For instance, *Enterobacteriaceae* has 27 Inc groups, *Pseudomonas* has 14 Inc groups, and *Staphylococcus* has approximately 18 Inc groups [124–126]. Some Inc groups in *Pseudomonas* are identical to those found in *Enterobacteriaceae*, such as IncP-1 (equivalent to IncP), IncP-3 (equivalent to IncA/C), IncP-4 (equivalent to IncQ), and IncP-6 (equivalent to IncG/U).

Notably, more than 75% of plasmids in *Enterobacteriales* belong to specific Inc groups, including IncF, IncA/C (equivalent to IncP-3), IncL/M, Incl, IncHI2/S, and IncN [127]. IncF plasmids are frequently encountered in clinical enterobacterial strains and play a significant role in the dissemination of antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes. These plasmids are responsible for the spread of carbapenemase, expanded-spectrum β -lactamase, and plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes [55]. IncM plasmids pose an emerging threat due they can carry multiple ARGs and are found in clinical, animal, and environmental isolates [128,129].

2.3.2.2 Insertion sequences

Insertion sequences (IS) are short genetic elements typically ranging in length from approximately 700 to 2500 base pairs that are commonly found in the genomes of bacteria. They are mobile and can move within the genome, leading to their name "insertion" sequences. IS elements play a significant role in the evolution and genetic diversity of bacteria [130]. IS elements are typically composed of a transposase gene,
which encodes the enzyme responsible for the movement of the element, flanked by inverted repeat sequences [131]. The transposase enzyme recognizes the inverted repeat sequences and catalyzes the excision and reinsertion of the IS element at different locations within the genome. This process is known as transposition. IS elements different from other transposases in that rarely carry genetic cargo other than the transposase.

IS elements differ from other transposons in that they rarely carry genetic cargo other than the transposase, which are determined by specific amino acids. The most common motifs include DDE (Asp, Asp, and Glu) and HUH (two His residues separated by a large hydrophobic amino acid) [98,132]. The classification of IS elements also depends on whether transposition follows a conservative, cut-and-paste mechanism, where the IS is simply excised from the donor genome and inserted into the recipient genome, or a replicative mechanism [133].

ISfinder [134] is a comprehensive tool for identifying IS elements and currently assigns names to IS based on the species in which they were first identified, followed by a number (e.g., ISAba1 for A. baumannii). However, IS elements were originally designated with numbers, such as IS6, IS26 and IS257, IS elements play an important role in the dissemination of resistance determinants in GNB [53,57].

IS elements facilitate genetic rearrangements including inversions and duplications, within the bacterial genome [136]. Their mechanism of action also facilitates deletion of adjacent DNA, often in a random manner. By inserting into different genomic locations, IS elements can disrupt genes or regulatory sequences, leading to the alteration of gene expression and potentially the acquisition or loss of phenotypic traits [137]. Moreover, IS elements can act as vehicles for the dissemination of other genetic elements, including antibiotic resistance genes or virulence factors. When an IS element inserts near these genes, it can promote their mobilisation and transfer to other bacteria through mechanisms such as transposition (via their encoded transposase) or recombination [98]. Horizontal gene transfer of genetic material, when mediated by IS elements, is a significant contributor to the spread of antimicrobial resistance among bacterial populations and a recognized means by which novel genes can be captured and introduced in clinically relevant bacterial lineage. The presence of IS elements in bacterial genomes their ability to adapt and their capacity to evolve. IS

to selective pressures, such as exposure to antibiotics or changes in the environment [138].

2.3.2.3 Transposons

Transposons are genetic elements that can move from one location in a genome to another through a cut-and-paste mechanism. Their movement plays a significant role in driving genetic changes and has been instrumental in genome evolution. Additionally, transposons can be utilized to introduce foreign DNA into a genome when necessary [131]. Transposons are composed of three main components: the transposase gene, terminal inverted repeats (TIRs), and the intervening DNA sequence. The transposase enzyme catalyzes the excision and integration of the transposon, recognizing the TIRs as recognition sites [139]. The transposon sequence between the TIRs can carry various genes, including antibiotic and metal resistance genes (Partridge et al. 2018) and virulence genes [92]. IS elements are the simplest type of transposons. They consist of a gene encoding a transposase enzyme, which catalyses the transposition process, and short inverted repeats at the ends, which serve as recognition sites for the transposase. However, IS elements can insert themselves into other transposons, creating composite transposons that carry additional genes between the IS elements. These genes may confer antibiotic resistance or other traits to the host organism. IS elements can also cause mutations or rearrangements in the genome by inserting into or near genes, promoters, or regulatory regions [140]. Indeed, transposons are responsible for a wide range of mutations and genetic polymorphisms, thereby making a significant contribution to the genetic diversity of genomes [141]. So, they play a crucial role in the evolution and adaptation of bacteria. They also facilitate horizontal gene transfer, allowing genes carried by the transposon to be disseminated between different bacterial species or strains.

2.3.2.4 Integrative and conjugative elements

Integrative and conjugative elements (ICEs) are MGEs that are capable of integrating into the chromosome of the host bacterium and mediating their own transfer between bacterial cells through conjugation [142]. They range in size from approximately 18 kb to more than 500 kb and combine the characteristics of both plasmids and bacteriophages, allowing for the horizontal transfer of genetic material and contributing to the spread of diverse traits, including antibiotic resistance genes [98].

ICEs are typically composed of three functional modules: the integration/excision module, the conjugation module, and the accessory module [143]. The integration/excision module contains genes responsible for the site-specific integration of the ICE into the host chromosome and its subsequent excision. The conjugation module consists of genes involved in the production of the conjugative machinery required for DNA transfer between bacterial cells. The accessory module carries a variety of genes that can confer different phenotypic traits to the host bacterium, such as antibiotic resistance genes, virulence factors, metabolic enzymes or other traits that promote niche adaptation. ICEs are maintained by integrating and replicating with a replicon of the host genome, and they can propagate through conjugative transfer to recipient isolates after excision from the replicon as a circular covalently closed molecule [142]. These elements typically carry cargo genes and are considered modular mobile genetic elements. They integrate into the host genome via site-specific recombination and are vertically propagated during chromosomal replication and bacterial cell division [144]. Furthermore, by integrating into the host chromosome, ICEs have the ability to confer new phenotypes to bacterial isolates [145]. Their abilities of integration into the bacterial chromosome and mediate their own transfer contribute to the spread of diverse traits, including antibiotic resistance genes, among bacterial populations.

2.3.2.5 Integrons

Integrons are genetic elements that play a significant role in the acquisition and dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes among bacteria [146]. They are unable to move independently in their own right but they have the ability to acquire gene leading to the MDR phenotype [147]. Integrons are divided into class 1, 2 and 3. The class 1 integron are frequently associated with transposons on plasmids and are widely disseminated in GNB circulating in environmental clinical and veterinary settings.

Integrons possess a site-specific recombination system capable of integrating, expressing, and exchanging specific DNA elements in the form of gene cassettes [148]. They can capture, rearrange, and express gene cassettes through site-specific recombination. They consist of an integrase gene (*intl*), a promoter (Pc), a recombination site (*attl*) and a target attachment site (*attC*) [149]. The integrase enzyme encoded by the *intl* gene catalyzes the site-specific recombination events that allow the incorporation of gene cassettes into the integron structure [150]. In the clinical environment, IS26-associated integrons play a crucial role due to their tendency to integrate alongside other IS26 [151]. According to evolutionary reconstructions, a chromosomal class 1 integron

carried the biocide resistance gene *qacE* [152]. This integron mobilized and contained genes conferring resistance to biocides and mercury, which were extensively used before the antibiotic era, granting a significant selective advantage to the bacterial host. Subsequently, the sulphonamide resistance gene *sul1* was inserted, leading to the deletion of the terminus of *qacE* and the formation of *qacE 1sul1*, which now resides in the 3' conserved segment of clinical class 1 integron variants [153].

Despite class 1 integrons' ability to recognize and integrate a wide array of gene cassettes, there appears to be a prevalence of antimicrobial resistance genes among the diverse cassette functions associated with class 1 integrons [154].

2.3.2.6 Genomic islands

Genomic islands (GIs) are fragments of DNA that are inserted into the chromosome through HGT [155], meaning that it was acquired from another source and not transposed from one part of the chromosome to another [156]. GIs are typically large, discrete regions of the genome that differ in G+C composition from the rest of the bacterial genome. They play a crucial role in the evolution and adaptation of bacteria by facilitating the dissemination of ARGs, virulence genes, and the formation of catabolic pathways [157]. They typically have atypical G+C content and are often inserted at tRNA loci [158]. Many GIs are flanked by repeat structures and carry fragments of other mobile and accessory genetic elements [155].

GIs can be classified into different types based on their origin and characteristics. Pathogenicity islands (PAIs) are GIs that carry genes associated with virulence and are frequently found in pathogenic bacteria [159]. One example of a putative genomic island is IntIPac, which has been reported to promote antimicrobial resistance in *Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans* [160]. Genomic islands have also been found to carry ESBL *bla*_{OXA-10}, a gene commonly found in *A. baumannii* [161], as well as the *bla*_{GES-5} gene cassette carried by the intl3-containing Tn*7221* structure observed in clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains [162–164]. GIs also play a key role in virulence. *Yersinia* highpathogenicity island (HPI) contains genes responsible for synthesizing the siderophore yersiniabactin and is correlated with blood stream infections in mouse models [166].

The presence of GIs in bacterial genomes contributes to the evolution and adaptation of bacteria. GIs can provide selective advantages to bacteria by allowing them to colonise new niches, evade the host immune system, or acquire resistance to antimicrobial agents [165]. They play a crucial role in the emergence and spread of multidrug-resistant pathogens, as they can carry multiple resistance genes and facilitate their dissemination among bacterial populations [155].

2.3.2.7 Phages

Phages, also referred to as bacteriophages, are viruses that exclusively infect and replicate within bacterial cells [167]. They have a unique ability to specifically target and infect bacteria, making them a powerful tool in understanding bacterial biology and their potential applications in various fields.

Phages exhibit a wide range of sizes, morphologies, and genomic organizations [168]. Being mobile across bacterial isolates, they are recognised as significant drivers of microbial composition and function, capable of exerting substantial impacts on microbial densities [169,170]. Phages, specifically particular phage virions, consist of three major components: a capsid that encloses the genome, a tail which functions as a conduit during infection to facilitate the transfer of the genome into the host cell, and a specialized adhesive system located at the tail's end that enables recognition of the host cell and penetration of its wall [88,89]. A prophage is a bacteriophage that has integrated its DNA into the bacterial genome. Prophages can exist in two different states: lytic and lysogenic [171]. During the lytic cycle, the phage DNA becomes part of the host genome and is transmitted to succeeding generations. Environmental stressors, such as starvation or exposure to toxic chemicals, can trigger the excision of the prophage, leading it to enter the lytic cycle[171].

Phages have been acknowledged for their role in promoting microbial diversity through a phenomenon known as "kill the winner" dynamics [172,173]. Although phages are unable to infect and replicate within human cells, they play a vital role in the human microbiome and serve as crucial mediators of genetic exchange between pathogenic and non-pathogenic bacteria [174,175].

2.4 One Health AMR genomic surveillance

The WHO has identified AMR as a major threat to public health and advocates for a One Health approach to tackle this global problem [176]. One Health recognizes the interconnectedness between human health, animal health, and the environment. AMR can spread through various means, including direct contact between humans and animals, exposure to antibiotic residues from human waste, or indirectly through contaminated food or water. These routes create a well-connected transmission cycle, linking the microbiomes [43] (Figure 7).

Despite the knowledge that water bodies serve as important reservoirs of carbapenem-resistant bacteria, environmental surveillance of AMR currently lags behind in comparison to the other major sectors. This represents a significant gap in our understanding of AMR transmission dynamics.



Figure 7: Spread of AMR bacteria, and the mobile genetic elements that they carry, between environment, animal and human. AMR is transmitted via diverse mechanisms, such as direct interactions between humans and animals, contact with antibiotic residues from human waste, or indirect transmission via contaminated food or water. These pathways contribute to a closely interconnected transmission cycle, connecting the microbiomes. Figure obtained from [43].

Diagnosis of bacterial infections is crucial for patient management, although it can be challenging due to similarities with other causes. The gold standard examination in clinical laboratories for these infections is culture [177]. However, microbiology culture faces various problems, including result delays, identification errors, and difficulties in culturing certain isolates [178–180]. Uncommon bacteria may be underdiagnosed as they often grow poorly in routine clinical microbiology culture, and even when cultured successfully, biochemical identification tests can provide erroneous or unidentified results. Misidentification can also occur with species-level identification using MALDI-TOF MS, highlighting the need for whole-genome sequencing (WGS) for accurate diagnosis and to inform the development of improved diagnostic assays [178]. There have been concerted efforts to improve culture methods for a greater diversity of bacteria. Various effective targeted and open-ended approaches have been developed and applied successfully. Instances include the focused identification of particular bacteria in mixed plate cultures through colony hybridization, cultivation in simulated natural environments or in collaboration with 'helper' strains, and the adaptation of media preparation techniques or the creation of customized media. This may involve supplementing media with potential growth-stimulatory factors like siderophores [181].

While traditional molecular diagnosis methods like PCRs can screen for multiple genes in a single assay, they cannot match the scalability and comprehensive screening capabilities of WGS.

WGS involves analyzing the entire genomic DNA sequence of an isolate, providing the most comprehensive characterization of the genome [182]. It has uncovered the prevalent occurrence of multidrug resistance on a broad scale [183]. WGS enables correlation of STs, serotypes, and phylogroups with detailed relationships through phylogenetic analysis and gene data, allowing for characterization of AMR, virulence, and the presence of MGEs. Phylogenetic analysis using WGS data provides valuable insights into disease outbreak epidemiology [184–186]. Notably, advancements in software and tools have improved reproducibility and repeatability in bioinformatic analyses [187]. Public WGS databases have become essential resources for genomic epidemiological investigations. WGS analysis offers significant advantages over traditional molecular approaches in epidemiological investigations and AMR surveillance [188].

The increasing availability of WGS methods has led to a steady expansion in its use, including for tracking outbreaks of resistant organisms, identifying the significance of MGEs, characterizing bacterial pathogens, and contributing to our understanding of resistance evolution [189].

One Health AMR genomic surveillance provides a comprehensive approach that integrates genomic data from multiple sectors, including human health, animal health, and environmental health [176], to monitor and understand the dynamics of antimicrobial resistance (AMR) across different populations and ecosystems. As such, WGS is critical to understanding the AMR and pathogen evolution through a One Health lens.

Chapter 3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Summary

As the basis of this project, samples were collected from diverse waterbodies by colleagues at the University of South Australia. To monitor the environment, we utilised the qPCR LightCycler® 480 Instrument II (Roche Life Science) to assess the presence and abundance of bacteria in each sample. After serial dilutions, samples were plated onto commercial agar plates containing carbapenems (Oxoid Brilliance[™] CRE Agar plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific Australia, Adelaide, SA)). Isolates that grew on agar supplemented with a carbapenem were identified using MALDI-TOF MS/MS (Bruker Daltonics), then DNA was extracted (QIAamp DNA mini kit; Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and prepared for whole genome sequencing. Representative isolates from each clade can be selected for antibiotic minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) testing when needed (Figure 8).





Whole genome sequencing was performed in collaboration with the Quadram Institute in the UK. Sequencing was performed using an Illumina short read platform [190], with the resulting reads put through quality control (QC) using FastQC. Whole genome sequence assemblies were generated using the assembly pipeline Shovill (https://github.com/tseemann/shovill), which utilises the SPAdes genome assembler tool. Additional reference assemblies were downloaded from public database GenBank (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih) (Figure 9).



Figure 9: Whole-genome sequencing analysis using an Illumina short read platform with the resulting reads put through QC using FastQC. Genome sequence assemblies were generated by using the assembly pipeline Shovill (<u>github.com/tseemann/shovill</u>). Reference assemblies were downloaded from the public database GenBank (<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/</u>).

Once genomes were assembled, QC was performed through our in-house quality control pipeline [191] (script available at <u>https://github.com/maxlcummins/</u>), which removes genomes of low quality (e.g. high contig numbers) and identifies potential contamination (e.g. multiple species calls). Each genome was then passed through numerous pipelines and software, to interrogate the data for information such as the presence of important genes [192–201], typing the chromosome and mobile genetic elements [134,202,203], and generating phylogenetic trees [204–206] to visualise the relatedness of sequence data [207–209], be it the whole genome or specific genes (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Overview of bioinformatics methodology. Once genomes were assembled, QC was performed through the quality control pipeline[191], which removes low quality and contaminated genomes to ensure outputs are good quality. Each genome was then passed through numerous pipelines and software such as phylogenetic characterisation pipeline[204–206], genome annotation [210,211] and mobile genetic element characterisation pipelines [134,202,203] with various data visualisation tools [207–209] to produce figures.

The workflow and tools chosen in this study are established in detail follows below.

3.2 Sample collection and bacterial isolation

The study focused on collecting various water samples, including influent wastewater from South Australia (SA), raw wastewater from two wastewater treatment plants in the South Coast of New South Wales (NSW), and landfill leachate from one NSW site. Over a one-year period (2018-2019), a total of 56 water samples from SA and 8 water samples from NSW were collected monthly in triplicate, resulting in the isolation of 665 bacterial strains from SA and 859 bacteria from NSW. The samples were processed immediately after collection, and bacterial isolates were cultured and identified using diverse techniques, such as Oxoid Brilliance™ CRE Agar plates and Plate Counting Agar (PCA) from Thermo Fisher Scientific. Single bacterial isolates, which were less than 24 hours old, were identified using Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption lonization-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) [212] and preserved in glycerol stocks at -80°C for further analysis.

Additionally, during the breeding seasons of 2018 and 2019, silver gull chicks from NSW were sampled to investigate bacterial presence, and cloacal swabs were collected for culturing on MacConkey agar. The identification and storage of these isolates were conducted using similar methods to those used for wastewater samples.

3.3 DNA extraction and Whole-genome sequencing

DNA from a small piece of a colony (isolates) with MALDI-TOF MS scores of 2.000-3.000 (the log (score) value ranged from 0 to 3, a log (score) value \geq 1.7 is indicative of a close relationship (i.e., at the genus level) and a log (score) value \geq 2.0 is the set threshold for a match at the species level) were extracted using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Nucleic acid quality was measured with a Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). DNA concentrations for all samples were measured by fluorometric quantitation using a Qubit instrument and High Sensitivity dsDNA HS Assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), with purified DNA extracts stored at -20° C until sequencing.

WGS was performed on the Illumina NextSeq 500 [213] platform using a modified Nextera low input tagmentation approach (Foster-Nyarko et al., 2020). Genomic DNA was normalized to 0.5 ng μ I-1 with 10 mM Tris-HCI before the library preparation. The pooled library was run at a final concentration of 1.8 pM on a mid-output flow cell following Illumina recommended denaturation and loading parameters. The raw data was demultiplexed using Basespace (https://basespace.illumina.com).

3.4 Bioinformatical methods

Computational analyses were conducted at UTS using the Interactive High-Performance Computing (HIPC) facility, which utilizes a virtual machine-based system. The code and commands utilized in this study are compatible with UNIX-based operating systems (Linux/Mac).

3.4.1 Genome quality control, assembly, and annotation

We used the Shovil (https://github.com/tseemann/shovill) program in conjunction with the SPAdes [214] genome assembler to assemble reads into contigs from sequenced DNA fragments. This approach efficiently merged individual reads, resulting in the creation of contigs. The robustness and accuracy of the SPAdes assembler ensured a more comprehensive representation of the target genomes. By leveraging Shovil and SPAdes, we successfully generated reliable genomic data, providing a strong foundation for our subsequent analyses.

After assembling the genomes, it required assembled genome lengths to be within the ranges observed for members of the genus identified in a snapshot of NCBI's RefSeq database as well as assemble to fewer scaffolds, defined for each species. Genomes were also analysed using FASTQC [191] (reads) and CheckM [215] (assemblies) to determine their level of completeness and contamination. FASTQC examined various quality metrics, while CheckM estimated completeness and contamination by evaluating marker genes. Each genome had to meet three main criteria in FASTQC: genome size, an N50 value, and sequencing depth. For CheckM, genomes exhibiting a 10% or greater contamination score were excluded as were those with an under 90% completion score. Strains were also typed usina mlst (http://github.com/tseemann/mlst) using scheme autodetection and where possible, only strains which encoded the appropriate MLST alleles [216] were included for further analysis.

Genomes were annotated using Prokka v1.14.6 [211] and managed using SnapGene v4.1.9 (snapgene.com). The RAST annotation pipeline [210] was also utilized on representatives to cross check annotations. In cases of ambiguity, additional BLAST searches were performed, and genes were annotated based on consensus.

3.4.2 Phylogenetic analysis

Phylogenetic analyses were performed using several different pipelines to achieve analyses at multiple resolutions, each selected depending on the range of genus or species included in each tree. The process for generating this analysis from shortread data involves two main steps after creating draft genome assemblies. Firstly, generating multisequence alignments, and secondly, constructing phylogenetic trees using these multisequence alignments. Additionally, pangenome analyses were used to identify all groups of orthologous genes within a population and the accessory genes.

The pipelines used in phylogenetic analysis in this study are as follows:

- Phylosift [206]: a technique that leverages a reference database comprising protein and RNA sequences to assess new genetic sequences for homologs and establish their phylogenetic relationship with entries in the database. The method focuses on 37 "elite" marker gene families, which are consistently present and typically exist in single copy across various organisms. This tool conducts phylogenetic analysis by placing short sequences onto reference phylogenies. This approach offers several conceptual advantages over taxonomic analysis, as it involves interpreting sequence data based on the placement within evolutionary relationships rather than relying on hierarchical classification information.

- Parsnp [217] (github.com/marbl/parsnp): A rapid core-genome multi-aligner, combined with Gingr, a dynamic visual platform, collectively offers interactive core-genome alignments and phylogenetic trees. Parsnp employs MUMs to recruit similar genomes and serve as anchors for the multiple alignment process. It takes a directory of MultiFASTA files as input for alignment and produces a core-genome alignment, variant calls, and an SNP tree as output. The generated outputs can be visually explored using Gingr.

- Mashtree [205]: a tool utilizes two key algorithms present in existing software packages. It employs the min-hash algorithm from Mash to create genome sketches, adjusting parameters such as sketch size for enhanced discriminatory power. Using Mash, Mashtree calculates distances between genomes and records them in a pairwise distance matrix. Subsequently, Mashtree applies the neighbor-joining algorithm from QuickTree to generate a dendrogram based on the Mash distance matrix, utilizing default options.

3.4.2.1 Multi-locus sequence typing

Multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) is a valuable classification system used for bacteria. It offers various schemes tailored to specific organisms. To ensure efficient and accurate MLST assignments, we utilize the mlst software (github.com/tseemann/mlst), which features automatic scheme detection and default settings for consistent and comparable analyses. This rigorous methodology contributes significantly to our understanding of bacterial evolution, transmission patterns, and epidemiological investigations.

3.4.2.2 Core genome-based alignment

Core genome phylogeny offers an alternative approach to SNP-based reference phylogenies. This method involves generating reference-independent alignments and utilizing an automated genome annotation pipeline Prokka [211]. Subsequently, we employed Roary [218] to produce the core genome alignment (via Mafft), which comprises the set of genes present in all members of the included isolates. The identity/similarity limits used to define putative orthologs in Roary for each of the genera. An all-against-all comparison is performed with BLASTP on the reduced sequences using default percentage sequence identity (95%).

3.4.2.3 Phylogenetic tree generation and visualization

SNP-based core genome phylogenetic analyses serve as useful tools for reconstructing evolutionary relationships among closely related sequences, such as strains within the same sequence type or clonal complex. To generate such alignments, we employed Snippy (http://github.com/tseemann/snippy), a reliable tool that incorporates recombination filtering software Gubbins [219]. Gubbins identifies regions with unusually high levels of SNPs, which may indicate potential recombination events. It then compares these regions to background levels of SNP accumulation and removes them if necessary. These SNP-based core genome phylogenies, implemented with Snippy and complemented by recombination filtering using Gubbins, was deployed through the automated pipeline snakemake [220], and provide valuable insights into the evolutionary relationships among closely related strains. Caution must be exercised when selecting a reference genome to serve as the basis of these alignments, as it can introduce potential biases in the analysis.

Additional phylogenetic trees were generated for specific cases. This included using PhyloSift [206], designed for analysing diverse isolates or multiple species. SNPbased phylogenetic trees were also generated using either the harvest suite (parsnp and gingr) [221], or Snplord (http://github.com/maxlcummins/ pipelord/tree/master/snplord), an automated snakemake pipeline [220] that incorporates SNP-sites for analysis. In specific cases, mashtree version 1.2.0 [205] was used with 100 bootstrap replicates. Custom R scripts were employed, utilizing various R packages such as R packages ggtree v1.16.6 [222], dplyr v0.8.3 [223], magrittr v1.5 [224], ggplot2 v3.2.1 [225], readr v1.3.1 [226], reshape2 v1.4.3 [227], tidytree v0.2.6 [228], and ggimage v0.2.8 http://cran.nexr.com/web/packages/ggimage/vignettes/ggimage.html for visualising, and annotating the trees.

Alignments were converted into approximately maximum-likelihood trees using FastTree2 [229], which were then visualized using iTOL software v4 [208].

3.4.2.4 Pan genome analysis

Pangenome analysis was performed using Roary v3.11.2 [218]. The Roary pipeline enables the assessment of genetic diversity within a population by identifying core and accessory genes. Four categories are used: core (genes present in all genomes), soft core (genes present in >95% genomes), shell (genes present in >15% but <95% genomes), and cloud (genes present in <15% genomes). It efficiently clusters

genes based on sequence similarity and calculates the pangenome size, providing valuable insights into gene content variation among strains.

To improve the visualization and interpretation of the pangenome results, Phandango v1.3.0 [230] was utilized. This tool facilitates the identification of gene presence/absence patterns, genomic differences, and exploration of evolutionary relationships and gene dynamics in the studied microbial population.

3.4.3 Genotypic identification of novel species

The process of genomic identification of new species involved utilizing SpeciesFinder 2.0 0 [231] and Kraken2 [232] to first identify the genus of the isolate. Subsequently, we performed phylogenetic and SNP distance analyses to visualize the relationships among isolates with known and unknown species classification. To then classify any isolates with a significant phylogenetic distance from known species, we employed three principal bioinformatic tools.

For the pairwise genome comparisons, we used ANIb and ANIm algorithms from the JSpecies web server [197] with a 95% cut-off value for species delimitation [196]. Additionally, we employed the GGDC tool [233] to predict DNA-DNA hybridization results with a 70% cut-off value. Furthermore, we aligned complete 16S rRNA and rpoB sequences using Clustal Omega, with similarity cut-off values of 99.5% [195] and 97.7% [234], respectively.

These comprehensive analyses facilitated the identification of novel species and the determination of their relatedness to known species.

3.4.4 Gene screening

Using WGS data, we identified the presence or absence of specific genes of interest, such as ARGs, VAGs, plasmid replicons, and ISs. The NCBI (National Centre for Biotechnology Information) website and BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool) tool were commonly employed for this analysis, offering both online portal and command line options, enabling large-scale gene screening against extensive databases. Another approach utilised The Centre of Genomic Epidemiology (genomicepidemiology.org/), which hosts databases like Species Finder 2.0 [231], ResFinder [235], VirulenceFinder [236], PlasmidFinder [237], pMLST [202], and Serotype Finder (https://cge.food.dtu.dk/services/SerotypeFinder/), accessible through online screening

tools. These tools were used in conjunction with the following databases: VFDB [198], CARD [192], NCBI AMR FinderPlus [238] in HIPC platform.

In silico species identification was performed using Kraken2 [232]. Abritmar v1.0.11 (https://github.com/MDU-PHL/abritamr) and Abricate (https://github.com/ tseemann/abricate) were employed to determine certain carriage ARGs, VAGs, and AMR-associated point mutations. A minimum nucleotide identity and coverage requirement of 90% were set for the detected genes.

3.4.5 Mobile Genetic Elements detection

This thesis explored three primary categories of MGEs: plasmids, pathogenicity islands (GIs), and integrative and conjugative elements (ICEs).

3.4.5.1 Plasmid analysis

While completed plasmids are seldom resolved using short reads, it is still possible to identify plasmid Inc groups especially for some of the most common plasmid incompatibility (aka plasmid family) types [239]. This data proves useful in the preliminary identification of specific lineages of plasmids, such as IncF, IncM, IncP, and HI2 plasmids. Mapping of reference plasmids was accomplished by employing Abricate with data containing the plasmid of interest, generating a simplified BLAST output, and performing comparisons of plasmid sequences against reference plasmids using BRIG [194] software.

Another technique for plasmid analysis involves determining the plasmid multilocus sequence types (pMLST), which was executed using pMLST (pubmlst.org/) [240]. The output was processed using custom scripts available at http://github.com/maxlcummins/pipelord/blob/main/scripts/combine IncF RST.py (for plasmids) and http://github.com/ maxlcummins/pipelord/blob/main/scripts/ IncF combine pMLST.py (for other plasmid types), as part of the aforementioned snakemake pipeline called Pipelord.

3.4.5.2 Genomic islands analysis

The analysis of putative genomic islands (GIs) was carried out using Islandviewer 4 [203], a tool for identifying genomic islands in bacterial genomes. To validate the presence of these putative GIs and gain further insights into their characteristics, a BLASTn search was conducted to compare these regions with the existing data

deposited NCBI database. This step helped confirm whether similar genomic islands had been previously reported in other studies or organisms.

To visualize and assess the genetic context of the identified GIs, the Easyfig [207] software was employed. Easyfig facilitates the comparative analysis of genomic regions and allows us to explore the arrangement and organization of genes within the putative GIs. This visualization was instrumental in understanding the potential functions and evolutionary relationships of these genomic islands.

3.4.5.3 Integrative and Conjugative Elements analysis

Islandviewer 4 [203], a bioinformatic tool renowned for its precision in identifying genomic islands, including (ICEs), was employed for the ICEs analysis. This involved comparing the ICEs with reference genomes in its comprehensive database to ensure accuracy. To verify the identified ICEs, a BLASTn search was performed, comparing their sequences with the vast genetic data available in the NCBI database. This allowed for determining their uniqueness and whether similar ICEs had been documented in previous studies or organisms. Furthermore, cross-referencing with the NCBI database provided valuable insights into the functions, host range, and potential roles of these ICEs across different bacterial species.

For a comprehensive understanding of the ICEs' genetic context and arrangement, we utilized BRIG [194] software, enabling a comparative analysis of ICEs against reference strains. The visualization process facilitated the examination of structural variations and gene content within the ICEs, offering significant insights into their evolutionary relationships and potential functions as mobile genetic elements.

Chapter 4. Genomic analysis of *Elizabethkingia* species from aquatic environments: evidence for potential clinical transmission

4.1 Declaration

This chapter represents a manuscript accepted for publication.

It responds to aim 2, 3 and 4.

Authors

Sopheak Hem¹², Veronica M Jarocki¹², Dave J Baker³, Ian G Charles³⁴, Barbara Drigo⁵, Sarah Aucote⁵, Erica Donner⁵, Delaney Burnard⁶, Michelle J Bauer⁶, Patrick N A Harris⁶, Ethan R Wyrsch¹², Steven P Djordjevic¹²

Autor Affiliations

¹iThree Institute, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, NSW 2007, Australia. ²Australian Centre for Genomic Epidemiological Microbiology, University of Technology Sydney, PO Box 123, Broadway, NSW 2007, Australia.

³Quadram Institute Bioscience, Norwich, United Kingdom.

⁴Norwich Medical School, Norwich Research Park, Colney Lane, Norwich NR47TJ, United Kingdom.

⁵Future Industries Institute, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia.

⁶University of Queensland Centre for Clinical Research, Royal Brisbane and Woman's Hospital, Building 71/918 Royal Brisbane and Women's Hospital Campus, Herston, QLD 4029, Australia.

Published in

Current Research in Microbial Sciences, November 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.crmicr.2021.100083

Author contribution statement

SH: writing the original draft, formal analysis, investigation, writing – review and editing. V.M.J: Writing – original draft, formal analysis, investigation, supervision, writing – review and editing, D.J.B: Investigation and resources. I.G.C: Investigation and resources. B.D: Investigation, conceptualization, validation, formal analysis, data curation, writing – review and editing. S.A: Investigation, formal analysis, data curation. E.D: Conceptualization, funding acquisition, supervision, writing – review and editing. D.B: Resources and methodology. M.J.B: Resources and methodology. P.N.A.H: Resources, supervision, writing – review and editing. E.R.W: Investigation, methodology, validation, writing – review and editing draft versions. S.P.D: Resources, supervision, writing – review and editing acquisition, writing – review and editing draft versions.

Ethical approval on new species naming

The novel bacterial species described in this work, *Elizabethkingia umeracha*, was officially approved by the Peramangk, Kaurna, and Ngarrindjeri people. They are recognized as the traditional owners and custodians of the waters and lands where the environmental samples used in this research were collected. The name "Umeracha" was advised by these indigenous communities, and it holds the meaning "fine waterhole" in the Peramangk language. Additionally, the water samples used in our study were approved by the relevant authority for data publication.

Authors signatures



Erica Donner:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Delaney Burnard:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Michelle J Bauer:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Patrick N A Harris:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Ethan R Wyrsch:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.

Steven P Djordjevic:

Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.

4.2 Abstract

Elizabethkingia species are ubiquitous in aquatic environments, colonize water systems in healthcare settings and are emerging opportunistic pathogens with reports surfacing in 25 countries across six continents. *Elizabethkingia* infections are challenging to treat, and case fatality rates are high. Chromosomal *bla*_B, *bla*_{GOB} and *bla*_{CME} genes encoding carbapenemases and cephalosporinases are unique to *Elizabethkingia spp*. and reports of concomitant resistance to aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones and sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim are known. Here, we characterized whole-genome sequences of 94 Elizabethkingia isolates carrying multiple wide-spectrum metallo-βlactamase (bla_B and bla_{GOB}) and extended-spectrum serine- β -lactamase (bla_{CME}) genes from Australian aquatic environments and performed comparative phylogenomic analyses against national clinical and international strains. qPCR was performed to quantify the levels of Elizabethkingia species in the source environments. Antibiotic MIC testing revealed significant resistance to carbapenems and cephalosporins but susceptibility to fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole. Phylogenetics show that three environmental *E. anophelis* isolates are closely related to E. anophelis from Australian clinical isolates (~36 SNPs), and a new species, E. umeracha sp. novel, was discovered. Genomic signatures provide insight into potentially shared origins and a capacity to transfer mobile genetic elements with both national and international isolates.

4.3 Background

The environment is a known reservoir for both opportunistic pathogens and antimicrobial resistant (AMR) bacteria [241]. It is important to investigate environmental microbial populations as prominent extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs), quinolone resistance genes and carbapenemases originated from marine and soil bacterium and have subsequently entered clinical isolates through horizontal gene transfer (HGT) [242,243], as well as identifying potential infection transmission pathway [241].

Elizabethkingia species are aerobic, Gram-negative bacilli members of *Weeksellaceae* commonly found in the environment, particularly in soil and freshwater bodies, as well as insects and amphibians [244–247]. There are currently six identified *Elizabethkingia* species, all of which have undergone various taxonomic and nomenclature makeovers [53]. *Elizabethkingia meningoseptica,* isolated in 1959, has been known as *Flavobacterium meningosepticum* and *Chryseobacterium*

meningosepticum [248,249]. *Elizabethkingia miricola,* isolated from a Russian space station in 2003 [250], has been known as *Chryseobacterium miricola* and *Elizabethkingia* genomospecies 2 [251,252]. *Elizabethkingia anophelis,* isolated in 2011, has been described as *Elizabethkingia endophytica* and *Elizabethkingia* genomospecies 1 [66,251–253]. In addition, three new species were redefined in 2017 – *Elizabethkingia bruuniana, Elizabethkingia ursingii* and *Elizabethkingia occulta* - the former previously been referred to as *Elizabethkingia* genomospecies 3 and the latter two were both grouped as *Elizabethkingia* genomospecies 4 [251,252].

Interest in *Elizabethkingia* spp. is rising as they constitute difficult to treat emerging pathogens within hospitals and healthcare settings [254–256]. *Elizabethkingia* infections occur most often in newborns and immunocompromised patients, and the most common presentation is septicaemia [257]. However, reports of meningitis (caused by *E. meningoseptica* and *E. anophelis*), pneumonia, urinary tract infection, skin and soft tissue infections are also common [258,259]. Case fatality rates for *Elizabethkingia* spp. are high at ~25.2% in all species [260] and higher in cases of septicaemia and meningitis at 54% for *E. meningoseptica* [261] and 28.4 % for *E. anophelis* infections [262]. *Elizabethkingia* pathogenesis is largely unknown, though several virulence factor homologs have been reported, including capsule proteins, adhesins, iron uptake proteins and proteins contributing to biofilm formation [263–266].

Treatment of *Elizabethkingia* infections is complicated because most species are intrinsically resistant to clinically important antibiotics, including carbapenems and other β -lactams and aminoglycosides [53,264,265]. Resistance to fluoroquinolones and sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim have also been observed [70]. Consistently, *Elizabethkingia* species genomes sequenced to date harbour multiple chromosomal antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs), including genes *bla*_B and *bla*_{GOB}, associated with resistance to carbapenems, and extended-spectrum β -lactamase gene *bla*_{CME}, conferring resistance to all cephalosporins [68]. For fluoroquinolones resistance, mutations within conserved regions of DNA gyrase subunit A (GyrA) have been observed, including Ser83Ile and Ser83Arg [267]. ARGs have also been identified in *Elizabethkingia* integrative and conjugative elements (ICEs) [145], mobile genetic elements (MGEs) capable of integrating into a host genome and propagated during chromosomal replication and cell division [268]. Only two plasmids have been described and sequenced from two *Elizabethkingia* species: *E. anophelis* strain F3201 [145] and *E. miricola* strain EM CHUV [269].

Cases of *Elizabethkingia* infections have been increasing over the past few decades, with reports surfacing in 25 countries across six continents [72,256,270–275]. *Elizabethkingia* mode of transmission remains unclear, but exposure to contaminated environments, especially waterbodies, medical devices, hemodialysis and mechanical ventilation equipment, hospital fomites, water faucets and healthcare worker hands, have all been implicated [68,70]. In addition, infections caused by *E. anophelis* have been linked to transmission events associated with mosquitoes in the Central African Republic [276]; however, this hypothesis is contentious due to a report of vertical transmission from mothers to infant of *E. anophelis* [272].

Elizabethkingia species are multidrug-resistant emerging pathogens with high case-fatality rates. To date, most studies on *Elizabethkingia* have characterized clinical isolates [277]. However, given that waterbodies are reservoirs and implicated in *Elizabethkingia* transmission pathways, this study provides a genomic analysis of whole-genome sequences derived from 94 *Elizabethkingia* isolates originating from aquatic environments in South Australia, as well as characterizing and comparing their genomic and antimicrobial resistance profiles to other publicly available *Elizabethkingia* environmental and clinical strains.

4.4 Methods

4.4.1 Sample collection and Isolation of carbapenem-resistant *Elizabethkingia* spp.

Water samples (~10 L) were collected in triplicate monthly from July 2018 to July 2019 in South Australia. The four locations represented two sources: (i) stagnant water (site A) and (ii) inland wetlands recharged by seasonal rainfall/runoff inflows (site B and C) or by a river (site D). Site A is a small rural reservoir created by damming a natural rainwater catchment area. It is fenced and not accessible to or impacted by livestock but is regularly visited by birds and particularly by ducks. Site B (wetland) is a recreation reserve covering an area of 19.4 hectares. Site C (wetland) covers 172 hectares and has a maximum capacity of 1200 megaliters.

The distance between the two wetland sites was ~10 km. Site D is a river 2,508 km in length, and the area sampled was flowing water near a wetland that covers a total of 42 hectares. Site D is used for recreational purpose only. At all sites, surface water samples were collected by dipping three sterile 10 L collection tanks below the surface. All samples were stored on ice directly after collection and processed within 2-3 hours.

Samples were processed on the day of collection. First, water samples were serially diluted and 500 µl from 2-3 consecutive 10-fold serial dilutions were plated in triplicate on Oxoid *Brilliance*[™] CRE Agar plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific Australia, Adelaide, SA). Cultures were incubated at 25°C, 37°C and 44°C for 24 h. Next, using pre-sterilized toothpicks, single colonies growing on CRE Agar were plated on Plate Counting Agar (PCA; Thermo Fisher Scientific). PCA cultures were incubated at 37°C for 18-24 h, or until sufficient bacterial growth had occurred. A total of 667 bacteria were isolated and identified with Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) (Bruker Daltonics) and preserved in glycerol stocks (40% v/v) at -80 °C.

4.4.2 MALDI-TOF MS species identification and DNA extraction

Fresh bacterial single isolates (<24 h old) were resuspended in 1 ml 70% ethanol, vortexed for 1 min, and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2 min. The supernatant was removed, and the pellet re-dissolved with 5 μ l of 70% formic acid (Baker; 90% stock) and 5 μ l acetonitrile (CAN, LC-MS Grade, Merck). After 2 min centrifugation at 13,000 rpm, 1 μ l of supernatant was spotted onto the target plate and left to dry. The sample was overlaid with α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (HCCA) (1 μ l) matrix (10 mg/ml⁻¹) and allowed to crystallize at room temperature. One μ l Bacterial test standard (Bruker Daltonics) in 50% (v/v) ACN containing 2.5% (v/v) trifluoroacetic acid (LC-MS Grade; Thermo Fisher Scientific) was spotted, left to dry and overlaid with HCCA for calibration. MALDI-TOF MS analysis was acquired on an autoflexTM speed MALDI-TOF/TOF mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics) operated in linear positive mode under MALDI Biotyper 3.0 Real-time Classification (version 3.1, Bruker Daltonics) and FlexControl (version 3.4, Bruker Daltonics) software.

Spectra were acquired in the mass range of 2000 to 20 000 Da with variable laser power, and a total of 1200 sum spectra were collected in 40 shot steps. The sample spectra were identified against an MSP database library (5989 MSP entries). Identification scores of 2.300–3.000 indicate highly probable species identification, scores of 2.000–2.299 indicate secure genus identification and probable species identification, scores of 1.700–1.999 indicate probable genus identification, and a score of ≤1.699 indicates that the identification is not reliable.

Water samples were concentrated by vacuum filtration through a 0.2 μm nitrocellulose filter (Millipore) then stored at -80°C until DNA extraction. Total genomic

DNA from each 0.2 μ m filter was extracted using the DNeasy PowerWater kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. DNA from MALDI-TOF MS identified colonies with scores 2.000-3.00 were extracted using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Nucleic acid quality (*i.e.*, 260/280 ratio) was measured with Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). DNA concentrations for all samples were measured by fluorometric quantitation using a Qubit instrument and High Sensitivity dsDNA HS Assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and purified DNA extracts were stored at -20° C until used.

4.4.3 Real-Time multiplex PCR assay

This PCR is for detection of *Elizabethkingia* spp. and differentiation between *E*. anophelis and E. meningoseptica . E. anophelis strains preserved in glycerol stocks (40% v/v) at -80 °C were grown on PCA for 24 h at 37°C. Total DNA from all Elizabethkingia reference strains, including the positive controls E. anophelis DSM 23781T and the negative control E. meningoseptica ATCC 13253T, were extracted using QIAamp DNA Mini kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's protocols. The DNA concentration was determined using a Qubit 2.0 fluorometer (Life Technologies). Standards were prepared by serial diluting the DNAs and by calculating *E. anophelis* and E. meningoseptica copy number with the following equation: Elizabethkingia copy number = (concentration of template in ng \times NL) / (n \times 10⁹ \times 660) where NL is the Avogadro constant (6.02 \times 10²³), *n* is the genome length of the standard in base pairs or nucleotides and 660 is the average molecular weight of double-stranded DNA. All qPCR analyses were carried out in duplicate on a LightCycler® 480 Instrument II (Roche Life Science) with positive, negative, and non-template controls included. Individual real-time qPCR assays were used to quantify E. anophelis, E. meningoseptica and Elizabethkingia spp. genome copies using a multiplex probe assay with the primers and probes described in Table 1.

Table 1: Gene targets, primers and probes used in this study

Gene	Target organism	Primer/Probe ID	Fluorophore	Final	Product	Primer sequence (5'-3')	Reference
target			Quencher	reaction	size		
				conc (µM)	(bp)		
secY	Elizabethkingia spp.	SECYF1_4		0.01		GTTTTTACGTTCACGCTCATCTTGGT	[278]
		SECY R2		0.07	146	AGTAAGCCTAAAAGCCCAGAAG	
		SECYP2_5	FAM/BHQ1	0.05		TTGCAAGTATACAGAACCAAGGAGGAAGCA	
						AG	
pheT	E. meningoseptica	TIGR472_F7		0.1		TTTAAACTGGATGTGGAAGATGCTGAT	[278]
		TIGR472_R1_2		0.05	90	CCACTCTGGGGACTCTTCTACCTGT	
		TIGR472_P3	Quasar	0.05		GCGTTATCTGGGAGCTGTAATTGAAGG	
			670/BHQ3				
lepA	E. anophelis	TIGR1393F22		0.07		CATGTGAAGGGGCGCTACTTATTGT	[278]
		T1393R3WT		0.1	142	TCAGGGTTTGCAGAAGGAAGGTC	
		TIGR1393P1	CalRed	0.02		ACCTGGCTTTGGAAAATGACCTTACC	
			610/BHQ1				

Amplification was done in 25 μ l reaction volumes consisting of 10 μ l of the LightCycler® 480 SYBR Green I Master (Roche Life Science), 5 μ l of DNAse/RNAse free water (Roche Life Science), 5 μ l of the primer-probe mixture, and 5 μ l of template DNA within the concentration range of 40 to 50 ng/ μ l. The cycling conditions were as follows: initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 min, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 10 s and 64°C for 30 s [278]. Fluorescence data were acquired at the end of the annealing step of each cycle. All mixes were made using a Biomek Automated Liquid Handler (Beckman Coulter) to avoid pipetting errors.

The efficiency of the different real-time PCRs ranged from 97–100%. Secondary structures were not encountered in any of the runs. The threshold of each single run was placed above any baseline activity and within the exponential increase phase. The cycle thresholds (C_T) were determined by a mathematical analysis of the resulting curve using the software manufactured by Roche Life Science. The C_T values of the non-template controls were always 40 or above, indicating no amplification. Dissociation curves were determined for qPCR products to confirm product integrity and the absence of PCR inhibitors. Among the different qPCR coefficients, attention was given to the R coefficient, which was used to analyze the standard curves obtained by linear regression analysis. Most of the samples, and all standards, were assessed with a minimum of two runs to confirm the reproducibility of the quantification.

Real-Time PCR datasets were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA). To evaluate the absolute abundance of gene copy numbers in water samples, F-tests were used to compare variance. Normality was tested with a Shapiro-Wilks test and by inspection of residuals, and variance homogeneity by Levene's test. When data failed to satisfy one of these tests, an appropriate transformation was applied (log or square-root transformation). Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) method and the modified version for unequal sample size (Unequal N HSD) were used for post hoc comparisons with a 0.05 grouping baseline. Graphs were drawn using GraphPad Prism version 9 (GraphPad Software Inc.).

4.4.4 Whole-genome sequencing

Whole-genome sequencing (WGS) was performed as described previously (Foster-Nyarko et al., 2020). Briefly, WGS was performed on the Illumina NextSeq 500 platform using a modified Nextera low input tagmentation approach. Genomic DNA was normalized to 0.5 ng μ I-1 with 10 mM Tris-HCI before the library preparation. The pooled

library was run at a final concentration of 1.8 pM on a mid-output flow cell following Illumina recommended denaturation and loading parameters. Data was uploaded to Basespace (www. basespace.illumina.com), where the raw data was converted to FASTQ files for each sample.

4.4.5 Phylogenetic analysis

Maximum-likelihood phylogenetic trees were constructed using PhyloSift [206], and single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)-based phylogenetic trees were made using Snplord (github.com/maxlcummins/ pipelord/tree/master/snplord), an automated snakemake [220] pipeline that utilizes snippy (github.com/tseemann/snippy), Gubbins [219] and SNP-sites (github.com/sanger-pathogens/snp-sites). All trees were resolved using FastTree2 [229] and visualized using the Interactive Tree Of Life (iTOL) software v4 [208]. In addition to the 94 *Elizabethkingia* draft genomes presented in this study, 54 *Elizabethkingia* genomes sourced from Genbank [279] were included in the phylogenetic analyses.

The *Elizabethkingia* pangenome was calculated using Roary v3.11.2 [218] and visualized using Phandango v1.3.0 [230]. A pangenome wide gene association study on novel *Elizabethkingia* spp. isolates was performed using Scoary [280]. A pairwise genome distance matrix was generated using Mash [281] and used to create a classical (metric) multidimensional scaling (MDS) plot using R Studio v4.0.2 and the gglot2 v3.3.0 package. MDS plots for virulence-associated genes and ARGs were also created in R, using gene presence/absence matrices (1 = present; 0 = absent).

4.4.6 Genotyping

In silico species identification was performed using SpeciesFinder 2.0 [231] and Kraken2 [232]. To determine novel *Elizabethkingia* species, pairwise genome comparisons were performed using both the average nucleotide identity BLASTn (ANIb) and ANI MUMer (ANIm) algorithms available on the JSpecies web server [197] using a 95% cut-off value for species delimitation [196]. Predicted DNA-DNA hybridization (DDH) results were ascertained using the Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator (GGDC) tool [233] with a 70% cut-off value for species delimitation using the recommended Formula 2. Complete 16S rRNA and *rpoB* sequences were aligned using Clustal Omega and 99.5% [195] and 97.7% [234] similarity cut-off values were used, respectively.

Virulence-associated genes, ARGs and plasmid replicons were screened for using Abricate (github.com/ tseemann/abricate) in conjunction with the following

databases: VFDB [198], CARD [192], NCBI AMR FinderPlus [238] and PlasmidFinder [282]. Virulence factors were also screened using the VFDB Set A of experimentally determined virulence factors and BLASTp with > 40% identity and E^{-10} cut-off values.

4.4.7 Genome annotation

Draft genomes were annotated using Prokka v1.14.6 [211] and managed using SnapGene v4.1.9 (snapgene.com). The RAST annotation pipeline [210] was also utilized on eight genomes representative of each clade to cross check annotations. Putative genomic islands (GIs) and ICEs were identified by Islandviewer 4 [203] using the following reference genomes: *E. anophelis* strain CSID_3015183681 (CP015068.2), *E. anophelis* strain F3543 (CP014340.1), *E. miricola* strain EM798-26 (CP023746.1) and *E. genomospecies* 4 strain G4123 (CP016377.1). BLASTn was utilized to determine whether putative GIs, ICE and AMR regions identified in this study had been previously deposited into NCBI. Aliview software v3.0 (GPLv3) [283] was used to view the sequence alignment of AMR genes.

4.4.8 Minimum Inhibitory Concentration testing

Representative isolates from each *Elizabethkingia* clade and isolates harbouring unique combinations of *bla*_B *and bla*_{GOB} genes were selected for Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) testing (n=10) against 38 clinically relevant antimicrobials as described previously [72]. Antibiotic testing plates were hand prepared, inoculated and incubated in accordance with AS ISO 20776.1-2017. Quality Control of antibiotic and testing isolates was in accordance to Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) M100 ED31:2021; plate reading in accordance to the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) reading guide v 3.0 2021. Both the guidelines of the EUCAST pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic (PK-PD) "non-species" breakpoints [284] and the non-*Enterobacteriaceae* breakpoints of the CLSI [285] were used in the AMR phenotypic analysis.

4.5 Results

In this study, 94 *Elizabethkingia* isolates were collected from aquatic environments in South Australia from 2018-2019. Strains sourced from wetlands (site B & C) constituted the majority [n=70 (B=50, C=20); 75%], followed by dam (site A, n=22; 23%) and then river (site D, n=2; 2%) samples. Associated metadata on all isolates used, including 54 sourced from outside this collection used in phylogenetic and gene screening analyses, is available in Appendix 1.

Genome assembly using draft genomes were assembled using shovill v1.0.4. Genome size ranged from 4039979 bp to 4660922 bp, with an average size of 4459168 bp. The number of contigs per genome ranged from 25 to 160, with a mean of 55. Read depth ranged from 23.26 to 80.63, with a mean of 38.79. Full assembly statistics can be viewed in Appendix 2.

4.5.1 Absolute quantification of *Elizabethkingia* species

Quantitative data targeting a generic *Elizabethkingia* spp. gene marker and *E. anophelis* and *E. meningoseptica* markers were used to estimate the absolute abundance of each in samples from the four aquatic sites. The absolute abundance of *Elizabethkingia* spp. in the dam sample was on average 7.6 x 10^3 gene copies/mL, representing 1.36 x 10^{-6} % of the total bacterial community (16S rRNA qPCR-based). In the wetland samples, *Elizabethkingia* spp. ranged from 3.5 x 10^4 genes/mL to 4.6 x 10^4 genes/mL, representing 6.25 x 10^{-6} % to 8.21 x 10^{-6} % of the total bacterial community (Figure 11). In each case, the absolute abundance of *E. anophelis* was a factor of ten lower than the total *Elizabethkingia* spp. absolute abundance, indicating that it is not the dominant species within the aquatic environments. *E. meningoseptica* were detected and gene copies/mL were ranging from 23 (site A; dam) to 50 copies/mL (site B, C and D; wetlands) on average.



Figure 11. *Elizabethkingia* spp., *E. anophelis* and *E. meningoseptica* average absolute abundance determined by qPCR analysis of total DNA extracted from filtered waters (site A, B, C and D). Data are expressed as log10 genes copies per mL, samples (n = 32).

4.5.2 Identification of *Elizabethkingia* species

The speciation of *Elizabethkingia* isolates varied considerably between the typing techniques implemented (Table 2). Of the 94 isolates sourced from Australian aquatic environments, the most prominent species identified by MALDI-TOF MS was *E. miricola* (n=54; 57%), by Kraken2 was *E. anophelis* (n=93; 99%), and according to SpeciesFinder 2.0 *E.* genomospecies 4 was most prevalent (n=77; 82%). Our phylogenetic characterization (detailed below) classified 71 isolates as *E. miricola* (76%), 16 isolates as *E. anophelis* (17%) and seven isolates as a potentially novel species (7%).

Table 2: Aquatic environmental *Elizabethkingia* species (n=94) identified by MALDI-TOF MS, Kraken2, Species Finder, and phylogenetic analysis.

			<u> </u>	
Species Identification	MALDI-	Kraken2	Species⊢inder	Phylogenetic
			. 20	characterization
			2.0	Characterization
E anonhelis	0	93 (99%)	16 (17%)	16 (17%)
	0	33 (33 /0)	10 (1770)	10 (17 %)
E meningoseptica	11 (12%)	0	0	0
E. moningocoptica	11 (1270)	U	8	0
E miricola	54 (57%)	0	1 (1%)	71 (76%)
2. 111110014		0	1 (178)	11(10/0)
E ursinaii*	0	1 (1%)	77 (82%)	0
E. arenign	•	1 (170)	11 (0270)	0
Elizabethkingia spp	16 (17%)	0	0	7 (7%)
		Š	<u> </u>	. (,
Non-Reliable Identification	13 (14%)	0	0	0

*Also known as *E.* genomospecies 4

4.5.3 Phylogenetic analysis

A phylogenetic tree comprised of 148 *Elizabethkingia* isolates was constructed using Phylosift (Figure 12) with 94 isolates from the Australian aquatic environments (this collection), 27 isolates from Australian clinical samples and Australian hospital environments, and 27 global strains available from Genbank. Where metadata was available, *Elizabethkingia* isolates were derived from the environment (n=102), humans (n=42), Anopheles gambiae (n=2), and one isolate each from Zea mays (corn) and a frog. The distribution of species in the phylogenetic tree were *E. anophelis* (n=52), *E. meningoseptica* (n=5), *E. miricola* (n=78), *E. bruuniana* (n=3), *E. ursingii* (n=2), *E. occulta* (n=1) and a novel clade of *Elizabethkingia* sp. (n=7). The seven species of

Elizabethkingia were clearly separated from each other, with E. meningoseptica appearing the most distant from the other species.



Figure 12: Eizabethkingia phylogeny. Mid-point rooted phylogenic tree and geographic data of Elizabethkingia species using Phylosift. Samples from this collection are coloured in purple.

The Elizabethkingia isolates from our aquatic environment study formed five clades that branched alongside international and clinical isolates.

Clade 1 contained three E. anophelis from the aquatic environmental study (ER-QUAD-EK 54, QUAD-EK 14 and QUAD-EK 22) that were closely related to Australian clinical isolates (EkS2, EkQ5 and EkQ17) with an average of 36 SNV (Single nucleotide variants) across 87% of the core genome (EkS2 as reference) and hospital environment isolates EK2 and EK6 with an average of 42 SNV. The two E. anophelis isolates from dam samples, QUAD-EK_14 and QUAD-EK_22, were separated by 2 SNV, while ER-QUAD-EK 54 from the Australian wetland samples differed by an average of 33 SNV from dam isolates.

Clade 2 consists of 13 clonal *E. anophelis* from our study that differ by an average of 2 SNV between each other and 807 SNV from our *E. anophelis* isolates situated in Clade 1 (pairwise SNP matrices for *E. anophelis* isolates provided in Appendix 3).

Clade 3 appears as a novel clade, represented by seven isolates (ER-QUAD-EK_21, QUAD-EK_08, QUAD-EK_09, QUAD-EK_10, QUAD-EK_16, QUAD-EK_07, and QUAD-EK_05) isolated from an Australian dam. Isolates within this apparently novel clade of the *Elizabethkingia* were most closely related to *E. bruuniana* but appeared genetically distinct in a progressive Mauve analysis (Appendix 11) and differed by an average of 124,216 SNPs to *E. bruuniana* isolate EkQ11.

Clade 4 constitutes ten *E. miricola* isolates with an average of 66 SNV between each other (range 0 - 197 SNPs) across 83% of the core genome (EkQ1 as reference). These isolates branch alongside three *E. miricola* isolates from Australian clinical samples (EkQ10, EkQ13 and EkQ1) however, the SNV between these two branches is ~ 21,539.

Clade 5 represents a group of 61 clonal *E. miricola* isolates (average 7 SNV) from Australian wetlands, with the closest relative strain CP03929, from a water sample from Taiwan, at ~21,629 SNPs difference. Pairwise SNP matrices for *E. miricola* isolates provided in Appendix 3.

4.5.4 Identification of proposed new species *Elizabethkingia umeracha* sp. nov.

The seven isolates in clade 3, with an average 124,216 SNV to *E. bruuniana* isolate EkQ11, were investigated to determine whether they constituted a closely related, yet distinct species to *E. bruuniana*. For this purpose, 16S rRNA and rpoB sequence identities as well as ANIb, ANIm and GGDC values (the latter mimicking DDH values) were calculated (averages presented in Table 3; full analysis in Appendix 4). Except for a single ER-QUAD-EK_05 16S rRNA sequence identity result (99.7%), all other values placed these seven isolates as representing a novel *Elizabethkingia* species.

We therefore propose that these seven isolates constitute a provisional novel species and propose the name *Elizabethkingia umeracha*; Umeracha meaning "fine waterhole" in Peramangk language. We respectfully acknowledge the Peramangk people as the traditional owners and custodians of the waters and lands of the Adelaide Hills where these isolates originated.

Table 3. *E. umeracha* sp. nov. is a separate species from *E. bruuniana*, as evidenced by ANIb, ANIm, GGDC, and 16S rRNA and rpoB sequence identity.

	Average values for seven <i>E. umeracha</i> sp. nov. isolates						
	ANIb (>95%	ANIm (>95%	Predicted DDH (>70% cutoff)	16S rRNA (>99.5% cutoff)	rpoB (>97 7%		
	cutoff)	cutoff)	(revelociton)	(colors catoli)	cutoff)		
<i>E. bruuniana</i> str. ATCC 33958 (CP035811)	76.70 ± 0.73 SD	78.18 ± 0.57 SD	49.23 ± 0.04 SD	99.28 ± 0.17 SD	97.59 ± 0 SD		
<i>E. bruuniana</i> str. G0146 (CP014337)	76.41 ± 0.71 SD	77.90 ± 0.65 SD	45.18 ± 0.07 SD	99.28 ± 0.17 SD	97.59 ± 0 SD		
<i>E. bruuniana</i> str. EkQ11 (SRS5502615)	76.57 ± 0.70 SD	78.27 ± 0.65 SD	49.17 ± 0.43 SD	99.41 ± 0.18 SD	97.62 ± 0 SD		

4.5.5 Pangenome analysis

A pangenome analysis of all available *Elizabethkingia* genomes (n=148) demonstrated high genetic diversity (Figure 13). The *Elizabethkingia* spp. pangenome consisted of 28,240 genes, with a core genome of only 76 genes and an accessory genome of 28,164 genes (443 soft-core, 6057 shell and 21,664 cloud genes).



Figure 13: *Elizabethkingia* pangenome. Pangenome analysis of 148 *Elizabethkingia* species from the Australian environment and clinical isolates alongside international strains.

A pairwise genome distance MDS plot of *Elizabethkingia* genomes (Figure 14) demonstrated tight clustering of all *E. anophelis* isolates, while *E. meningoseptica* isolates were the most distinct, both regarding other species and also between the *E. meningoseptica* isolates. The remaining *Elizabethkingia* species formed a more diffuse cluster with no clear distinction between human and environmental isolates and with *E. umeracha* sp. nov. isolates situated at the peripheries (Figure 13, pink triangles).

The gene presence/absence matrix generated by Roary (Appendix 5) was fed into Scoary to calculate any differentiating genes present in *E. umeracha* sp. nov. isolates. A total of 1886 genes were only identified in these seven isolates (100% specificity, 100% sensitivity; Appendix 6). More than half of these genes (n=1110; 58.8%) encode hypothetical proteins however of the remaining genes, 537 were fed into STRING which identified several functional enrichments, the highest scoring being tryptophan biosynthesis (1.04 strength) and molybdenum cofactor biosynthesis (1.04 strength) (full analysis available in Appendix 7).



Figure 14: *Elizabethkingia* pairwise genome distances. MDS illustrating pairwise genome distances calculated using Mash. Colored by species, shapes represent isolate source. Red areas are isolates from this collection.

4.5.6 Virulent gene identification

Using the VFDB, a total of 107 putative virulence factors were identified in this collection with 62 (56%) of these being shared across the three identified species (Figure 15A). However, several virulence factors were species specific. In E. miricola, unique virulence factors included homologs of adhesin/invasin Cj1136 (found in all E. miricola isolates, n=71; 100%, notably absent in *E. miricola* isolates outside this collection) [286], capsule protein Cps41 (n=71; 100%) [287], adenylate cyclase CyaB (n=8; 11%) [288], ABC-transporter HlyB (n=8; 11%) [289], toxins RtxB (n=11; 15%), RtxE (n=10; 14%) [290] and SmcL (n=71, 100%) [291], immune evasion protein GtrB (n=8; 11%) [292], intracellular growth protein PrsA2 (n=1) [293] and iron uptake protein YbtP (n=71; 100%) [294]. The virulence factors only identified in E. anophelis isolates were homologs of capsule proteins WbaP (n=1)[295] Cj1440c (n=10; 63%, only found in E. anophelis from this collection) [296], FTT_0790 (n=1), FTT_0797 (n=16; 100%), and FTT_0798 (n=3; 19%) [297], lipopolysaccharide proteins BplB, BplG [298], and KfoC [299] (all n=16; 100%), immune evasion protein OmpA [300] (n=16; 100%), and stress protein MucD [301] (n=1). Only one unique virulence factor homolog was identified in *E. umeracha* sp. nov. - capsular protein NeuB [302] - however it was only identified in two isolates (29%).

An MDS analysis on putative virulence factors identified in this collection as well as genomes sourced outside of this collection (Figure 15B; virulence factor BLAST results and heatmaps in Appendix 8) demonstrated that our *E. anophelis* isolates clustered with a subset of known pathogenic *E. anophelis* isolates while our *E. miricola* isolates formed a cluster of their own. *E. umeracha* sp. nov. isolates formed two separate clusters, one standalone, the other amongst pathogenic *E. bruuniana* and *E. miricola* isolates and an *E. usingii* isolate.


Figure 15: Virulence factors of *Elizabethkingia* species. A) Venn diagram of distribution of putative virulence factors across the three *Elizabethkingia* species identified in this collection. B) MDS analysis of putative virulence factors identified in 148 *Elizabethkingia* isolates. Colored by species. Triangles = known pathogen; circles = ability to cause disease unknown. Red areas = isolates from this collection.

4.5.7. Beta-lactamase resistance genes and Other ARGs

All 94 *Elizabethkingia* isolates from this Australian aquatic collection carried bla_B (subclass B1) and bla_{GOB} (subclass B3) genes encoding resistance to carbapenems and a bla_{CME} gene encoding resistance to cephalosporins.

MUSCLE alignments with all available reference sequences of bla_B and bla_{GOB} were generated to compare species/allele distributions (Figure 16).

All *Elizabethkingia* species in our analysis carried bla_{GOB} , with an interesting distribution of several distinct signature deletions of 2-4 amino acids within the different alleles (Appendix 12). However, none of these deletions are expected to alter gene reading frame given they appear in multiples of three nucleotides. For the bla_B gene distribution (Figure 15; right side tree), we saw four to five primary clades in the tree structure which were generally grouped by species.

Regarding metallo- β -lactamase allele combinations, one *E. anophelis* isolate (ER-QUAD-EK_56) carried a novel *bla*_{GOB} variant and the remaining 15 *E. anophelis* isolates from this study carried *bla*_{GOB-20}. Of these 15 isolates, 13 carried *bla*_{B-11}. Interestingly, the remaining 3 *E. anophelis* isolates (ER-QUAD-EK-14, -22, and -56), carried a *bla*_{B-1-like} gene also shared by three Australian clinical isolates (EkS2, EkQ5, EkQ17) and two Australian hospital environment isolates (EK2 and EK6).

Together these eight isolates formed the closely related (~36 SNPs to clinical isolates; ~42 SNPs to hospital environment isolates) clade 1 depicted in Figure 12.

The ten *E. miricola* isolates of clade 4 uniquely carried $bla_{GOB-25-like}$ genes and all carried $bla_{B6-like}$ genes. These $bla_{B6-like}$ genes were also identified in three Australian clinical *E. miricola* isolates (EkQ1, EkQ10 and EkQ13). The remaining 61 *E. miricola* isolates from this study uniquely carried $bla_{GOB19-like}$ and $bla_{B26-like}$ genes. Notably, *E. umaracha* sp. nov. isolates carried novel alleles of both metallo- β -lactamase genes.

Chromosomal extended-spectrum β -lactamase bla_{CME} has two types known: bla_{CME-1} and bla_{CME-2} . bla_{CME-1} appeared to be the closest allele related to the Australian aquatic environmental *E. anophelis* (ER-QUARD-EK_14, 22, 56) from wetland and dam samples. bla_{CME-2} was present at very high levels of variation from the aquatic environment isolates. Interestingly, the two distinct *E. miricola* clades appear to possess each a novel bla_{CME} allele, and a third novel allele appears in the *E. umeracha* sp. nov. (Appendix 13).



Figure 16: *Elizabethkiniga bla_{GOB} and bla_B* alleles. Phylogenetic trees of all *Elizabethkingia bla_B and bla_{GOB} alleles*. Left side is the tree of bla_{GOB} alleles and right side is the tree of *blaB alleles*. Labels are colored in red for *E. miricola*, green for *E. anophelis*, *blue for E. meningoceptica* and orange for *E. umeracha* sp. nov. Connecting space between the trees links sequences from the same isolate. Available allele numbers are presented as colored strips.

No other ARGs were detected in any of the Australian aquatic environment isolates. We also searched for the known mutations in gyrA (Ser83lle or Ser83Arg) that encode resistance to ciprofloxacin and levofloxacin (fluoroquinolone), however none were detected.

4.5.8 AMR phenotypic analysis: MIC testing

Ten representative isolates of *E. anophelis, E. miricola* and *E. umeracha* sp. nov., harboring unique combinations of *bla*_B, *bla*_{GOB} and *bla*_{CME} genes from each *Elizabethkingia* clade were tested for MIC against 38 clinically relevant antimicrobials (Table 4). To date, *Elizabethkingia* species lack their own defined breakpoint, so they have been interpreted by using EUCAST non-species and NCSI non-*Enterobacteriaceae* PK-PD breakpoints (Appendix 9). All isolates tested showed remarkable resistance to carbapenems, cephalosporins, penicillins including carboxypenicillin and monobactam. Regarding different *bla*_{GOB}, *bla*_B and *bla*_{CME} combinations, some differences in resistance profiles were noted (Table 4), including piperacillin/tazobactam resistance in only *bla*_{B-26-like}/*bla*_{GOB-19-like}/*bla*_{CME-variant} *E. miricola* isolates, and cefepime resistance in two *E. anophelis* isolates (one *bla*_{B-1-like}/*bla*_{GOB-20}/*bla*_{CME-1} and one *bla*_{B-1-like}/*bla*_{GOB-variant}/*bla*_{CME-1}).

Isolates were also resistant to antibiotic classes other than carbapenem and ESBLs, including aminoglycosides and glycylcycline (Table 4). One isolate, *E. anophelis* ER-QUAD-EK_14 was highly resistant to chloramphenicol and trimethoprim/ sulfamethoxazole. Azithromycin and rifampicin have no corresponding breakpoint in EUCAST or CLSI, however, tested isolates had a very low MIC (up to the lowest range tested), suggesting a potential sensitive profile. Vancomycin and teicoplanin also lack a breakpoint but their MICs were very high, indicating non-susceptibility. Likewise for the glycopeptides and colistin, which showed higher MIC than the top of concentration tested, suggesting potential resistance of *Elizabethkingia* against these antibiotics.

Table 4: MIC data of aquatic environmental *Elizabethkingia* isolates from South Australia against clinically relevant antimicrobials. Cells colors: red = resistant, yellow = intermediate, green = sensitive, No colour: Antimicrobial, Range tested (μ g/mL) and MIC 90 (μ g/mL). *bla*_B, *bla*_{GOB} and *bla*_{CME} alleles shown under isolate names; ^V = variant ^L = like.

			E. anophelis			E. umeracha sp. nov.				E. miricola		
Antimicrobial	Range tested (µg/mL)	MIC 90 (μg/mL)	ER- QUAD- EK_14 B-1 ^L GOB- 20 CMF-1	ER- QUAD- EK_56 B-1 ^L GOB ^V CME-1	ER- QUAD - EK_18 B-11 GOB2 0 CME-1	ER-QUAD- EK_08 В ^V GOB ^V СМЕ ^V	ER- QUAD - EK_09 B ^V GOB ^V CME ^V	ER- QUAD- EK_10 В ^V GOB ^V СМЕ ^V	ER-QUAD- EK_21 в ^v GOB ^v СМЕ ^v	ER-QUAD- EK_94 B-6 ^L GOB- 25 ^L CME ^V	ER- QUAD - EK_64 B-26 ^L GOB- 19 ^L CME ^V	ER- QUAD- EK_92 B-26 ^L GOB19 ^L CME ^V
Amoxicillin	2-32	> 32	>32	>32	32	>32	>32	>32	>32	>32	>32	>32
Ampicillin	2-32	> 32	>32	>32	32	>32	>32	>32	>32	>32	>32	>32
Amoxicillin/clavulanic acid	4-128	> 128	8	8	16	8	16	16	8	8	16	16
Piperacillin/tazobactam	1-64	> 64	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	2	<1	4	8	8
Ampicillin/sulbactam	8-128	> 128	32	16	16	32	32	64	32	32	32	32
Temocillin	2-32	> 32	> 32	16	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32
Cephalexin	4-64	N/A	> 64	> 64	64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64
Cefazolin	0.25-32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	> 32	32	> 32	> 32

Cefuroxime	1-16	> 16	>16	>16	16	>16	>16	>16	>16	>16	> 16	>16
Cefoxitin	8-256	N/A	< 8	< 8	16	32	32	32	32	16	32	32
Cefotaxime	0.03-8	> 8	> 8	>8	8	> 8	8	8	4	2	4	4
Ceftazidime	0.12-16	> 16	16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	4	> 16	> 16
Ceftriaxone	0.03-4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	2	> 4	> 4
Cefiderocol	0.03-32	N/A	8	4	8	4	4	4	1	1	4	8
Cefepime	0.06-16	> 16	>16	16	8	8	4	4	4	1	4	4
Ceftaroline	0.5-16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16
Ceftolozane/tazobactam	0.5-16	16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16
Meropenem	0.015-32	> 16	16	16	32	32	32	32	32	32	32	32
Tebipenem	0.03-8	N/A	8	4	8	8	8	8	4	> 8	8	8
Etrapenem	0.015-4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4	> 4
Aztreonam	0.5-16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16	> 16
Amikacin	1-64	64	32	4	32	32	32	32	32	16	16	16
Gentamicin	0.25-16	>16	8	2	> 16	16	8	8	8	8	4	2
Tobramycin	0.015-64	>16	>64	32	>64	> 64	16	64	64	64	64	64
Azithromycin	4-64	N/A	8	< 4	8	< 4	< 4	< 4	< 4	< 4	< 4	< 4
Ciprofloxacin	0.015-4	2	1	0.12	0.25	0.25	0.25	0.12	0.06	0.5	0.25	0.25
Levofloxacin	0.06-8	1	0.25	0.125	0.25	0.125	0.125	0.125	< 0.06	0.25	0.25	0.125

Trimethoprim	0.5-16	N/A	8	2	1	< 0.5	2	< 0.5	< 0.5	<0.5	2	2
Trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazo le	0.12/2.38- 32/608	2.38- 152	8/152	1.0/19. 0	0.5/9. 5	> 0.12/2.38	0.5/9. 5	0.25/4.7 5	<0.12/2.3 8	<0.12/2.3 8	0.5/9. 5	0.5/9.5
Vancomycin	0.12-32	N/A	8	8	8	4	>32	4	4	8	8	8
Teicoplanin	2-64	N/A	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64	> 64
Minocycline	0.25-16	1	0.5	< 0.125	0.25	0.5	0.5	0.5	< 0.125	0.5	0.25	0.5
Doxycycline	0.015-64	> 64	2	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	0.25	0.5	1	1
Tigecycline	0.12-8	2	4	2	8	4	4	4	8	4	2	4
Rifampicin	0.12-32	N/A	< 0.125	< 0.125	0.25	< 0.125	2	< 0.125	< 0.125	< 0.125	0.25	< 0.125
Colistin	0.25-8	N/A	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8
Polymixin B	0.25-8	N/A	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8	> 8
Chloramphenicol	2-128	>128	128	16	32	8	8	8	8	16	8	8

4.5.9 Mobile genetic elements characterization: ICEs, Plasmid and Phage

Integrative conjugative elements (ICEs) were identified in 67 / 94 (71.3%) of the aquatic environments *Elizabethkingia* spp. by comparing to ICEs publicly available data in Genbank using three types of ICEs [145]: ICEEaI from strain CSID3015183678, ICEEaII from strain NUHP1 and ICEEaIII from strain R26. The alignments demonstrated imperfect matches to the reference sequences, however all matches were closest to the type III ICE from *E. anophelis* strain R26.

Two plasmids have been described from *Elizabethkingia* species so far (Accessions CP016375.1 and CM003640.1), however neither were detected in this study. In our analysis, both plasmid sequences were aligned to the aquatic and clinical *Elizabethkingia* isolates explored here. Thirteen (81%) of the environmental *E. anophelis* in clade 2 showed low-quality matches to plasmid CP016375.1 (average 8% coverage at 90% identity) (Appendix 14). Alignments to the second reference plasmid from *E. miricola* strain EM_CHUV (CM003640.1) revealed little to no homology.

We performed a phage analysis on 94 Elizabethkingia genomes via Phaster, with hits detected for each isolate (data not shown). While most hits were recorded as 'incomplete' due to scaffolding of the WGS, fourteen isolates were detected with complete phages (Appendix 10). From these fourteen isolates, coming from multiple species, we selected four ranges of hit length to group the phages: 48.7 kb, 21.4-27.1 kb, 10.4 -18.8 kb, and 4.9-9.7 kb. Alignments were generated to identify similar phages amongst the different size ranges, with only the largest (48.7 kb) appearing conserved in multiple isolates. Initially, this phage was detected in two E. miricola, one from a wetland and another from a river, with alignments demonstrating different chromosomal locations. By aligning the large phage against the Australian Elizabethkingia sequences, we identified 17 environment and clinical Elizabethkingia isolates to carry it: two E. anophelis (one from wetland and another from human bronchial alveolar lavage), nine *E. miricola* (seven from wetlands and two from a river), one *E. bruuniana* (human blood) and five E. umeracha sp. nov. (dam). While short-read assembly data prevents detailed comparisons of these phages across the sequences, the Elizabthekingia species do share considerable mobile DNA.

4.6 Discussion

Elizabethkingia spp. are emerging pathogens and the only known organisms with multiple chromosomal metallo-β-lactamase genes, offering inherent resistance to carbapenems [303]. *Elizabethkingia* species are considered environmental bacteria, with

water bodies serving as environmental reservoirs. Contaminated water is implicated in *Elizabethkingia* spp. transmission pathways [304], yet with the exception of insects [305], frogs [247,306], reptiles [307] and spacecraft [250], most studies on *Elizabethkingia* genus have focused on clinical isolates and isolates taken from hospital environments, leaving *Elizabethkingia* species dwelling in aquatic environments unexplored. Here we characterized WGS of 94 *Elizabethkingia* derived from dam, river, and wetland samples from South Australia, thereby providing the first study of *Elizabethkingia* from diverse aquatic environments. Furthermore, we provide comparative genomics analyses of these environmental isolates with clinical *Elizabethkingia* isolates originating from Australia and worldwide.

Correctly identifying *Elizabethkingia* species is paramount as not only is the literature on *Elizabethkingia* spp. convoluted due to various nomenclature changes, but standard commercial microbial identification systems, such as biochemical tests and mass spectrometry (MS) using standard databases, cannot currently differentiate *E. anophelis, E. bruuniana, E. ursingii* or *E. occulta* and these are often misidentified as either *E. meningoseptica* or *E. miricola* [72,273,308,309]. Consistently, our initial MALDI-TOF MS results misidentified 11 isolates as *E. meningoseptica*. Interestingly, all speciation methods we used, including MALDI-TOF MS, Kraken2 and SpeciesFinder, gave conflicting results. The issues regarding MS and Kraken2 misidentifications likely arose from using standard databases [53] while SpeciesFinder uses 16S rRNA gene sequences, which are known to be limited for taxonomic purposes [231] with studies demonstrating less than 30% accuracy for aerobic bacteria to the species level [310]. These data suggest that *in lieu* of WGS, future *Elizabethkingia* spp. studies should be cautious in using 16S rRNA for speciation and ensure any utilized MS databases include all *Elizabethkingia* species.

The fact that *E. anophelis* was misidentified here and elsewhere [308,309,311,312] as *E. meningosepticum* by conventional clinical methods has led to speculation that *E. anophelis* is not only underrepresented but may actually be the primary species to cause disease in humans. This hypothesis is strengthened by recent reports of life-threatening *E. anophelis* infections in Asia, Australia, and the USA [53,72]. The 16 *E. anophelis* isolates identified here in dam and wetland samples formed two clades which differed by approximately 807 SNPs. The single wetland isolate and two dam isolates were found to differ by only ~36 SNPs to three *E. anophelis* isolates originating from sepsis patients in Queensland, Australia, and ~42 SNPs to two *E. anophelis* isolates derived from sinks located in a Queensland hospital [72]. Screening

for putative virulence factors did not identify any specific to the three environmental isolates and the three sepsis isolates, however several putative virulence factors were found to be unique to *E. anophelis* in general, including homologs of lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis proteins and serum resistance protein OmpA.

The majority of Australian aquatic environment isolates from this study were *E. miricola*. *E. miricola* is known to cause sepsis, oral and urinary tract infections [53,254,313] though reports of infection are less frequent than that for *E. meningoseptica* and *E. anophelis*. Environmental *E. miricola* from this study formed two distinct clades. While a clade of ten isolates were phylogenetically positioned next to three Australian clinical *E. miricola* isolates taken from sputum samples [72], the average SNP difference between these environmental and clinical isolates was 21,539. Nevertheless, environmental *E. miricola* shared putative virulence factors with clinical strains including homologs of capsule protein, Cps4I [314], haemolytic toxin SmcL [291], and iron acquisition protein YbtP [294]. The remaining 61 *E. miricola* isolates formed a clonal clade with an average difference of 7 SNPs. Despite the highly clonal nature of these isolates, they originated from two wetland sites approximately 10 km apart. Identifying potential transmission pathways, such as through wildlife, will be critical for future epidemiology.

The remaining seven *Elizabethkingia* isolates originated from dam samples and were phylogenetically placed proximal to E. bruuniana strains, though SNP analyses demonstrated the two branches to differ by ~124,216 SNPs. This considerable difference prompted an investigation as to whether these seven isolates represent a novel Elizabethkingia species. WGS-based ANI and in silico DDH analyses are known to be robust speciation methods that have proven more accurate than even the gold-standard conventional DDH for bacterial species delineation [53,233,315-317]. Here, both analyses clearly indicated that these isolates were a distinct species. The rpoB gene is also used in speciation and possesses a higher resolution for delineation than the 16S rRNA gene [234]. Here, all seven isolates fell under the 97.7% similarity cut-off to be classified as E. bruuniana. Furthermore, we identified 1886 genes unique to these isolates and where functional assignment was possible, these genes were mainly involved in cellular and metabolic processes. Together these data indicate a closely related but distinct species to E. bruuniana and we propose the name E. umeracha sp. nov. Though these isolates were shown here to share 62 putative virulence factors with E. anophelis and E. miricola isolates, future studies are required to determine whether this new species is pathogenic.

Metallo- β -lactamases (MBLs) are a worldwide concern as they confer resistance against carbapenems and almost all β -lactams [318], making pathogens carrying MBLs very difficult to treat. *Elizabethkingia* are currently the only known organisms to carry two chromosomal MBLs (bla_B and bla_{GOB}) and additionally carry a chromosomal bla_{CME} gene conferring resistance to cephalosporins [68]. Here we found that the three species of *Elizabethkingia* residing in aquatic environments all carried multiple known alleles, as well as novel variants of bla_B, bla_{GOB} and bla_{CME} genes. Regardless of allelic combinations, MIC testing demonstrated all were highly resistant to carbapenems, penicillins and monobactams. All tested isolates were also resistant to cephalosporins, though one *E. miricola* isolate carrying a *bla*_{CME} variant was susceptible to cefepime. Intravenous vancomycin has been cited as the favourable treatment option for Elizabethkingia infections [319]. While most tested isolates had MICs of vancomycin at 4 or 8 µg/mL, one E. umeracha sp. nov. isolate had >32 µg/mL, suggesting that a conventional dose of vancomycin would not be effective [318]. In addition to carbapenems and β-lactams, several isolates were found resistant to aminoglycosides and one *E. anophelis* isolate was highly resistant to trimethoprim/sulfamethoxazole and chloramphenicol. However, no additional AMR genes were identified, suggesting the presence of novel AMR mechanisms.

Environmental bacteria often harbour important AMR genes that are later captured and disseminated by more common human pathogens. For example, the ESBL gene, *bla*_{CTX-M}, now endemic among *Enterobacteriaceae*, likely originated from *Kluyvera ascorbate*, a soil bacteria [320]. The acquisition and spread of resistance, as well as virulence genes, is facilitated by MGEs. ICEs are MGEs that integrate into a host chromosome and can bestow new phenotypes [145]. In the 2015-2016 *E. anophelis* outbreak in the USA, which led to 66 confirmed cases of sepsis and 19 deaths, an ICE was identified in all of the outbreak clones. This ICE interrupted the *mutY* gene which led to a hypermutator phenotype [274]. ICEs were identified in 71% of 94 environmental *Elizabethkingia* isolates, however these bore no similarity to the ICE associated with the USA outbreak and only ~50% similarity to the type III ICE found in *E. anophelis* strain R26 [305], the first *E. anophelis* strain isolated. As such we have extended knowledge on the types of ICE that are found in *Elizabethkingia* spp..

In conclusion, we presented the first WGS analysis of *Elizabethkingia* species found in aquatic environments and discovered that they carry diverse bla_B bla_{GOB} and bla_{CME} genes and are highly resistant to carbapenems, cephalosporins, monobactams and other beta-lactams. Some isolates were also resistant to additional antibiotic classes

suggesting the presence of yet undiscovered AMR mechanisms. We uncovered environmental *E. anophelis* isolates that were very closely related to sepsis-causing clinical strains, thus identifying water bodies as an important reservoir for pathogenic *Elizabethkingia* spp. and highlighting the potential for cross-habitat movement. Finally, we discovered a proposed novel species, *E. umeracha* sp. nov., representatives of which appear resistant to vancomycin and carry novel metallo β -lactamase and extended-spectrum serine β -lactamase gene alleles.

Chapter 5. Genomic analysis of Carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* in water matrices: implications for public health and wastewater treatments

5.1 Declaration

This chapter represents a manuscript accepted for publication.

It responds to aim 2 and 3.

Authors

Sopheak Hem^{1,2}, Ethan R. Wyrsch^{1,2}, Barbara Drigo³, Dave J. Baker⁴, Ian G. Charles^{4,5}, Erica Donner³, Veronica M. Jarocki^{1,2*}, Steven P. Djordjevic^{1,2*}

Author affiliations

¹Australian Institute for Microbiology & Infection, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, NSW 2007, Australia

²Australian Centre for Genomic Epidemiological Microbiology, University of Technology Sydney, PO Box 123, Broadway, NSW 2007, Australia

³Future Industries Institute, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA 5001, Australia

⁴Quadram Institute Bioscience, Norwich, United Kingdom

⁵Norwich Medical School, Norwich Research Park, Colney Lane, Norwich NR4 7TJ, United Kingdom

Published in

Applied and Environmental Microbiology, June 2022, https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00646-22

Author contributions

SH: writing the original draft, formal analysis, investigation, writing – review and editing. ERW: Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Conceptualisation, Supervision, Writing – review & editing; BD: Investigation, Conceptualization, Validation, Formal analysis, Data Curation, Writing – Review & Editing; ED: Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – Review & Editing; IGC: Investigation, Resources; DJB: Resources, Methodology; VMJ: Writing – original draft, Formal analysis, Investigation, Supervision, Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing the final draft; SPD: Conceptualisation, Resources, Supervision, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Writing – review & editing the final draft.

Ethical approval

The water samples used in our study were approved by the relevant authority for data publication.

Authors signatures

Sopheak Hem:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Ethan R. WyrscH:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Barbara Drigo:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Dave J. Baker:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
lan G. Charles:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Erica Donner:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Veronica M. Jarock	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Steven P. Djordjevio	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.

5.2 Abstract

Comamonas spp. are Gram-negative bacteria that catabolise a wide range of organic and inorganic substrates. Comamonas are abundant in aquatic and soil environments, including wastewater, and can cause opportunistic infections in humans. Because of their importance in wastewater bioaugmentation and bioremediation, the identification of *Comamonas* species harbouring genes encoding carbapenemases and other clinically important antibiotic resistance genes warrant further investigation. Here, an of 39 we present analysis whole-genome sequences comprising three Comamonas species from aquatic environments in South Australia that were recovered on media supplemented with carbapenems. The analysis includes a detailed description of 33 C. denitrificans isolates, some of which carried chromosomally acquired blaGES-5, blaCXA and aminoglycoside resistance (aadA) genes located on putative genomic islands (GIs). All *bla*_{GES-5} and *bla*_{OXA}-containing GIs appear to be unique to this Australian collection of C. denitrificans. Notably, most ORFs within the GIs, including all AMR genes, had adjacent attC sites indicating that these ORFs are mobile gene cassettes. One C. denitrificans isolate carried an IncP-1 plasmid with genes involved in xenobiotic degradation and response to oxidative stress. Our assessment of the sequences highlights the very distant nature of C. denitrificans to the other Comamonas species and its apparent disposition to acquire antimicrobial resistance genes chromosomally.

5.3 Background

Comamonas spp. are Gram-negative bacilli that reside within the family *Comamonadaceae* and the phylum Proteobacteria [321]. *Comamonas* spp. are commonly found in a variety of environmental samples and are among the common bacteria in soil [322–324], wetlands [325–327] and wastewater [54,328]. The ability of *Comamonas* spp. to catabolise a wide range of organic and inorganic substrates, including amino acids, aromatic compounds, carboxylic acids, heavy metals, and steroids, have been extensively documented [329–331]. Furthermore, several studies have documented the roles *Comamonas* spp. play in wastewater bioaugmentation and bioremediation [332–334]. *Comamonas denitrificans* was first identified because of its significant ability to grow in anoxic conditions and denitrify sludge [335,336], a by-product during sewage treatment rich in antimicrobial residues, metals, pharmaceuticals, and drug-resistant microbial communities [337,338]. Unlike other species in the *Comamonas* genus, *C. denitrificans* can reduce nitrate to nitrogen gas, both in aerobic and anaerobic conditions [336] and has a notable capacity of biofilm formation [339].

While Comamonas spp. regularly feature in environmental microbial communities, several species have been described as aggressive opportunistic pathogens capable of surviving in hospital environments [340]. Reports of Comamonas spp. causing disease in humans have been increasing in multiple countries across six continents [79,341-346]. Comamonas testosteroni is the species most frequently associated with human disease and is known to cause invasive infections such as cellulitis [347], peritonitis [348], endocarditis [76], meningitis [349], endophthalmitis [350], pneumonia [351], and appendicitis associated with bacteraemia [344]. However, other Comamonas species, such as Comamonas terrigena and Comamonas kerstersii, can also cause pathologies, including eye and intra-abdominal infections [352,353]. Due to the omnipresence of Comamonas spp. in the environment and its apparent capacity to cause opportunistic infection, it is important to understand if members of the genus display resistance to antibiotics. Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) poses a global public health threat, and the increase in resistance to "last-resort drugs", such as carbapenems, is alarming [354–356]. The environment is an important reservoir of resistant bacteria, antimicrobial-resistant genes (ARGs) and antimicrobial residues, and there is mounting evidence suggesting the dispersal of environmental and clinical ARGs between wildlife, agriculture, and humans [357–359]. Carbapenem-resistant bacteria have been isolated from both natural water bodies [360,361], wastewater [362-364], wildlife and synanthropic species that frequent wastewater [359,365]. Airline waste [366] and wastewater in particular has been flagged as a hotspot for AMR evolution given the high abundance of bacteria combined with sublethal antibiotic concentrations derived from anthropogenic sources, including agriculture, industry, hospitals and households [338,364].

To date, only one carbapenem resistance gene has been identified in any *Comamonas* spp. (bla_{IMP-8} in *Comamonas thiooxydans*) [55], and in general, data regarding ARG carriage in *Comamonas* is limited. Published case reports suggest that *C. testosteroni* is susceptible to common antibiotics such as aminoglycosides, fluoroquinolones, ceftazidime, carbapenems and piperacillin-tazobactam [321,367]. However, in a severe meningitis case caused by *C. testosteroni*, the pathogen was resistant to 3rd generation cephalosporin but sensitive to carbapenem [349]. *C. denitrificans* has been reported to survive high doses of amoxicillin [368], and a genomic analysis of a C. aquatica isolate from the Daguan River, China, identified genes encoding resistance to several antibiotics, including cephalosporins, penicillins, and bacitracin but the genes that could account for these resistances were not reported [369].

Given the growing number of studies identifying carbapenem-resistant bacteria in water matrices and the abundance of *Comamonas* in the environment, this study sought to shed light on the potential for *Comamonas* species to acquire resistance to critically important antibiotics in Australia. Here we provide a whole-genome sequence (WGS) and phylogenic analysis of 39 carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* spp. isolates, including 33 diverse *C. denitrificans* isolates, the majority of which carried acquired chromosomal carbapenemase bla_{GES-5} and β -lactamase bla_{OXA} genes.

5.4 Methods

5.4.1 Sample collection and bacterial isolation

Within a period of one year, from July 2018 to July 2019, water samples (~10 L) were collected in triplicate, monthly, from three sources: influent wastewater, a lake and a wetland in South Australia.

Influent wastewater was collected from four municipal wastewater treatment plants (hereafter referred as WWTPs A, B, C and D). WWTP A serves ≈150,000 inhabitants and treats approximately 33 ML/day of primarily domestic sewage. WWTP B serves ≈198,000 inhabitants and treats around 55 ML/day, primarily from households and commercial establishments with minor industrial inputs. WWTP C serves ≈700,000 inhabitants and treats around 175 ML/day with a large industrial/commercial component, as well as residential, and hospital sources. WWTP D is a rural wastewater treatment plant which serves 5,000 inhabitants and treats around 1.2 ML/day primarily from households and seasonal meat processing facilities. Raw wastewater to all WWTPs is classified as low-to-medium organic strength [370]. All samples were stored on ice directly after collection and processed within 2-3 hrs.

The lake is a shallow artificial lake fed by recycled water, which is composed of a mix of treated wastewater and cleansed stormwater. The lake is sporadically fringed by aquatic reads and vegetation and attracts silver gulls (*Larus novaehollandiae*), pigeons (*Columba livia*), Eurasian coots (*Fulica atra*) and indigenous and migratory birds.

The inland wetland convers 42 hectares and is recharged by seasonal rainfall/runoff inflows. The annual mean rainfall is 438 mm (11.4 mm February; 59.6 mm July) and mean annual temperature ranging between 21.6°C (28.2°C January) to 11.5°C (7.1°C July) (bom.gov.au). The wetland is habitat to over 160 species of indigenous and migratory birds, including purple swamp hem, stilt and herons, as well as *Larus novaehollandiae, Fulica atra, Columba livia* and *Haliaeetus leucogaster*. The water of

this inland wetland is harvested and pumped underground into natural sandy limestone aquifers.

5.4.2 Isolation of Carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* species and MALDI-TOF MS species identification

All sample were plated, in triplicate, on Oxoid Brilliance[™] CRE Agar plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific Australia, Adelaide, SA) after 10-fold serial dilutions, using 500 µL from 2-3 consecutive dilutions. All cultures were incubated at 25°C, 37°C and 44°C for 24 hrs. Single colonies growing on CRE Agar were picked up and steaked on a Plate Counting Agar (PCA; Thermo Fisher Scientific). Then, PCA cultures were incubated at 37°C for 18-24 hrs to have sufficient bacterial growth. A total of 40 *Comamonas* isolates were sampled, with their identity resolved initially by Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS). MALDI-TOF MS was performed using Bruker Daltonics, operated in linear positive mode under MALDI Biotyper 3.0 Real-time Classification (version 3.1, Bruker Daltonics) [371]. All isolates were preserved in glycerol (40% v/v) at -80 °C.

5.4.3 DNA extraction and WGS

DNA from MALDI-TOF MS identified colonies with scores 2.000-3.000 were extracted using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Nucleic acid quality was measured with Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific). DNA concentrations for all samples were measured by fluorometric quantitation using a Qubit instrument and High Sensitivity dsDNA HS Assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and purified DNA extracts were stored at -80°C until sequencing.

WGS was performed on an Illumina Nextseq500 instrument according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data was uploaded to Basespace (www. basespace.illumina.com) where the raw data was converted to 8 FASTQ files for each v1.0.4 sample. Genome assembly was performed usina Shovill (https://github.com/tseemann/shovill) using the SPAdes option. A single genome was cut due to high scaffolding, with the remaining 39 sequences passing basic quality control using assembly-stats (https://github.com/sanger-pathogens/assembly-stats).

5.4.4 Phylogenetic analysis

A phylogenetic analysis was performed on *Comamonas* isolates from multiple species, including: 39 draft genomes from aquatic environments in South Australia (this

study) alongside 49 Comamonas genomes (22 complete, 27 draft) sourced from Genbank (downloaded on 05 March 2021) [279] (https://ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/) including five clinical Comamonas isolates. Genbank sourced genomes are referred to by their accession numbers throughout the manuscript. A maximum-likelihood phylogenetic tree of all species were constructed using PhyloSift [206], and single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)-based phylogenetic analyses were generated using Parsnp [217] (https://github.com/marbl/parsnp). All trees were resolved using FastTree2 [372] and visualised using Interactive Tree Of Life (iTOL) software v4 [208] (https://itol.embl.de/). The C. denitrificans pangenome was calculated using Roary v3.11.2 [218] (https://github.com/sanger-pathogens/Roary) and visualised using Phandango v1.3.0 [373] (https://jameshadfield.github.io/phandango/#/main). А pangenome-wide gene association study on C. denitrificans isolates was performed using Scoary [280] (https://github.com/AdmiralenOla/Scoary).

5.4.5 Genotyping

In addition to MALDI-TOF MS, in silico species identification was also performed using Kraken2 [232] (https://ccb.jhu.edu/software/kraken2/). To confirm the identification of C. denitrificans and C. testosteroni, pairwise genome comparisons were performed against C. denitrificans JAFNME01 and C. testosteroni NZ_CP067086.1 using both the average nucleotide identity BLASTn (ANIb) and ANI MUMer (ANIm) algorithms available on the JSpecies web server (https://jspecies.ribohost.com/jspeciesws) using a 95% cutoff value for species delimitation [197]. Predicted DNA-DNA hybridisation (DDH) results were ascertained using the Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator (GGDC) tool [233] (https://ggdc.dsmz.de) with a 70% cut-off value for species delimitation using the recommended Formula 2. Virulence-associated genes, antimicrobial resistance (AMR) genes, metal resistance genes and plasmid replicons were screened for using ABRicate (https://github.com/tseemann/abricate) in conjunction with the following databases: VFDB [198] (https://mgc.ac.cn/VFs), CARD [192] (https://https://card.mcmaster.ca), MEGARes [374] (https://megares.meglab.org) and 2.0 PlasmidFinder [282] (https://cge.cbs.dtu.dk/services/ PlasmidFinder), respectively.

5.4.6 Genome annotation

All draft environmental genomes in this study were annotated using prokka (https://github.com/tseemann/prokka) and managed using SnapGene v4.1.9 (https://snapgene.com). The RAST annotation pipeline [210] (https://rast.nmpdr.org/rast.cgi) was also utilised on genomes representative of each

clade to cross-check annotations. Transposons were identified using TnCentral (https://tncentral.proteininformationresource.org). Putative genomic islands (GIs) were identified by Islandviewer 4 [203] (https://pathogenomics.sfu.ca/islandviewer/) using reference genome Comamonas sp. strain NLF 7-7 (accession NZ CP042344.1), and confirmed in detail using progressive Mauve [375]. Mobile gene cassette-associated recombination (attC) sites were screened for using HattCl (https://github.com/maribuon/HattCI)[376]. Only attC sites with Vscores >7.5 were considered. GIs were visualised using EasyFig [377] (https://mjsull.github.io/Easyfig/). BLASTn was utilised to determine whether putative GIs and AMR regions identified in this study had been previously deposited into NCBI. The Aliview software v3.0 (GPLv3) [283] (https://github.com/AliView), utilising MUSCLE and FastTree2 was used to align gene alleles and perform maximum-likelihood phylogenetic analyses. Plasmid comparisons were performed using the BLAST Ring Image Generator (BRIG) [378] (http://brig.sourceforge.net/).

5.5 Results

From a total of 471 isolates cultured from CRE-agar plates inoculated with samples from aquatic environments in South Australia, including wastewater, wetland, and lake samples from 2018-2019, 39 isolates were *Comamonas* spp.. *Comamonas* constituted the third most prevalent genus isolated from wastewater and are the subject of this study. Most *Comamonas* spp. were sourced from influent wastewater (n=37; 94.8%) with single isolates from a lake (n=1; 2.6%) and a wetland (n=1; 2.6%). Associated metadata on all 39 isolates described here as well as 48 *Comamonas* spp. sourced from Genbank is available in Appendix 15.

Draft genomes were assembled using shovill v1.0.4. Consistent with an earlier whole-genome sequencing study [345], genome sizes ranged between 2782493 bp to 4055492 bp with an average size of 3101902 bp. The number of scaffolds per genome ranged from 29 to 321, with a mean of 128.9. Full assembly statistics can be viewed in Appendix 16. Draft genomes have been deposited in the NCBI database under the accession numbers SAMN25632339-SAMN25632377, and BioProject PRJNA803140.

5.5.1 Identification of *Comamonas* species

Speciation of *Comamonas* isolates remains a challenge and varies between the typing techniques used (Table 5). MALDI-TOF MS of the 39 isolates sourced from Australian aquatic environments predicted *Comamonas* sp. for 25 (62.5%) and one *C. aquatica*. Kraken2 was also unreliable with 11 (28%) non-*Comamonas* identifications.

Kraken2 predicted 28 isolates as *Comamonas* species (72%), but some were misidentified as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (n=1) and *Acidovorax* spp. (n=10). Using our phylogenetic approach, all 39 isolates were identified as *Comamonas* spp., specifically, 33 as *C. denitrificans* (84.6%), five as *C. testosteroni* (12.5%) and one *C. aquatica* (2.5%) isolate.

Species Identification	MALDI-TOF MS	Kraken2*	WGS Phylogenetic characterisation
C. aquatic	1 (2.6%)	12 (30.7%)	1(2.6%)
C. testosterone	0	6 (15.4%)	5 (12.8%)
C. denitrificans	0	0	33 (84.6%)
C. kerstersii	0	8 (20.5%)	0
Comamonas sp.	25 (64.1%)	2 (5.1%)	0
Non-Reliable Identification	13 (33.3%)	0	0

Table 5: *Comamonas* Speciation. Aquatic environmental *Comamonas* species (n=39) as identified by MALDI-TOF MS, Kraken2, and WGS phylogenetic analysis.

*Kraken2 typing also resulted in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (n=1; 2.6%), *Acidovorax carolinensis* (n=2; 5.1%), *Acidovorax* spp. (n=8; 20.5%)

5.5.2 Phylogenetic analysis

A phylogenetic tree comprising 88 *Comamonas* spp. genomes was constructed using Phylosift (Figure 17) with 39 isolates from the Australian aquatic environment in this collection and 49 global strains available from Genbank. The isolates were derived from diverse sources, primarily environmental samples (n=75), humans (n=5) and various animal waste (n=5). The count of species post-phylogeny was as follows: *C. denitrificans* (n=34), *C. testosteroni* (n=19), *C. thiooxydens* (n=12), *C. aquatica* (n=4), *C. kerstersii* (n=3), *C. terrigena* (n=2) and one isolate each of *C. badia*, *C. composti*, *C. granuli*, *C. jiangduensis*, *C. koreensis*, *C. odontotermitis*, *C. piscis*, *C. sediminis* and C. serinivorans. Four isolates could not be characterised to the species level.

Based on the distribution of sequence alignments by PhyloSift, *Comamonas* species were separated into three primary clusters, with a clear separation between species in all cases except *C. testosteroni* and *C. thiooxydans*, which were closely related. *C. denitrificans* was notably separated from other *Comamonas* species, mirroring prior analyses of RNA sequences [379].

Comamonas group 1 (Figure 17) comprised of five species: *C. serinivorans*, *C. sediminis*, *C. granuli*, *C. badia* and an undefined *Comamonas* sp. strain NLF 7-7 (Sus scrofa, Korea).

Group 2 was defined as *C. denitrificans* only, including the environmental/ wastewater isolates from this study plus the only available *C. denitrificans* genome sequence from GenBank (JAFNME01, from sediment, Denmark).

Group 3 constituted isolates across at least eleven species based on current nomenclature, with clade structure suggesting up to thirteen species may be present. Our five *C. testosteroni* isolates were most closely related to *C. testosteroni* NFYY023 from human faeces, which sits apart from the *C. testosteroni/C. thiooxydans* subclade, however *C. testosteroni* NFYY023 was ~90,000 SNPs from the closest *C. testosteroni* from this collection.

It is likely that our five isolates constitute a closely related yet distinct species to *C. testosteroni*. Using the NCBIs *C. testosteroni* representative strain (NZ_CP067086) as a reference, we performed ANIb, ANIm and in silico DDH analyses as determine whether the isolates belong to *C. testosteroni*. All five isolates had ANIb and ANIm values of 83% and 87%, respectively, which are below the 95% cut-off values for species delimitation, and the in silico DDH analysis returned a 0.04% probability of being the same species as NZ_CP067086 (Appendix 17). Definitive novel species characterisations will be the subject of future studies.



Figure 17: *Comamonas* phylogeny. Mid-point rooted Maximum-likelihood phylogeny and associated metadata of 88 *Comamonas* species using Phylosift. Isolates from this collection are coloured in purple. Bootstrap values > 0.9 are shown as pink dots. Blue strip designates isolates carrying ARGs.

To illustrate the more nuanced distribution of *C. denitrificans* in our study, particularly against the representative from Denmark, a Parsnp tree was constructed (Figure 17). Firstly, despite the majority coming from the same Australian wastewater source, we noted a diverse set of clades that generally mirror the PhyloSift distribution, where we acquired only one to three representatives of many potential subclades. The

exception was Group 2 (Figure 18), which sat as a closely related subclade (as low as 7 SNVs between 8 isolates). The external international reference sat most distant in the distribution, at approximately 6000 SNPs from both its closest neighbours in clades 1 and to clade 2, suggesting significantly diverged lineages of the species.





5.5.3 Pangenome analysis of Comamonas denitrificans

An analysis of the *C. denitrificans* pan-genome supported the sub-clade associations as determined by the core-genome phylogeny and the high genetic diversity of the species (Figure 19). The *C. denitrificans* pangenome consisted of 7,219 genes, with a core genome of only 946 genes and an accessory genome of 5173 genes (147 soft-core, 2,637 shell and 2,389 cloud genes). A range of multiple alignment methods, L-INS-i (accurate; for alignment of <~200 sequences), FFT-NS-2 (fast; for alignment of <~30,000 sequences) through MAFFT. The distribution of genes generally matched the

phylogenetic analysis presented in Figure 18, with notable divergence in pangenome data for clades 1 (light green), 7 (blue) and 8 (pink), which had some isolates with distinct genotypes distant from the closest evolutionary neighbours. This comparison aligns with the highly variant nature of the isolates presented here, suggesting that up to twenty-five distinct lineages of *C. denitrificans* are now available as WGS.



Figure 19: *C. denitrificans* pangenome. Pangenome analysis of 33 *C. denitrificans* from Australian aquatic environments and *C. denitrificans* JAFNEM01 sourced from Genbank. Colour groupings match clades designated in Figure 2. Phylogenetic clustering by accessory genomes.

5.5.4 Antimicrobial resistance genes identification

All 88 *Comamonas* spp. were screened for ARGs (Figure 20). In the Australian collection, 30 out of the 33 *C. denitrificans* isolates (29 from wastewater, one from a lake sample) carried at least one ARG or detergent resistance gene. Despite being selected for phenotypic carbapenem resistance, none of the other isolates from the Australian collection (n=6) carried any known resistance gene. Among the 33 Australian *C. denitrificans* isolates, 13 carried carbapenemase gene bla_{GES-5} , nine hosted β -lactamase gene bla_{OXA-10} , two carried $bla_{OXA-101}$, and two carried $bla_{OXA-5-like}$ alleles. Therefore, we could not account for resistance to the carbapenem supplement in Oxoid Brilliance CRE Agar plates in 26/39 *Comamonas* spp isolates.

A total of 21 Australian *C. denitrificans* isolates carried at least one aminoglycoside resistance gene, *aadA5* being the most common (n=9) followed by *aadA13* (n=6) (Figure 19). *C. denitrificans* isolate ERQ0403 carried a combination of clinically important antimicrobial resistance genes (bla_{GES-5} , bla_{OXA-10}) and aminoglycoside resistance (*aadA13*). All but one Australian *C. denitrificans* harboured detergent resistance gene *qacL* (Figure 20).

A subset of *Comamonas* isolates sourced from Genbank (n=11; 22%) also carried ARGs (Figure 17 and Figure 20), five of which, sourced from either humans or biofilm

reactors, had multidrug resistance profiles (Figure 20). However, outside of the Australian *C. denitrificans* isolates, only one isolate, a *C. thiooxydans* sourced from a human sample, carried a carbapenem resistance gene (*bla*_{IMP-8}).

Metal resistance genes were also identified using the MEGAres 2.0 database. All *C. denitrificans* isolates originating from Australia carried genes conferring resistance to copper (*cop* genes), and 11 (33%) additionally carried mercury resistance genes (*mer* genes). The singular Australian *C. aquatica* isolate also carried copper resistance genes, as did two *C. aquatica* isolates sourced from Genbank. The five Australian *C. testosteroni* isolates did not carry metal resistance genes; however, eight *C. testosteroni* isolates sourced from Genbank all carried mercury resistance genes, with one isolate carrying an additional gene conferring resistance to chromium. Virulence-associated genes were also screened for using the VFDB; however, none were identified in any isolate using a >80% nucleotide identity and >80% gene coverage cut-off.



Figure 20: Antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) in *Comamonas* spp. Heatmap of ARGs identified in all available *Comamonas* spp. genomes. Specific ARGs, detergent resistance genes and integrases are shown in green. ARGs shown in green. Resistance conferred by gene carriage is shown in purple. NSBL = narrow spectrum beta-lactamase.

C. denitrificans chromosomally acquired blaGES-5 and blaOXA alleles

Regarding genetic context, bla_{GES-5} and bla_{OXA} genes appeared on putative genomic islands (GIs). The clade of *C. denitrificans* encoding bla_{GES-5} presented as a set of diverse lineages (Figure 19). Upon comparing the genetic context around bla_{GES-5} , it was determined that two chromosomal sites were hosting the gene, with related isolates ERQ0150, ERQ0395, ERQ0585 encoding the gene in the same chromosomal loci. One isolate, ERQ0644, had acquired the gene at a separate chromosomal site. Two reference

strains (JAFNME01 and ERQ0400) were used to resolve these chromosomal sites across contigs present in the isolates hosting AMR (Figure 21A, 5C). In addition to bla_{GES-5} , the GI present in ERQ0395 also harboured *aadA13* (aminoglycoside resistance), *qacL* (quaternary ammonium compound resistance) and several DUF1010 genes. Though the GIs represented in Figure 21A lacked any tRNA gene or known integrase, they were identified as GIs based on atypical codon usage by SIGI-HMM [380], and most ORFs within the GIs, including all AMR genes, had adjacent *attC* sites indicating that these ORFs are mobile gene cassettes. The *attC* sites associated with *bla*_{GES-5} in ERQ0585 and ERQ0150 shared 98% sequence identity but only ~50% sequence identity with the ERQ0395 *bla*_{GES-5} *attC* site. However, the *bla*_{GES-5} gene and associated *attC* site in ERQ0395 was identical to that carried by an *intl3*-containing Tn7221 (also called Tn*Pfu1*; Tn402 family) in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pIPM3H3-GES5. Unlike the three aforementioned *bla*_{GES-5}-containing GIs, the GI carrying *bla*_{GES-5} in ERQ0644, located at a different chromosomal insertion site (Figure 21C), contained a phage associated integrase *intlPac*, which was also partially present in ERQ0400 (Figure 21C).

A comparison of two representative GIs from EQR0640 and EQR0655, encoding *bla*_{OXA-10} and *bla*_{OX-5-like}, respectively, were also visualised (Figure 21B). Alignments demonstrated that GIs hosting these AMR genes were inserted at the exact same chromosomal site as three GIs containing *bla*_{GES-5} (Figure 21A). The shared chromosomal sequence at each structure's termini included *lysR* (transcriptional regulator) and a *fic*-family gene, often found in mobile GIs [381] at one end and a partial *lysR* and an *mmsA* (CoA-acylating methylmalonate-semialdehyde dehydrogenase) at the other. Like the *bla*_{GES-5} GIs, most ORFs, including *bla*_{OXA-5-like} and two *qacL* genes in EQR0640 and *bla*_{OXA-10} and *aadA5* in EQR0655, were associated with *attC* sites, though lacked any known integrase or tRNA gene. All *bla*_{GES-5} and *bla*_{OXA}-containing GIs appear to GIs previously deposited in Genbank, including a well characterised *bla*_{GES-5} containing GI residing in *P. aeruginosa* [162].



Figure 21: Genomic islands (GIs) carrying AMR determinants. A) Comparison of three GIs carrying *bla*_{GES-5} at the chromosomal insertion site. B) Comparison of two GIs, one carrying *bla*_{OXA-10}, the other *bla*_{OXA-5-like}. GI in the same genetic context as A). C) Comparison of GI carrying *bla*_{GES-5}. The genetic context differs to A) and B) and is associated with intergrase *intlPac*.

5.5.5 Comamonas denitrificans IncP-1 plasmid

All 88 *Comamonas* genomes were screened for plasmid replicons, and three were identified: IncP-1 in *C. denitrificans* isolate ERQ0628 and a *C. jiangduensis* isolate (CADEPJ01), and rep21 in a *C. kerstersii* strain J29 (NZ_LFYP00000000.1). The IncP-1 replicon (*trfA*) in ERQ0628 was located on a 62,429 bp contig, beginning with a partial *tral* gene and ending with a partial *traE* gene. Another contig (3980 bp) contained both partial *tral* and *traE* genes present at the contig start and end. These two contigs were concatenated to produce a putative complete IncP-1 plasmid sequence. Future long-read sequencing is needed to investigate any potential additional insertions into the *tra*

region following *tral* or *traE*, though previously insertions have only been reported following *traM*, between *oriV* and *trfA* and between *trb* and *tra* regions [382]. Nevertheless, a BLAST search of the NCBI database was used to identify high sequence identity IncP-1 plasmids and the top 15 hits (ranging between 98.78 - 99.95% sequence identity and 40 - 79% sequence coverage) were used for content comparisons (Figure 21).

All compared IncP-1 plasmids possessed an IncP-type conjugation *tra* region and the IncP *kor-par-kle* regulon region. The remaining regions present in ERQ628 IncP-1 (Figure 22; left) were less common. An 11,709 bp inserted region containing a mercury resistance *mer* operon carried by Tn*5031* (Tn*402* family) was identified in two other similar plasmids, one carried by *Alicycliphilus denitrificans* pALIDE02 (CP002451) and the other by *Delftia acidovorans* pUO1 (AB06332) [383]. These two Tn*5031* sequences were near-identical, differing by 1 SNP. *A. denitrificans* pALIDE02 was the only other plasmid to possess a 7,964 bp inserted region containing genes involved in stress response and xenobiotic degradation, including two genes encoding glutathione S-transferases and a short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase (SDR). The ERQ628 IncP-1 plasmid also possesses a unique 12,843 bp inserted region flanked by two IS*1071* elements flank genes responsible for haloacetate degradation (*dehH1*, *dehH2*). Notably, the ERQ0628 IncP-1 plasmid only contained *trbA*, and the remaining *trb* region was missing (Figure 22; right).



85

Figure 22: BRIG comparisons of IncP-1 plasmids. Left: Plasmid map of putative IncP-1 plasmid from ERQ0628 and BLAST alignments to other IncP-1 plasmids. Contig breaks noted in the *tra* operon. Right: Plasmid map of *D. acidovorans* pUO1 and BLAST alignments to other IncP-1 plasmids.

5.6 Discussion

Wastewater has been flagged as a hotspot for interaction between diverse bacteria, genetic exchange, and AMR evolution and dissemination across ecosystems [384]. However, despite the abundance of *Comamonas* species in wastewater, its ability to acquire AMR is poorly understood. Here we add 39 draft *Comamonas* genomes, sourced from South Australian municipal wastewater, a lake, and a wetland, to make up a total pool of 88 *Comamonas* WGS currently available. Our analyses show: i) carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* was most prevalent in wastewater, ii) *C. denitrificans* isolates carried genomic islands encoding carbapenemase *bla*_{GES-5} or extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) *bla*_{OXA} alleles iii) *Comamonas* carry genes conferring resistance to copper and mercury, iv) *C. denitrificans*, the most commonly isolated species, was genetically diverse, and v) a *C. denitrificans* isolate carried an IncP-1 plasmid with genes involved in xenobiotic degradation and response to oxidative stress.

5.6.1 Carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* is present in aquatic environments: implications for public health and wastewater treatments

Carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria are an urgent threat to global health [385,386] and have been detected in both wastewater and surface water worldwide [363,387–389]. Here we isolated 39 carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* isolates: 32 *C. denitrificans* and five *C. testosteroni* from wastewater and, one *C. denitrificans* from a wetland and one *C. aquatica* from a lake with public access.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first report of carbapenem resistance in *C. denitrificans* and *C. aquatica*, though there has been at least one report of a carbapenem-resistant *C. testosteroni* infection in Turkey in 2015 [390]. Infections caused by carbapenem-resistant bacteria are associated with poor prognoses and increased morbidity and mortality rates [391]. *C. testosteroni* has been isolated as the infectious agent in various sites, including blood, peritoneal fluid, cerebrospinal fluid, urine, and different tissues [392]. *C. aquatica* reportedly has caused bacteremia and septic shock [393], and *C. denitrificans* has been detected in clinical samples [79].

Therefore, the emergence of carbapenem-resistance in these organisms warrants closer public health surveillance. To that end, it is important to note that

Comamonas spp. grow poorly on routine clinical media [79], and biochemical tests often provide erroneous *Pseudomonas* spp. identifications [321]. Similarly, as shown here and elsewhere, MALDI-TOF MS can misidentify *Comamonas* at the species level (K. Moriya et al., 2015). Furthermore, *C. denitrificans* and *C. nitrativorans* have highly similar 16S rRNA sequences and cannot be differentiated by phenotypic analysis [321]. Conversely, WGS represents a high-resolution method that can accurately identify *Comamonas* species.

The presence of carbapenem-resistant *Comamonas* in wastewater also has implications for wastewater treatments. Wastewater treatment plants receive large volumes of sewerage enriched in inorganic constitutes, such as metals and chemicals, and organic constituents, such as faeces and food waste [395,396].

Biological treatment of wastewater using microbes is effective and easy to implement at a low cost, particularly when using indigenous microbial communities [397]. A recent meta-analysis of 20 diverse metagenomic wastewater samples across 11 countries found that *Comamonas* spp. was dominant in industrial, biological, and municipal wastewater [398].

In wastewater, *Comamonas* spp. play important roles in the degradation of benzene, ethylbenzene, and toluene [399], dye[332], naphthalene-2-sulphonic acid [400], organics [333], pyridine [334], quinoline and phenol [401], in denitrification [402] and bioremediation of petrochemicals [403]. These capabilities, in addition to high biofilm-forming properties, make *Comamonas* good candidates for biofilm systems wastewater treatment [404,405].

However, a recent study demonstrated that spiking wastewater biofilm reactors with streptomycin and oxytetracycline caused the acquisition of class 1 integron integrases (*intl1*) and *aadA* genes (aminoglycoside resistance) in *Comamonas* strains [406]. Given this recent observation, it is perhaps unsurprising that genes conferring resistance to aminoglycosides were identified in 30 *C. denitrificans* isolates (91%) in our collection with *aadA5* the most prevalent (n=9), and while *intl1* was not identified in this collection, the potential for capture should not be overlooked. On that note, bacteria in wastewater exist as heterogeneous communities, and the presence of *Comamonas* is positively correlated with the presence of *Acinetobacter, Aeromonas* and *Pseudomonas,* suggesting these microbes form a symbiotic relationship [398]. Horizontal gene transfer occurs in proximal bacteria, and all three species are known producers of carbapenemases [363,407]. Therefore, a symbiotic relationship with these organisms

may not only involve the cooperative degradation of pollutants, but also the exchange of AMR determinants.

5.6.2 C. denitrificans carry genomic islands encoding either bla_{GES-5} or bla_{OXA} alleles

Genes encoding carbapenemases confer resistance to carbapenems, penicillins, cephalosporins, and monobactams, thus severely limiting treatment options [391]. While all 39 *Comamonas* isolates described here had a carbapenem-resistant phenotype, only 13 isolates, all *C. denitrificans,* carried a known carbapenemase gene $- bla_{GES-5} - suggesting$ novel AMR mechanisms for the remaining isolates.

The *bla*_{GES-5} gene cassette has previously been detected in the genus of *Citrobacter, Enterobacter, Escherichia, Leclercia,* and *Lelliottia* found in wastewater [363,387,408], in *Citrobacter* and *Klebsiella* in surface water [361,409] and was commonly associated with class 1 and 3 integrons. The gene has also been detected in clinical *P. aeruginosa* strains carried by plasmids and genomic islands [162–164].

Genomic islands are fragments of DNA inserted into the chromosome via horizontal gene transfer and play an important role in the evolution and adaptation of bacteria through the dissemination of ARGs and virulence genes and the formation of catabolic pathways [157]. We were able to resolve four examples in which a *bla*_{GES-5} gene cassette was located on predicted genomic islands, and in one instance the *bla*_{GES-5} gene cassette was identical to that carried by *intl3*-containing Tn7221 structure found on a *P. aeruginosa* plasmid.

However, genomic islands are generally characterised by atypical G+C content and codon usage, the presence of integrons, and are typically inserted at tRNA loci [158]. Of the four putative genomic islands, only one carried an integrase - *IntlPac* - previously reported promoting AMR in *Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans* [160]. Apart from atypical G+C content and codon usage, the remaining three genomic islands did not contain any typical genomic island characteristics and appeared to consist of a collection of gene cassettes located in the same chromosomal loci.

Curiously, we also resolved two predicted genomic islands, one carrying ESBL *bla*_{OXA-10}, commonly found in *Acinetobacter baumannii* [161], and the other a novel *bla*_{OXA-5-like} gene, both located at the same chromosomal loci as the three *bla*_{GES-5} containing genomic islands. Though rare, gene cassettes have been found outside an integron context [410], however the mechanisms behind their insertion has not been determined.

5.6.3 Comamonas spp. carry heavy metal and biocide resistance genes

In addition to residual antibiotics, it has been postulated that the high AMR levels in water matrices are also due to the presence of metals and biocides, which can exert selective pressure for ARGs through co-selection [411].

Though we did not find any apparent correlation between ARG, heavy metal, and biocide carriage, we did identify genes conferring resistance to copper (*cop* genes) in all *C. denitrificans*, and the singular *C. aquatica* isolate in this collection. Eleven *C. denitrificans* isolates (33%) additionally carried mercury resistance genes (*mer* genes), and 29 *C. denitrificans* isolates (89%) carried detergent-resistance gene *qacL*.

Interestingly, a study on the association of metal tolerance with antibiotic susceptibility in *C. acidovorans* found mercury resistant phenotypes were resistant to nitrofuran, beta-lactams, aminoglycosides, glycopeptides and tetracycline, while copper resistant phenotypes were susceptible to all tested antibiotics [412]. However, ARG carriage was not determined.

5.6.4 IncP-1 plasmid present in *C. denitrificans*

Sensing stressful conditions, and adjusting cellular metabolism accordingly, is essential for bacteria to survive in variable environments such as wastewater [413]. IncP-1 plasmids are promiscuous self-transmissible plasmids with broad host ranges and an ability to swiftly acquire and transfer genes involved in the degradation of introduced xenobiotics [414].

IncP-1 plasmids have been previously identified in *Comamonas* spp. isolated from wastewater that were involved in the degradation of dyes [415]. However, only one IncP-1 replicon was identified in *Comamonas* from Australian aquatic environments; a *C. denitrificans* isolate from wastewater.

The IncP-1 replicon was situated on a putative 66,409 bp plasmid containing three inserted regions. One inserted region contained a functional *mer* operon, a well-characterised metal resistance system capable of degrading highly toxic mercury into volatile, non-toxic forms [416]. Another inserted region carried genes involved in oxidative stress response and was flanked by IS1071 elements. IS1071 are known to flank many catabolic genes in diverse Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria [417] and have been shown to transpose at high frequencies in *C. testosteroni* [418]. The last inserted region carried two glutathione S-transferases, known to degrade a wide range of toxic chemicals, including carcinogens, environmental pollutants, and oxidative stress

products [419], and a short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase, involved in the metabolism of aromatic hydrocarbons, including steroids and sugars [417]. Unlike most, if not all, IncP-1 plasmids, the majority of *trb* genes, which form the sex pili, were missing in the *C. denitrificans* IncP-1 plasmid, meaning that in all probability, it is non-conjugative.

Chapter 6. Genomic analysis of *Citrobacter* from Australian wastewater and silver gulls reveals novel sequence types carrying critically important antibiotic resistance genes

6.1 Declaration

This chapter represents a manuscript accepted for publication.

It responds to aim 2, 3 and 4.

Authors

Sopheak Hem^{1,2}, Max L. Cummins^{1,2}, Ethan R. Wyrsch^{1,2}, Barbara Drigo³, Bethany J. Hoye^{4,5}, Kimberly Maute^{4,5}, Martina Sanderson-Smith⁶, Jody Gorman⁶, Daniel R. Bogema⁷, Cheryl Jenkins⁷, Ania T. Deutscher⁷, Jerald Yam⁷, Faisal Hai⁸, Erica Donner⁹, Veronica M. Jarocki^{+1,2}, Steven P. Djordjevic^{+,1,2}

Affiliations

¹Australian Institute for Microbiology and Infection, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, Australia

²The Australian Centre for Genomic Epidemiological Microbiology, University of Technology Sydney, Ultimo, Australia

³UniSA STEM, University of South Australia, Adelaide, SA, Australia

⁴School of Earth, Atmospheric and Life Sciences, University of Wollongong NSW Australia ⁵Environmental Futures Research Centre, University of Wollongong NSW Australia

⁶School of Chemistry and Molecular Bioscience and Molecular Horizons, University of Wollongong, NSW, Australia

⁷Elizabeth Macarthur Agricultural Institute, NSW Department of Primary Industries, Menangle NSW, Australia

⁸School of Civil, Mining, Environmental and Architectural Engineering, University of Wollongong, NSW Australia

⁹Cooperative Research Centre for Solving Antimicrobial resistance in Agribusiness, Food, and Environments (CRC SAAFE), Adelaide, South Australia, Australia

Published in

Science of the Total Environment Journal, 16 November 2023, DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.168608.

Author contributions

SH: writing the original draft, formal analysis, investigation, writing – review and editing. MLC: writing the original draft, formal analysis, investigation, writing – review and editing; ERW: Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Conceptualisation, Supervision, Writing – review & editing; BD: Investigation, Conceptualization, Validation, Formal analysis, Data Curation, Writing – Review & Editing; KM: Investigation, Resources; BJH: Resources, Methodology; MSS:

Resources, Methodology, JG: Investigation, Resources; DRB: Resources, Methodology ;CJ: Investigation, Resources; ATD: Investigation, Resources, JY: Investigation, Resources, FH: Investigation, Resources– review and editing; ED: Conceptualisation, Funding acquisition, Supervision, Writing – Review & Editing; VMJ: Writing – original draft, Formal analysis, Investigation, Supervision, Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing the final draft; SPD: Conceptualisation, Resources, Supervision, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Writing – review & editing the final draft.

Ethical approval

The water samples used in our study were approved by the relevant authority for data publication.

Authors signatures

Sopheak Hem:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Max L. Cummins:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Ethan R. Wyrsch:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Barbara Drigo:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Bethany J. Hoye:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Kimberly Maute:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.

Martina Sanderson-Smith: Signature reind to publication.

Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.
Jody Gorman:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Daniel R. Bogema:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Cheryl Jenkins:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Ania T. Deutscher:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Jerald Yam:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Faisal Hai:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Erica Donner:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Veronica M. Jarocki:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	
Steven P. Djordjevic:	Production Note: Signature removed prior to publication.	

6.2 Abstract

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a major public health concern, and environmental bacteria have been recognized as important reservoirs of antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs). *Citrobacter*, a common environmental bacterium and opportunistic pathogen in humans and other animals, has been largely understudied in terms of its diversity and AMR potential. Whole-genome sequencing on 77 *Citrobacter* isolates obtained from Australian silver gull (*Chroicocephalus novaehollandiae*) and influent wastewater samples was performed here, revealing a diverse *Citrobacter* population, with seven different species and 33 sequence types, 17 of which were novel. From silver gulls we isolated a broader range of species with little to no mobilised ARG carriage. Wastewater isolates carried a heavy burden of ARGs (up to 21 ARGs, conferring resistance to nine classes of antibiotics), with several novel multidrug-resistant lineages identified, including *C. braakii* ST218 novel, which carried ARGs conferring resistance to eight to nine classes of antibiotics, and *C. freundii* ST23 novel, which carried two carbapenemase genes, bla_{IMP-4} in class 1 integron structure, and bla_{KPC-2} .

Additionally, we identified an MDR *C. portucalensis* isolate carrying *bla*_{NDM-1}, *bla*_{SHV-12}, and *mcr*-9. We identified IncC, IncM2, and IncP6 plasmids as the likely vectors for many of the critically important mobilised ARGs. Phylogenetic analyses were performed to assess any epidemiological linkages between isolation sources, demonstrating low relatedness across sources beyond the ST level. However, these analyses did reveal some closer relationships between strains from disparate wastewater sources despite their collection some 13,000 kilometres apart. These findings support the need for future surveillance of *Citrobacter* populations in wastewater and wildlife populations to monitor for potential opportunistic human pathogens.

6.3 Background

Antimicrobial resistance is an urgent and global health threat, the management of which requires an understanding of the mechanisms of the evolution and dissemination of mobile. antimicrobial resistance genes and antimicrobial resistant bacteria. While most studies reporting on antimicrobial resistance (AMR) come from clinical settings, the environment is an important reservoir of AMR bacteria, with a 2017 United Nations (UN) report highlighting AMR as an "emerging issue of environmental concern" [420]. Nevertheless, the burden of AMR remains poorly understood in the environment, and current surveillance systems often neglect environmental sampling [421,422]. Environmental bacteria, the most prevalent but least studied bacteria, serve as sources of ARGs that can become incorporated into human and animal opportunistic pathogens via mobile genetic elements (MGEs), such as plasmids[423,424].

Citrobacter spp. are ubiquitous in soil, food, water bodies and are part of the human and animal commensal intestinal microbiota [425]. However, some *Citrobacter* spp., such as *Citrobacter freundii*, *Citrobacter koseri and Citrobacter braakii*, are known opportunistic human pathogens responsible for a plethora of diseases. *C. freundii* infections are diverse in their manifestations and include diarrhoeal disease but also extraintestinal infections of the urinary and respiratory tracts, wounds, and blood [426]. *C. braakii* has been known to cause peritonitis and foodborne diseases [425,427–429], and *C. koseri* causes meningitis and brain abscess in neonates and immunocompromised individuals [430]. Invasive *Citrobacter* infections are often fatal with mortality rates estimated to be between 33% and 48% [431–435]. In infants, meningitis caused by *Citrobacter* has a mortality rate of approximately 30% and of those who survive, more than 80% sustain various degrees of cognitive deficits [436].

Pathogenic *Citrobacter* spp. present treatment challenges as they are generally resistant to cephalothin and cefazolin (1st generation cephalosporins), most penicillins, and β -lactamase inhibitor/ β -lactam combinations due to their carriage of the chromosomal inducible β -lactamase AmpC [88,89] – encoded by *bla*_{CMY}. AmpC type β -lactamases may also be carried on plasmids and confer additional resistance to cefoxitin or cefotetan, and oxyimino-cephalosporins (Jacoby, 2009b; Tan et al., 2009). At least two plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases thought to originate from *C. freundii* (*bla*_{LAT-1} and *bla*_{CFE-1}) [437] have now been captured by multiple plasmid lineages and disseminated into diverse species of *Enterobacteriaceae* [438]. Like extended-spectrum β -lactamases (ESBLs), AmpC β -lactamases mediate resistance to 3rd generation cephalosporins and β -lactamases and ESBLs pose a serious global health burden [439,440].

Citrobacter species have also been increasingly emerging as important carriers and disseminators of carbapenemases. Carbapenems are considered drugs of "last resort", thus the global rise of carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacterales* (CRE) in recent decades has become an urgent and global health threat. Metallo- β -lactamases (MBLs), encoded by genes such as *bla*_{IMP} and *bla*_{NDM}, confer resistance to carbapenems and hydrolyse almost all β -lactams, rendering treatment of pathogens carrying MBLs challenging. A study on 512 genomes of CRE isolates from 61 German hospitals across three years found that *Citrobacter* spp. were increasingly detected and that their carriage of carbapenemase genes (*bla*_{KPC}, *bla*_{OXA-48}, *bla*_{VIM} and *bla*_{NDM}) were comparable to *K*. *pneumoniae* isolates from the same study. These genes were largely carried by IncN and IncL/M plasmids [90]. Additionally, several multidrug resistant (MDR) strains of a recently identified species, *Citrobacter portucalensis*, have been reported globally since it was first differentiated from *C. freundii* in 2017. One clinical isolate from China was reported carrying 29 antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) including *bla*_{CMY-35}, *bla*_{KPC-2} and *bla*_{NDM-1} [441].

Similarly, environmental populations of *Citrobacter* may pose an AMR threat. Indeed, CRE carrying AMR plasmids have already been isolated from environmental samples including natural waterbodies [442], wildlife and synanthropic species [443], and wastewater [444]. Wastewater in particular has been flagged as a hotspot for AMR evolution given the high bacterial load of these substrates, their contamination with sublethal antibiotic concentrations derived from anthropogenic sources [445] and their exposure to antimicrobials used in sanitation processes [446]. Wildlife that frequents wastewater holding lagoons, particularly wild bird species, may contribute to the dissemination of clinically important ARGs[447,448]. In Australia, silver gulls (*Chroicocephalus novaehollandiae*) have been reported harbouring CRE and ESBLproducing *Enterobacterales*, particularly *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* spp. [449–457].

The population structure of *Citrobacter* in silver gulls and in Australian wastewater is currently unknown. To begin addressing these knowledge gaps, we undertook whole genome sequencing (WGS) of 77 isolates of environmental *Citrobacter spp.* isolated from Australian wastewater (n=60) and silver gulls (n=17). Here, we report on their phylogenetic structure, carriage of virulence genes, AMR genes and MGEs. We also present a phylogenetic analysis of these genomes and explore their relatedness to a collection of 970 additional *Citrobacter* genomes sourced from public databases.

6.4 Methods

6.4.1 Bacterial isolation and DNA extraction

Bacterial isolates used in this study are detailed in Appendix 18. Of the 77 *Citrobacter* spp. isolates sequenced in this study, 60 were obtained from wastewater (55 from South Australia (SA) and 5 from New South Wales (NSW)), with the remainder of isolates being sourced from silver gulls (n=17) from NSW. Influent wastewater samples from SA were collected as previously described [458]. From NSW, raw wastewater (influent) samples were collected from two WWTP in the South Coast. Because indiscriminate disposal of antibiotics can lead to significant level of antibiotics in landfill leachate, landfill leachate samples were also collected from one NSW site as a

reference. Briefly, over a one-year period from July 2018 to July 2019, a total of 56 water samples from SA and 8 water samples from NSW were collected monthly in triplicate. This corresponded to the isolation of a total of 665 bacteria from SA and 859 bacteria from NSW, respectively. Samples were collected in sterile 10 L collection tanks and processed within 2-3 hrs of collection. 500μ L from 2-3 consecutive 10-fold serial dilutions were plated in triplicates on Oxoid *Brilliance* TM CRE Agar plates [Carbapenem Resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*, Thermo Fisher Scientific]. Cultures were incubated at 25°C, 37°C and 44°C. Incubation times of under 24 hrs were used to avoid biases associated with the inactivation of carbapenem in the culture medium by CRE that produce extracellular carbapenem degrading β -lactamases. Using pre-sterilized toothpicks, single colonies growing on CRE Agar were plated on Plate Counting Agar [PCA; Thermo Fisher Scientific]. PCA cultures were incubated at 37°C for ~18-24 hrs.

Silver gull chicks (1-6 weeks post hatching) were sampled on Big Island, Five Islands Nature Reserve, in the Illawarra region of NSW during the breeding seasons of 2018 and 2019. A cloacal swab was collected using a rayon-tipped swab subsequently stored in amies [Copan, Italy]. Samples were stored on ice while in the field (24-72 hrs) prior to culture. Swabs were placed in 1 ml Luria-Bertani (LB) broth, vortexed for 30 s, then 10 µl was streaked onto MacConkey agar [Edwards, Australia) and incubated overnight at 37°C. In 2018, individual colonies were selected from these initial cultures and recultured overnight at 37°C on Brilliant Green agar (Edwards, Australia) before being stored in 1 ml of storage medium (Milli-Q water containing 1% casamino acids and 10% glycerol and autoclaved) at -80°C. Isolates were cultured for DNA extraction by suspending 10 µl of the storage solution in LB and incubating at 37°C overnight. In 2019, all growth from the initial MacConkey agar plate was collected and stored at -80°C in 1 ml of storage medium. Subsequently, 10⁻⁹ dilutions of these stored samples were prepared in sterile PBS and 150 ml was used to grow bacterial lawns on MacConkey agar. Individual colonies from these lawns were then recultured on Brilliant Green agar [Edwards, Australia] from which they were recultured overnight at 37°C in LB for identification and DNA extraction.

Bacteria isolated from cultures were identified by MALDI-TOF MS and preserved in glycerol stocks (40% v/v) at -80°C. MALDI-TOF MS was performed in linear positive mode under MALDI Biotyper 3.0 Real-time Classification [v3.1, Bruker Daltonics]. Genomic DNA was extracted using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit [Qiagen] for wastewater and using a Qubit and dsDNA HS Assay kit [Thermo Fisher Scientific] for silver gull isolates, according to manufacturer's instructions. The purity of isolated DNA was determined using Nanodrop 1000 spectrophotometer [Thermo Fisher Scientific] while its concentration determined. Purified DNA extracts were stored at -20°C.

6.4.2 Whole-genome sequencing, read filtering and genomic assembly

Libraries were prepared for whole-genome sequencing using the Hackflex protocol [459], a modified version of the Illumina DNA Prep. Sequencing was performed on an Illumina Nextseq500 instrument according to the manufacturer's instructions [213] before raw data demultiplexed using Basespace (https://basespace.illumina.com). Reads were filtered using fastp [460] v0.20.1 (default settings) and genomes assembled using Shovill v1.0.4. (https://github.com/tseemann/shovill) (parameters: "--minlen 200") via a snakemake workflow available at https://github.com/maxlcummins/pipelord. All downstream genomic analysis steps utilised filtered reads or the resulting assemblies from Shovill. Sequences (in the form of unfiltered reads) have been deposited on GenBank under bioproject number PRJNA100606.

6.4.3 Quality control

Genome lengths within the ranges observed for members of the genus *Citrobacter* in a snapshot of NCBI's RefSeq database (accessed March 2022) (3,095,000 to 6,770,000 bp) were included for further analysis where they assembled to 1000 or fewer scaffolds and have an N50 of \geq 15,000, as determined by analysis with assembly-stats v1.0.1 (https://github.com/sanger-pathogens/assembly-stats). Genomes were also analysed using CheckM [215] to determine their level of completeness and contamination. Genomes exhibiting a 10% or greater contamination score were excluded as were those with an under 90% completion score. Strains were also typed using mlst (https://github.com/tseemann/mlst) using scheme autodetection and only strains which contained *Citrobacter* MLST alleles [216] were included for further analysis. Data pertaining to these metrics for samples under investigation are available in Appendix 18.

6.4.4 Species identification

Similar to wet-lab methods, species classification of *Citrobacter* using genomic data is often inaccurate and this is reflected in the poor correlation between phylogeny of publicly available *Citrobacter* genomes and their associated species identities, especially for species other than *C. freundii*. To enable accurate species classification of our *Citrobacter* genomes we downloaded an 1,171 additional *Citrobacter* genomes from RefSeq, subjected them to the quality control (970 passed the quality control procedures described above) and performed a mash-based phylogenetic analysis using BacSort (https://github.com/rrwick/Bacsort). Species identities were then curated in accordance

with their location in the resulting phylogeny and BacSort was then used to generate species identities for genomes from the study collection and is available as Appendix 21.

6.4.5 Phylogenetic trees and generation of pairwise SNP distances

Due to the phylogenetic diversity of the cohort under investigation, all phylogenetic trees generated using mashtree utilised v1.2.0 [205] with 100 bootstrap replicates. Trees were visualised and annotated using custom R scripts available at https://github.com/maxlcummins/*Citrobacter* utilizing R packages ggtree v1.16.6 [222], dplyr v0.8.3 [223], magrittr v1.5 [224], ggplot2 v3.2.1 [225], readr v1.3.1 [226], reshape2 v1.4.3 [227], tidytree v0.2.6 [228], and ggimage v0.2.8 http://cran.nexr.com/ web/packages/ggimage/vignettes/ggimage.html.

Pairwise SNP distances between strains were determined using Split Kmer Analysis v1.0 [200] using "ska fastq" (default settings) and "ska distance" (parameters: s 100 -i 0.95). Genomes were clustered into closely related groups when their SNP distances differed by 100 or fewer SNPs and genomes shared 95% of split kmers.

6.4.6 Genotypic characterisation

Carriage of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) and AMR-associated point mutations was determined using Abritamr v1.0.11 (https://github.com/MDU-PHL/abritamr). Carriage of other genes associated with virulence, insertion sequences (IS) and plasmids was determined using abricate (https://github.com/tseemann/abricate) with nucleotide databases from virulence factor database [198], ISFinder [461] (is.biotoul.fr) and PlasmidFinder [462], respectively. Plasmid comparisons were performed using the BLAST Ring Image Generator (BRIG) [378] (http://brig.sourceforge.net/). All databases utilised available are at https://github.com/maxlcummins/Citrobacter/ dbs/abricate. Genes detected by abricate were required to have minimum nucleotide identity and coverage of 90%.

Determination of plasmid multilocus sequence types (pMLST) was performed using pMLST (pubmlst.org/) [240] with output processed using custom scripts available at https://github.com/maxlcummins/pipelord/blob/main/scripts/combine_ IncF_RST.py (IncF plasmids) and https://github.com/maxlcummins/pipelord/blob/main/ scripts/combine_pMLST.py (other plasmid types) as part of the aforementioned snakemake pipeline Pipelord.

For our purposes we define: i) AMR as carrying one or more genes or SNPs associated with resistance to one or more classes of antibiotic; ii) MDR as carrying genes or SNPs associated with resistance to three or more classes of antibiotic; iii) critically

important antimicrobial (CIA) resistance as carriage of genes conferring resistance to the highest priority CIAs [463].

6.5 Results

6.5.1 Identification of *Citrobacter* spp.

Phylogenomic analysis generated using BacSort revealed Australian wastewater and silver gulls host diverse *Citrobacter* species (Table 6). Among the 77 sequenced isolates seven species were identified, two of which, *C. freundii* and *C. braakii*, were present in both gull and wastewater samples (Figure 23). We identified 33 *Citrobacter* sequence types (STs) among which 16/33 (48.5%) were previously known and the remaining 17/33 (51.5%) were novel (either comprising previously unreported alleles or allelic combinations). These novel STs were submitted to <u>pubmlst.org</u> and assigned STs (Appendix 19). A total of 12 STs were identified among the 17 gull sourced isolates, of which five were novel, whilst among the 60 wastewater isolates 21 STs were identified, of which 12 were novel. *C. braakii* from wastewater in SA were predominantly identified as ST110 (66.7%, n=14/21) while *C. freundii* ST150 was found to be the most common ST of this species (24.3%, n=9/32). Among wastewater isolates from NSW, the novel ST1105 was the most prevalent ST comprising 80% (n = 4/5) of such strains. Novel STs was found in all the seven species identified in our study collection.



Figure 23: A phylogeny of 96 Citrobacter isolates generated using mashtree. The tree, which is midpoint rooted, comprises 77 Australian environmental Citrobacter genomes representative type strain genomes from and 19 sourced RefSea (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genome/browse#!/prokaryotes/Citrobacter). Clades comprised of Citrobacter species from the internal study are labelled and coloured species-wise, with the origin of a given genome indicated on the tip point. Species which were not identified within the gull or wastewater sourced Citrobacter spp. are shown in black font with their species identities and strain names shown as tip labels.

Table 6: *Citrobacter* spp. summary for the Australian wastewater and silver gull collection (n=77).

Species	Silver gull	Wastewater (SA)	Wastewater (NSW)	Total
	(n=17)	(n=55)	(n=5)	(n=77)
C. amalonaticus	1 (5.9%)	-	-	1 (1.3%)
C. braakii	2 (11.8%)	19 (34.5%)	-	21 (27.3%)
C. freundii	2 (11.8%)	30 (54.5%)	5 (100%)	37 (48.1%)
C. gillenii	2 (11.8%)	-	-	2 (2.6%)
C. pasteurii	1 (5.9%)	-	-	1 (1.3%)
C. portucalensis	-	6 (10.9%)	-	6 (7.8%)
C. youngae	9 (52.9%)	-	-	9 (11.7%)

6.5.2 Resistance traits, ARG and MGE carriage

In the Australian *Citrobacter* spp., the most common plasmid replicon was IncFII (n = 58/77), followed by IncFI (n = 35/77), IncX5 (n = 17/77), IncP6 (n = 4/77), IncM2 (n = 4/77) and IncY3 (n = 3/77) (Figure 24). Replicon typing of the F plasmids revealed that various combinations of the FIIY_3 and FIB_70 alleles were most prominent in both *C. freundii* and *C. braakii*, with *C. braakii* carrying Y3:A-:B- (n = 3/77) and F-:A-:B70 (n = 9/77) subtype plasmids, while *C. freundii* carried Y3:A-:B70 (n = 5/77), Y3:A-:B- (n = 2/77), Y3:A10:B70 (n = 1/77) and a single K14:A-:B- plasmids. A wide variety of insertion sequences were identified across the *Citrobacter* spp., totalling 92 different elements. IS26, a key mobilisation element involved in the construction and transfer of complex AMR regions, was found in 34 isolates, including *C. braakii* (n=15), *C. freundii* (n=14) and *C. portucalensis* (n=5) (Figure 24). Similarly, IS*Ecp1* was identified in 4 isolates. The class 1 integron integrase *intl1* (n = 18/77) was found in *C. braakii* (n = 9/77), *C. freundii* (n = 8/77) and *C. portucalensis* (n=1). A single *C. freundii* isolate from wastewater carried the class 2 integrase gene *intl2* (Figure 24). All isolates encoding *intl1* in our study were

from wastewater, and it was observed that wastewater isolates were rich in ARGs irrespective of their species (again, note CRE selective media were used for wastewater isolates, while non-selective media were used for silver gull isolates).

In total, 79 ARGs were identified throughout the collection conferring resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (Figure 24), with critically important antibiotic (CIA) resistance genes observed in 74/77 (96%) isolates and 26/77 (34%) isolates were MDR. On average, isolates sourced from Silver gulls carried genotypic resistance to one class of antibiotic, most commonly extended-spectrum β -lactams (13/17; 76%). By contrast, isolates sourced from wastewater carried ARGs conferring resistance to an average of three classes of antibiotics (most commonly extended spectrum β -lactams [100%], aminoglycosides [23/60; 38%] and sulphonamides [23/60; 38%]). Note that significance tests were not performed due to strain selection methodology between collections involving antibiotics. One C. portucalensis isolate (ST264; ERQ0172) from SA wastewater, carried ARGs conferring resistance to nine classes of antibiotics (both 21 ARGs in total; Figure 24). The ST264 C. portucalensis isolate carried more than 3-fold more ARGs than the other five *C. portucalensis* isolates (ST1107, ST1096 and ST166) in this collection (21 vs average 6). Additionally, three ST1110 C. braakii isolates (ERQ672, ERQ0677, ERQ0674) carried genotypic resistance to eight classes of antibiotics (both 20 ARGs in total; Figure 24), suggesting that ST1110 may constitute a novel MDR lineage identified in this study.

The overall high rate of genotypic extended-spectrum β -lactam resistance in both Silver gull and wastewater isolates was attributed to the presence of bla_{CMY} genes in 96% of the collection. We identified 16 bla_{CMY} variants and these appeared to be species associated. For example, $bla_{CMY-101}$ was only found in *C. braakii* (17/21; 81%), bla_{CMY-48} only in *C. freundii* (18/37; 49%) and $bla_{CMY-157}$ only in *C. youngae* (n=9; 100%). *Citrobacter* spp. are known to carry chromosomal bla_{CMY} genes and the association different bla_{CMY} alleles with different *Citrobacter* spp. was a notable observation. However, we noted that the aforementioned three novel ST1110 *C. braakii* isolates from SA carried two bla_{CMY} genes – bla_{CMY-83} and bla_{CMY-2} . The former was found to be chromosomal, but the latter was located on identical 53,366 bp contigs in each isolate, adjacent to IS*Ecp1* and proximal to a plasmid transfer region (*tra* genes). Furthermore, the contigs had ≥ 99.98% identity and 99% coverage to 96 IncC plasmid sequences (average length 174308 bp) from a range of *Enterobacterales* deposited to NCBI (most commonly *Salmonella enterica subsp.* [n=30], and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* [n=25]). These *C. braakii* isolates were three of four isolates identified as carrying IncC plasmid replicons in this collection

(Figure 24). Additionally, all three members of this sequence type carried multiple copies of bla_{CMY} , suggesting they may carry both chromosomal and plasmid-mediated AmpC β -lactamases. A single *C. freundii* ST481 from wastewater was also observed to carry both a chromosomal and an IS*Ecp1*-associated bla_{CMY} , although a contig break in the beta-lactamase sequence prevented both allele and context identification.

Other CIA resistance genes identified in this collection were three carbapenemases (bla_{IMP-4} , bla_{NDM-1} and bla_{KPC-2}), one ESBL gene (bla_{SHV-12}), and one colistin resistance gene (*mcr-9*), all of which were identified in isolates from wastewater. The bla_{IMP-4} and bla_{KPC-2} genes were identified in four novel ST1105 *C. freundii* isolates (DB_3_C11, DB_3_D1, DB_3_D2 and DB_5_F12) sourced from NSW wastewater, all four of which carried *intl1*. The singular instances of bla_{NDM-1} and bla_{SHV-12} were identified in the previously mentioned highly resistant ST264 *C. portucalensis* isolate (ERQ0172), as was *mcr-9*. The *mcr-9* gene was also identified in *C. freundii* isolate (DB_3_F10; ST indeterminable due to missing *arcA* allele) sourced from NSW wastewater. A section on a preliminary investigation into the genetic context of these CIA resistance genes is provided below.



Figure 24: A phylogeny of the 77 genomes under investigation, generated using mashtree. The tree is midpoint-rooted, tip labels are coloured based on the species identity and the tip points are coloured based on the source from which the sample originates. The panel below shows carriage of antibiotic resistance genes and mobile

genetic elements. Coloured boxes shown beside gene names indicate the antimicrobial resistance class (or combination thereof) or mobile genetic element (MGE) type. CRG – Carbapenemase resistance gene, * - Carriage of genes conferring resistance to critically important antimicrobials (see methods), ** - Carriage of genes conferring resistance to three or more classes of antibiotics (see methods), ** - Count of antibiotic resistance genes (also includes AMR-associated SNPs), ^ - *intl1/intl2* included, though not strictly MGEs.6.5.3 Preliminary analysis of CIA resistance gene context in *Citrobacter spp*.

The bla_{IMP-4} gene, carried by four novel ST23 *C. freundii* wastewater isolates, was situated within a class 1 integron structure: $\Delta IS26$ -*intl1-bla*_{IMP-4} (carbapenem resistance)-*qacG2* (detergent resistance)-*acc*(6')-*lb4* (gentamicin resistance)-*catB3* (chloramphenicol resistance)-*sul1* (sulfonamide resistance). The contigs carrying this class 1 integron exhibited high quality alignments to the *bla*_{IMP-4}-encoding IncM2 plasmid pEl1573 (NC_019368.1) first described in a clinical *Enterobacter cloacae* from an Australian hospital in 2012 [464].

The four *bla*_{IMP-4} carrying *C. freundii* were the only isolates in this collection to carry IncM2 plasmid replicons. Plasmid alignments demonstrated that a pEI1573-like plasmid is present in these C. freundii isolates and is likely the genetic context for the bla_{IMP-4} carrying class 1 integron structure as well as many of the other mobilised ARGs identified in these isolates (Figure 25A). Fourteen other plasmid sequences from GenBank, predominantly (13/14) from Australian clinical and environmental samples (C. freundii = 2, Enterobacter spp. = 5, Klebsiella spp. = 4, and one each from Serratia marcescens, Leclercia adecarboxylata and E. coli) were similarly identified as being highly related to pE11573 (> 90% coverage and 100% identity). Details on isolation and AMR carriage of these plasmids is presented in Supplemental Table 3. The same four novel ST23 C. freundii isolates also carried bla_{KPC-2}. The contigs containing this carbapenemase gene had the highest match score (>99% coverage at >99.99% identity) to an IncP6 plasmid pKPC2 045523 (CP032895.1) from Enterobacter kobei sourced from a human sample in China, 2017. Twenty-four highly similar plasmid sequences (>93% coverage, >99.8% identity) to pKPC2 045523 were identified, including those originating from E. coli (n=3), E. cloacae (n=4), C. freundii (n=3), and Klebsiella spp. (n=11) [Appendix 20]. In addition to carrying IncM2 plasmid replicons, the four C. freundii in question were also the only isolates in this collection to carry IncP6 replicons and plasmid alignments indicate the presence of a plasmid similar to pKPC 045523 (Figure 25B).

This data suggests the capture and simultaneous stable acquisition of these two important AMR-encoding plasmids by these related *C. freundii* isolates has occurred and that IncM2 plasmids are distributed widely in *Enterobacteriaceae* isolates from wastewater.



Figure 25: Putative AMR plasmids present in four ST1105 C. freundii isolates from NSW wastewater. A) Whole genome sequence alignments to reference E. cloacae IncM plasmid NC_019368.1 (pEI1573) encoding blaIMP-4. B) Whole genome sequence alignments to reference E. kobei IncP6 plasmid CP032895.1 (pKPC_045523) encoding blaKPC-2. Both A) and B) demonstrate high nucleotide sequence homology across all four ST1105 isolates to the two reference plasmids.

It was not possible to precisely ascertain the genetic context of the CIA resistance genes carried by the MDR isolate *C. portucalensis* ERQ0172 from SA wastewater as the contigs harbouring them were small (2845 bp for *bla*_{NDM-1}, 4679 bp for *bla*_{SHV-12}, and 2625 bp for *mcr-9*). Nevertheless, investigations into the context of *bla*_{NDM-1} did allow for the identification of similar structures (100% BLASTn coverage and identity) observed as chromosomal insertions in several *P. aeruginosa* sequences, including strain JUNP13 (LC635759.1) from a clinical sample in Nepal, 2021; strain PSE6684 (CP053917.1) from a human urine sample in Korea, 2019 and strain PA790 (CP075176.1) from a human urine sample in India, 2019.

The other *mcr*-9 gene, identified in a novel ST202 *C. freundii* isolate, was located on a 26,144 bp contig (contig00075) and found to be associated with IS903B. The *mcr*-9-carrying contig also contained arsenic and copper resistance genes and most of the contig (24,016 bp) represented a conserved region identified in several *Enterobacteriaceae* chromosomes as well as in IncHI2 plasmids (selection presented in Figure 26A). Notably, our comparative analysis suggests that the conserved region is often adjacent to additional ARGs and/or metal resistance genes. The novel ST202 *C. freundii* isolate does not carry an IncHI2 plasmid replicon, suggesting a chromosomal *mcr-9* locale; however, the other *mcr-9*-carrying *C. portucalensis* isolate was the only isolate to carry an IncHI2 plasmid replicon (IncHI2:ST1) in this collection and plasmid alignments to the three IncHI2 plasmid examples provided in Figure 26 (also all IncHI2:ST1), indicated the presence of much of the same gene cargo (Figure 26B). Future long-read sequencing is needed to confirm these initial observations.



Figure 26: Genetic context of *mcr-9*. A) Comparison of contig carrying *mcr-9* in *C*. *freundeii* wastewater isolate to a selection of *Enterobacteriaceae* chromosomes and IncHI2:ST1 plasmids. Conserved region highlighted in yellow. B) Plasmid alignments to *mcr-9*-carrying *K. pneumoniae* IncHI2:ST1 plasmid (pCNR48), including *C. portucalensis* wastewater isolate from this study.

6.5.4 Putative virulence traits

Using the virulence factor database (VFDB), we identified a total of 12 virulenceassociated genes (VAGs) among the 77 isolates under investigation (Appendix 22) and noted some species exclusivity (Appendix 22). For example, four *C. freundii* strains ST150 from SA wastewater carried *astA*. We noted only *C. braakii* carried the most VAGs of any species under study, including Vi polysaccharide encoding operon *vex*ABCDE, found in 16/21 isolates (21%); *tivE* (21%, n=16) and *tivD* (19%, n=15); and *mekA* and *mrkB* (genes for degradation of short chain alkyl methyl ketones in *Pseudomonas veronii* MEK700) (6%, n=5 for both).

6.5.5 Investigation of potential One Health linkages

We analysed 970 publicly available *Citrobacter* spp. genomes to explore if STs we identified in our environmental isolates were restricted regarding their source or geographical associations. These additional *Citrobacter* genomes were collected across

28 countries over 37 years and were predominantly of human origin (446/970) but also included samples from a breadth of other hosts and environments including wild and domesticated animals, wastewater and more (Appendix 21 and Appendix 18).

Among the publicly available genomes, the most closely related to the Silver gull isolates were *C. freundii* ST95. While source agnostic phylogenetic distances among *C. freundii* ST95 varied greatly (range 13-1877 SNPs) the minimum pairwise SNP distance between Silver gull-sourced *C. freundii* ST95 and ST95 isolates from any other source was 474 SNPs (GCF_013425705, human, 2016). Similarly, we performed pairwise SNP analysis on the wastewater genomes from the study collection and their closest relatives from the RefSeq collection. Among these genomes the most closely related cross-source pairs were those of *C. freundii* ST110 (range 161-1,563 SNPs) (Figure 27), including a strain from wastewater in the United Kingdom which showed between 161 and 200 SNPs with five strains collected from South Australian wastewater (while supplementary SNP analysis using a reference-based approach identified 148-208 SNPs between these strains), despite these strains being collected approximately 13,000km apart.

Overall, internal isolates were not found to cluster with isolates from public databases below the defined threshold of 100 SNPs. Therefore, while strains relatively closely related to both Silver gull and wastewater sourced *Citrobacter* spp. were identified, evidence indicates that these transmissions are unlikely to have occurred over epidemiologically relevant timelines.



Figure 27: Pairwise phylogenetic distances between A) Silver gull-sourced strains, and B) wastewater-sourced strains, and members of the same sequence type. Each point indicates a pair of strains which is coloured by the combination of their source attributions, with the y coordinates indicating the pairwise SNP distance between these strains and the position on the x-axis indicating the ST to which the pair belongs. Note that data points are jittered (spread slightly across the x-axis within each sequence type) to prevent overplotting of data. Note also that only pairs containing at least one strain from the study collection were included.

6.6 Discussion

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a major public health concern, and environmental Gram-negative bacteria have been recognised as important reservoirs of clinically important antibiotic resistance genes [10,420,466]. *Citrobacter* is a common environmental bacterium and an opportunistic pathogen in humans and other animals, but little is known about the diversity and AMR potential of this genus in environmental isolates. In this study, we performed WGS on 77 *Citrobacter* isolates obtained from wastewater samples and Australian silver gull (which are known to frequent wastewater holding lagoons) and made several key observations: i) our phylogenetic analyses revealed a diverse *Citrobacter* population, with seven different species and 33 STs, 16 (48%) of which were novel; ii) the most common species in wastewater were *C. freundii* and *C. braakii*, while in Silver gulls, the most common species was *C. youngae*; iii)

wastewater isolates carried a heavy burden of ARGs; iv) several novel MDR lineages, including *C. braakii* novel ST218 which carried ARGs conferring resistance to eight to nine classes of antibiotics, and *C. freundii* novel ST23, which carried two carbapenemase genes, *bla*_{IMP-4} and *bla*_{KPC-2} were identified v) a MDR *C. porticalensis* isolate carrying *bla*_{NDM-1}, *bla*_{SHV-12} and *mcr-9* was identified and; vi) IncC, IncM2 and IncP6 are the likely vectors for most of the critically important mobilised ARGs. Our findings provide valuable insights into the diversity and AMR potential of *Citrobacter* in environmental samples.

Synanthropic birds, such as gulls, have been shown to carry AMR bacteria, with WGS revealing transmission chains linking humans, animals, and the environment (Wang et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2018; Dolejska and Literak, 2019; Cummins et al., 2020; Nesporova et al., 2020; Tarabai et al., 2021b; Wyrsch et al., 2022). Gulls, especially species feeding from anthropogenic sources, including wastewater, are regularly reported carrying ARGs of clinical importance for human and livestock [470-472]. Therefore, comparing Citrobacter isolated from wastewater and gull samples can provide valuable information on the transmission of resistant bacteria between different environmental compartments and potential risks to public health. Previous gull studies have mainly identified MDR *E. coli* isolates [457,473]. However, in the vast majority of these earlier studies, MDR isolates were cultured from cloacal swabs on antibiotic selective media. Here, our Citrobacter isolates from Silver gulls were recovered on nonselective media. We found that *Citrobacter* isolates from Silver gulls typically carried resistance due to chromosomal carriage of *bla*_{CMY} genes. While we found little evidence of other mobile resistance genes among these isolates, greater sampling of may shed light on the propensity of Silver gulls to carry MDR Citrobacter spp or those carrying genes conferring resistance to CIAs.

We did not detect any close relationships (≤100 SNPs) between Silver gull isolates and wastewater isolates, nor with isolates from either of these collections and the 970 *Citrobacter* genomes downloaded from public databases. While our study provides some insight into the relative low frequency of direct and indirect transmissions between gulls and wastewater and other sources, deep sampling of these microbial communities is required to elucidate any potential linkages between them. We did, however, identify strains of *C. freundii* collected from wastewater in the United Kingdom and in South Australia (from the present study) which shared a ST (ST110) differed by as few as 161 SNPs. This is unlikely to indicate a transmission pathway linking these two wastewater sources, however, and more likely to indicate the co-presence of this

bacterial lineage in human populations from which waste materials enter both such wastewater infrastructure. Note that while we were relatively conservative in our SNP distance thresholds, more research is needed to increase the understanding of SNP transmission thresholds in a One Health context, as most thresholds are designed to detect direct transmission events in epidemiologically relevant timelines (i.e. days or weeks).

While *Citrobacter* from Silver gulls had little to no mobilised ARG carriage, from wastewater we isolated three Citrobacter species - C. braakii, C. freundii and C. portucalensis - with considerable ARG carriage linked to specific plasmids. The former two species were also identified in Silver gulls, but with notably fewer ARGs. Of particular interest, in wastewater we identified a novel C. freundii MDR lineage, novel ST23, that carried two different classes of carbapenemase genes, *bla*_{IMP-4} (class B) and *bla*_{KPC-2} (class A). The *bla*_{IMP-4} gene was situated within a class 1 integron structure (ΔIS26-*int*11*bla*_{IMP-4}-*qacG2-aacA4-catB3-sul1*). Plasmid replicon screening and alignments identified an IncM2 plasmid similar to pEI1573 as the likely vector for this integron. In Australia, *bla*_{IMP-4} was first detected in Melbourne and Sydney in 2002 and has remained the most reported variant of *bla*_{IMP} [474–477]. Consistent with our observation, *bla*_{IMP-4} is most commonly present in a four-gene cassette integron array (In809): bla_{IMP-4}-gacG-aacA4catB3, which is found widely disseminated across Australia and Asia [475,478,479]. This integron structure is most frequently found on IncHI2 and IncM2 plasmids in clinical settings [477,480] but among a broad collection of plasmid replicon types in gulls (Dolejska et al., 2016b; Tarabai et al., 2021).

IncM plasmids are an emerging threat due to their broad host range and increasing prevalence in MDR clinical, animal, and environmental isolates [128,129]. The IncM2 plasmid pEI1573 (similar to that found in our novel MDR *C. freundii* lineage) was first described in an Australian clinical *bla*_{IMP-4} producing *Enterobacter cloacae* isolate in 2012 [482] and subsequently similar plasmids have been found in CPE (Carbapenemase-producing *Enterobacterales*) from Australian clinical and animal isolates [464]. While *Enterobacter* species are the predominant CPE in Australia [482], *bla*_{IMP-4} producing *Citrobacter* isolates carrying IncM2 replicons have also been described in Australia [479]. Interestingly, in 2006, *bla*_{IMP-4} was first identified in an Australian burns unit [476] in a patient known to be colonized with *bla*_{IMP-4} *E. cloacae*. For approximately 10 years post this initial identification, *bla*_{IMP-4} *Enterobacteriaceae*, most commonly *C. freundii* and *E. cloacae*, was consistently isolated from environmental wet area sampling

(e.g., sinks) from the same hospital despite targeted disinfection [483]. Indeed, these organisms were isolated in greater numbers post cleaning.

The authors hypothesised that the disruption of biofilms during cleaning underpinned this observation. However, it also highlights that multispecies biofilms could play a major role in the persistent exchange of promiscuous AMR plasmids across species, such as pEI1573, and provide a link between clinical and environmental reservoirs of AMR.

The novel *C. freundii* novel ST23 MDR lineage also carried *bla*_{KPC-2} which we linked to a IncP6 plasmid similar to pKPC2_045523 from *E. kobei* sourced from a human sample in China, 2017 (Accession: NZ_CP032895.1, unpublished). IncP plasmids are another broad host range plasmid type, known to carry genes involved in the degradation of xenobiotics and are commonly found in isolates from polluted environments [458,484]. IncP6 plasmids carrying *bla*_{KPC-2} have been previously described in clinical *C. freundii* [485] and *C. braakii* [486] isolates as well as in other species from sewage including *Pseudomonas, Klebsiella* and *Enterobacter* spp.[485,487]. *C. freundii* isolates have been reported carrying multiple *bla*_{KPC-2}-encoding plasmids [60] and both *bla*_{KPC-2} and *bla*_{NDM-1}[488,489]. Here we described a novel *C. freundii* lineage carrying both *bla*_{KPC-2} and *bla*_{IMP-4} on two broad host range plasmids highlighting the need for continued AMR surveillance in the environment and increased efforts to mitigate the spread of ARGs between bacteria.

Chromosomal AmpC β -lactamases (e.g., *bla*_{CMY} genes) are common in *Citrobacter* thereby complicating treatment for clinical isolates. We found *bla*_{CMY} genes in 96% of all our *Citrobacter* isolates and these were comprised of 16 variants that appeared restricted to species. The gene was only absent in *C. gillenii* and *C. amalonaticus* isolates, which were only identified in Silver gulls. The lack of *bla*_{CMY} genes in these two species has been described previously [490,491]. Notably, we identified a novel lineage of *C. braakii* – novel ST218 - that carried a chromosomal AmpC β -lactamase (*bla*_{CMY} genes are usually regulated by the bacterial cell and expressed at low levels [492] Conversely, plasmid-borne *bla*_{CMY} genes are often associated with strong promoters (in this case IS*Ecp1*) and thus expressed at higher levels [493]. We mapped the location of *bla*_{CMY-2} in the *C. braakii* isolates to an IncC plasmid with ≥ 99.98% identity and 99% coverage to 96 IncC plasmid sequences deposited in NCBI. IncC plasmids have garnered much attention as prominent vectors for the dissemination of *bla*_{CMY} and

*bla*_{NDM} genes across many *Enterobacteriaceae* [493]. In addition to *bla*_{CMY}, *C. braakii* novel ST218 isolates carried class 1 integron integrases and ARGs conferring resistance to aminoglycosides, chloramphenicol, fluoroquinolones, fosfomycin, macrolides, sulphonamide, tetracyclines and trimethoprim. While there is limited knowledge of virulence determinants specific to *Citrobacter*, our *C. braakii* isolates carried *vex* genes (*vexABCDE*) known to encode the Vi capsule polysaccharide and provide higher potential for pathogenicity and adaption within humans [494–496]. Thus, we identified a novel lineage of *C. braakii* from wastewater with an extensive MDR profile and pathogenicity potential.

The third *Citrobacter* species identified in wastewater was *C. portucalensis*, a potentially underreported bacteria due to its repeated misidentification as *C. freundii* [61]. This species was only identified from NSW wastewater and the six representative isolates belonged to four STs (2 novel and 2 established). Five *C. portucalensis* isolates carried only two ARGs – *bla*_{CMY-129} and *qnrB13* (quinolone resistance), however one ST264 isolate carried 21 ARGs conferring resistance to nine classes of antibiotics. The ST264 isolate, ERQ0172, was the only one to carry *bla*_{NDM-1}. NDM-positive bacteria are associated with high mortality rates [497] and there have been two previous reports of *C. portucalensis* strains carrying *bla*_{NDM-1}, both human sourced from China [61,498]. This gene is most frequently carried by IncX3 plasmids and is generally associated with IS*Aba125* [497,499]. The contig on which *bla*_{NDM-1} in ERQ0172 was situated was too small to determine its wider genetic context, however we did observe likely associations with resolved complex resistance structures, such as one from a clinical *Providencia rettgeri* isolate in China [500]. ERQ0172 did not harbour any IncX3 plasmid replicons, but it did possess an IncX5 replicon.

Future long-read sequencing is needed to determine to exact genetic context for *bla*_{NDM-1} in this isolate. ERQ0172 was also one of two isolates that carried *mcr-9*, a contested colistin resistance gene [501]. While this gene is likely to only cause resistance under laboratory induced expression[502], the gene was located on a highly conserved 24,016 bp region containing arsenic and copper resistance genes found in several *Enterobacteriaceae* chromosomes and IncHI2:ST1 plasmids, suggesting that this region is transferred horizontally, and that *mcr-9* may be co-selected by heavy metal resistance [92,503].

Our study has several limitations, namely that Silver gull isolates were not selected for any antibiotic phenotype while wastewater isolates were selected by growth

on medium containing antibiotics. This not only would have influenced ARG profiles but may also have biased the diversity of the *Citrobacter* wastewater population. Thus, comparisons between the two cohorts were constrained. Future studies utilising longread sequence data would allow for more comprehensive comparisons of mobile genetic elements in these genomes, allowing for an enhanced understanding of the relevance of environmental *Citrobacter* species in the evolution and potential dissemination of AMR within a One Health context.

In conclusion, this study broadens our understanding on environmental *Citrobacter* populations and their AMR carriage, as well as the associations of mobile genetic elements with these resistance traits. Phylogenetic analyses identified many novel sequence types including three novel MDR lineages that carry carbapenemaseencoding genes and other clinically important resistance genes on broad host range plasmids. These findings emphasise the need for environmental AMR monitoring.

Chapter 7. General Discussion and Future Directions

This final chapter provides a summary of the major findings in relation to the thesis aims, and a discussion on the implications and contributions of this work to the epidemiological analysis of antimicrobial resistant bacteria using a One Health approach. Additionally, this chapter also addresses the limitations encountered during the study and proposes future directions, which could lead to further advancements in understanding and managing carbapenem resistance in environmental bacterial populations. It is important to highlight that although we applied conservative SNP distance thresholds, further research is necessary to enhance our comprehension of SNP transmission thresholds within a One Health context. Most existing thresholds are tailored to identify direct transmission events within epidemiologically relevant timelines, typically spanning days or weeks.

As previously mentioned, carbapenem resistance poses a severe and ongoing public health problem worldwide [504]. It is particularly prevalent among GNB in the Proteobacteria phylum [505]. The resistance can be intrinsic or mediated by horizontally transferred carbapenem encoding genes, facilitated by mobile genetic elements [354] such as plasmids (e.g. *bla*_{IMP-4} on an IncM plasmid and *bla*_{KPC-2} on an IncP plasmid, both in *Citrobacter freundii*) and GIs (as was the case for *bla*_{GES-5} in *Comamonas denitrificans*). Operons encoding for the metabolism of the heavy metals ("heavy metal resistance") copper and arsenic were observed on an IncP plasmid structure in *Comamonas denitrificans* also.

While the majority of AMR studies primarily centre around clinical isolates [10], it is important to note that numerous environmental bacteria exhibit innate resistance to carbapenems [506]. The improper use of antibiotics in human and veterinary medicine, as well as in agriculture, also plays a crucial role in the rise and dissemination of acquired carbapenem resistance among environmental bacteria [507].

Prior to this thesis, there was a lack of WGS data on carbapenem-resistant GNB from water bodies in Australia, particularly concerning opportunistic pathogens such as *Elizabethkingia*, *Comamonas*, and *Citrobacter* species. To address these gaps, the study utilised WGS data to investigate the genetic diversity of these species in water bodies, explore AMR transmission pathways, identify MGEs, and establish the genetic relationship between environmental and clinical carbapenem-resistant bacteria in

Australia. Consequently, this thesis offers valuable insights into the transmission dynamics of AMR in aquatic environments and its potential impact on human health.

7.1 Discussion of Aim 1: Genomic analysis of selected species

"Characterise the population structures of the three chosen bacterial genera through phylogenetic studies, genotyping, and single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) analysis."

Carbapenem resistance poses a significant concern in healthcare settings by limiting treatment options [505]. However, many ARGs discovered in pathogens are known to have originated from the extensive and diverse genetic pool present in environmental bacteria [508]. Furthermore, metagenomic analyses have unveiled the exchange of ARGs between environmental and clinical bacteria [509,510]. Environmental MDR bacteria have been shown to harbor genes similar to those found in human pathogens and confer resistance to essential antibiotic categories such as aminoglycosides, amphenicols, β -lactams (including carbapenems), sulfonamides, and tetracycline [509,511]. Thus, understanding the diversity and distribution of carbapenemresistant bacteria in the environment is essential to better manage and prevent their spread [354]. By integrating genotype data, metadata, and resistance phenotypes into phylogenetic analyses, we can gain insights into bacterial populations, identifying epidemiological links and gene acquisition trends, including ARGs [512].

This study, which focused on carbapenem-resistant isolates from water bodies, yielded some remarkable results. Out of 665 isolates initially sampled, we identified approximately 42 distinct genera. To cope with the dataset's vast species diversity, we employed a low-resolution phylogenetic analysis using PhyloSift [206]. This approach allowed us to visualize broader relationships between bacterial species, resulting in the identification of three major clades: *Flavobacteriales, Enterobacterales,* and *Pseudomonadales.* This broad overview is particularly crucial when dealing with a wide range of species simultaneously. Given the dataset's complexity, we strategically selected one representative genus from each Order (clade) for further analysis: *Elizabethkingia, Comamonas,* and *Citrobacter.* These genera were chosen based on their prevalence in the collection and their significance in global scientific literature (Table 7).

For an in-depth examination of the chosen genera, we utilised a variety of techniques for phylogenetic analysis, with a primary focus on generating trees through

SNV-derived alignments in specialized software. This method facilitated the identification of highly related isolates, potential discovery of novel species (see aim 4 below), and comprehensive assessment of the diversity present within each species.

	<i>Elizabethkingia</i> spp.	<i>Comamonas</i> spp.	Citrobacter spp.
Species	<i>E. miricola</i> (n=71), <i>E. anophelis</i> (n=16), <i>E. umeracha</i> sp. novel (n=7)	C. denitrificans (n=33), C. testosteroni (n=5), C. aquatica (n=1)	C. freundii (n=37), C. braakii (n=21), C. youngae (n=9), C. potucalensis (n=6), C. gillenii (n=2), C. amanoliticus (n=1), C. pasteurii (n=1)
Global context	Ubiquitous in the environment, particularly water.	Abundant in aquatic and soil environments, including wastewater.	Abundant in the environment and intestinal microbiota.
ARGs & MGEs	Naturally carbapenem- resistant (<i>bla</i> _B , <i>bla</i> _{GOB}) with novel ICE in 71% of aquatic environmental isolates.	Chromosomally acquired carbapenem resistance (<i>bla</i> GES-5) and IncP1 plasmid carrying heavy metal resistance.	Plasmid-encoded carbapenem resistance (blaIMP-4 on IncM, blaKPC-2 on IncP).
Potential importance	Clinical pathogen, potential for petroleum bioremediation.	Clinical pathogen, potential in biotechnology.	Clinical pathogen, linked to MDR from other <i>Enterobacteriaceae</i> .

Table 7: The three genera selected for in-depth genomic analysis.

7.2 Discussion of Aim 2: Identifying critical genes and mobile elements

"Characterise antimicrobial resistance genes (ARGs) and virulence associated genes (VAGs), plasmid replicon sequence types and critical mobile genetic elements (MGEs) using bioinformatic methods to highlight any potential threat from environmental isolates in our study and compare these gene profiles to sequences in public databases."

A comprehensive analysis relating to this aim was conducted in each result chapter, yielding significant findings. Below is a concise summary of some of the major findings:

- Citrobacter wastewater isolates carried multiple AMR genes, including bla_{IMP-4}, bla_{KPC-2}, mcr-9, on plasmids. IncM2, IncP, and IncHI2 plasmids were observed to disseminate multidrug resistance in *Citrobacter* spp. from Australian wastewater.
- 2. Comamonas spp. from various water sources, including wastewater influent, wetlands, and lakes, were found to acquire critical antibiotic resistance genes,

*bla*_{GES-5}, and *bla*_{OXA}, through genomic islands. Some *Comamonas* isolates also carried an IncP-1 plasmid encoding metal resistance.

3. *Elizabethkingia* spp. in aquatic environments exhibited natural resistance to carbapenems and cephalosporins, with the presence of *bla*_B, *bla*_{GOB}, and *bla*_{CME} genes. Additionally, novel ICE elements were identified in 71.3% of the isolates, potentially contributing to genetic diversity in these bacteria.

Although reporting on ARGs and VAGs is common in genomic studies, this research aimed to go beyond that and establish links between ARGs, plasmid carriage and critical MGEs.

Significant findings from the study include the identification of various AMR genes, namely bla_{IMP-4} and bla_{KPC-2} , in *Citrobacter* wastewater isolates. These genes were carried on IncM and IncP plasmids, respectively, which are known to play a key role in disseminating antibiotic resistance among bacterial populations [513] and have been associated with the spread of multidrug resistance in clinically important GNB such as *E. coli, K. aerogenes, Pseudomonas spp. and Sphingomonas* [514,515] responsible for various infections in humans [127]. The transfer of these plasmids has been observed across different genera [102] and in various clinical and environmental settings [516].

Interestingly, IncM plasmids are known to mobilise AMR within Australian clinical settings [517], and alignments of our isolates to a reference plasmid revealed a direct link between IncM plasmids in Australian environmental and clinical isolates. Additionally, the study identified the genetic context of the *mcr-9* gene in *C. freundii* from wastewater. The *mcr-9* gene was found associated with metal resistance genes and likely hosted on an HI2 ST1 plasmid along with other ARGs and a class 1 integron structure. HI2 ST1 plasmids have previously been identified as carriers of resistance genes conferring resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics [24] in clinically important GNB such as *E.coli*, *K. pneumoniae*, and *Enterobacter* spp. [518,519].

While *Comamonas* spp. are generally considered to have low virulence, they have been responsible for adverse health conditions in many healthy individuals and have even led to fatalities in patients with underlying medical conditions [74]. In the past, treating infections associated with this species was relatively manageable; however, the emergence of antibiotic resistance in certain strains raises concerns about future challenges. Notably, *C. kerstersii* strain 8943 was previously noted harboring various

resistance genes, such as tetA (gene encode for tetracycline resistance), strA, strB (streptomycin resistance), sul1, sul2 (sulfonamide resistance) bla_{OXA-1} (class D betalactamase resistance), catB3 (chloramphenicol resistance), and floR (florfenicol/chloramphenicol resistance). An isolate of C. thiooxydans, causing a urinary tract infection, was found to carry the *bla*_{IMP-8} gene, conferring resistance to carbapenems, alongside a novel class D beta-lactamase gene, black, and the aac(6')*lb-c* gene for aminoglycoside resistance. This isolate also exhibited a range of efflux pumps within its genome [55]. In 2022, another C. thiooxydans isolate was identified, carrying a plasmid-mediated *bla*_{IMP-1} gene [82], further highlighting the evolving complexity of antibiotic resistance within this bacterial species.

Our *Comamonas* strains harboured chromosomally acquired genes bla_{GES-5} , bla_{OXA} , and aminoglycoside resistance (*aadA*), all situated on putative GIs. The GIs containing bla_{GES-5} and bla_{OXA} were found exclusively within this particular Australian collection of *C. denitrificans*. Our *C. denitrificans* carried an IncP-1 plasmid housing genes associated with xenobiotic degradation and responses to oxidative stress.

Some studies found that *Comamonas* strains possess plasmids linked to the degradation of xenobiotic aromatics [520,521]. Notably, plasmids such as pl2 and pTB30 enable the breakdown of 3-chloroaniline [522]. Another plasmid, pCNB1, aids the conversion of 4-chloronitrobenzene in *Comamonas* sp. strain CNB-1. A recently identified plasmid, pBHB [523], in *Comamonas* sp. strain 7D-2, was involved in breaking down the herbicide bromoxynil [524]. All these plasmids belong to the IncP-1 β [522]. These findings underscore the significance of plasmids in supporting xenobiotic degradation pathways within *Comamonas* strains. These observations also raise the possibility that diverse environmental pollutants may inadvertently cross select for *Comamonas* spp. that carry antimicrobial resistance.

Similar to our findings in *Citrobacter* and *Comamonas*, the characterisation of ARGs in *Elizabethkingia* also revealed diverse genes conferring carbapenem resistance. Among the *Elizabethkingia* species studied (*E. anophelis, E. miricola*, and *E. umeracha* sp. novel), multiple known alleles and novel variants of *bla*_B, *bla*_{GOB}, and *bla*_{CME} genes were identified. Our data revealed an essential pattern of resistance across all the tested isolates, with marked resistance demonstrated against carbapenems, cephalosporins, and diverse penicillins, encompassing carboxypenicillin and monobactam. The diversity of resistance profiles based on distinct combinations of *bla*_B, *bla*_{GOB} and *bla*_{CME} genes

underscores the intricate nature of resistance mechanisms. Notably, exclusive resistance to piperacillin/tazobactam was observed in our *E. miricola* isolates possessing the specific $bla_{B-26-like}/bla_{GOB-19-like}/bla_{CME}$ combination. Additionally, the emergence of cefepime resistance in two *E. anophelis* isolates, characterized by distinct bla_B and bla_{GOB} variations along with the common bla_{CME-1} gene, further exemplifies the complex interplay of genetic determinants influencing AMR patterns in these bacterial strains. These findings contribute to a deeper understanding of resistance dynamics and underscore the importance of continued surveillance and exploration of resistance mechanisms in clinical settings. Furthermore, the *Elizabethkingia* isolates harbouring these ARGs were discovered to contain ICEs, which are mobile genetic elements capable of integrating into a host genome and replicating during chromosomal replication and cell division [145,268].

However, the study also acknowledges limitations in the availability and accuracy of existing databases and suggests complementary approaches, such as long-read sequencing analysis, to enhance the reliability of MGE identification.

7.3 Discussion of Aim 3: Finding novel species

"Identify possible novel species or uncommon species from the environmental water sourced and contribute to public database."

This aim was explored across three result chapters. In Chapter 4, a novel species named *Elizabethkingia umeracha* was identified with unique metallo β -lactamase and extended-spectrum cephalosporin gene alleles, providing insights into antibiotic resistance mechanisms, and enhancing our understanding of genetic diversity within the *Elizabethkingia* genus. In Chapter 5, the addition of 33 newly sequenced *Comamonas denitrificans* isolates to the public database enriched our knowledge of this species' genetic diversity, offering valuable resources for ecological, evolutionary, and microbial genomics research. Finally, in Chapter 6, the discovery of multi-drug resistant *Citrobacter portucalensis*, a newly reclassified species, in wastewater samples raised concerns about accurate species identification and antibiotic resistance in environmental samples. Our data on novel species or uncommon species from the environmental water sources contribute to a better understanding of microbial diversity, antibiotic resistance transmission, and public health implications.

The microbial diversity observed in our water samples, with around 40 genera and numerous species, suggests a rich array of microorganisms in the sampled

environments. This diversity hints at a complex ecological network with potential interactions and dependencies among various organisms. Genomic analyses identified specific genera like *Elizabethkingia* spp., *Comamonas* spp., and *Citrobacter* spp., suggesting future research on the potential associations with mammalian or other hosts. That research may be needed to estimate specific host reservoirs. The varied sources, including wastewater, dams, and wetlands, indicate potential diverse environmental reservoirs. Understanding the ecological niches and conditions supporting these genera in different environments is crucial for estimating environmental reservoirs.

Addressing these challenges requires ongoing research, technological innovation, and comprehensive strategies to mitigate the spread of antibiotic resistance in both clinical and environmental contexts. Nevertheless, despite challenges, efforts to identify and contribute novel and rare species to public databases remain crucial for advancing scientific knowledge and biodiversity conservation.

7.4 Discussion of Aim 4: Comparisons to public data

"Compare the dataset generated by this project with WGS data accumulated in public database repositories, sourced from humans, swine, poultry, and wild bird populations, and used to examine how bacteria and the mobile genetic cargo they carry may move through these hosts."

Aim 4 was primarily addressed in Chapter 4 and 6. Chapter 4 focused on three collections comprising 94 *Elizabethkingia* isolates from Australian aquatic environments, 27 isolates from Australian clinical samples and hospital environments, and 27 international strains from GenBank. The isolates were derived from various sources, including the environment (n = 102), humans (n = 42), Anopheles gambiae (n = 2), and one isolate each from Zea mays (corn) and a frog. *Elizabethkingia* spp. are emerging pathogens primarily classified as environmental bacteria, with water bodies serving as one of their reservoirs [525]. The transmission of *Elizabethkingia* spp. is frequently associated with contaminated water sources [304]. Previous studies on the *Elizabethkingia* genus have predominantly focused on clinical isolates [254–256] and those obtained from hospital environmental *Elizabethkingia* strains to clinical isolates to better understand transmission and pathogenesis, especially given the limited knowledge regarding this intrinsically carbapenem-resistant bacterium [526].

As stated in the manuscript, our study revealed that *E. anophelis* isolates from wetland and dam samples showed a close genetic relationship to a group of Australian clinical *E. anophelis* strains causing bloodstream infections, with a variation of around 36 SNPs. Furthermore, they were about 42 SNPs from two *E. anophelis* isolates obtained from sinks in a Queensland hospital [72]. This finding of genetic relatedness of environmental and clinical isolates can help elucidate whether the environment serves as a reservoir for carbapenem resistance genes, contributing to the persistence and spread of drug-resistant strains. This information is crucial for guiding infection prevention and control strategies in healthcare settings and beyond. It also raises important questions about the origins and dissemination of drug resistant strains, underscoring the need for improved infection control measures. Assessing the influence of environmental versus clinical evolution and dissemination will greatly assist in tracking the spread of pathogens.

Chapter 6 of the study focuses on the presence of the bla_{IMP-4} gene in *Citrobacter* isolates, carried on an IncM2 plasmid. This plasmid was first identified in 2012 within an *Enterobacter cloacae* isolate encoding bla_{IMP-4} [482]. The same plasmid has since been found in CPE from clinical and animal sources [464]. Notably, the historical lineage of bla_{IMP-4} dates back to 2006 when it was initially detected in an Australian burns unit [476], where a patient carried the bla_{IMP-4} gene within *E. cloacae*.

The enduring presence of *bla*_{IMP-4}-positive *Enterobacteriaceae* over the course of more than a decade within hospital environment samples is a pivotal observation. Despite dedicated disinfection protocols, these resistant bacterial strains, primarily identified as *C. freundii* and *E. cloacae*, have displayed remarkable persistence. This raises thought-provoking questions about the mechanisms underlying their ability to withstand and persist through disinfection processes [483]. The notion of persistent colonisation in specific settings, such as sinks and wet areas, suggests the possible existence of protected niches or biofilm communities where these resistant strains can thrive.

In retrospect, Chapter 4's limitation lies in the inclusion of only two sources at the national level: environmental isolates from South Australia and clinical isolates from Queensland. Despite this constraint, the study supplemented its analysis with global clinical data to explore genetic relationships. The research provides valuable insights

into the genomic attributes and connections between clinical and environmental *Elizabethkingia* isolates, underscoring water bodies as reservoirs and the importance of investigating transmission routes and mobile genetic elements. Further studies could focus on related environmental isolates from hospital settings in South Australia or natural environmental samples in Queensland to deepen our understanding.

The work presented in Chapter 6 suffers from the same limitations as Chapter 2 (e.g., unable to fully assemble MGEs from short-read data), so the process of incorporating long-read sequence data is suggested. This approach would enable more comprehensive comparisons of mobile genetic elements, especially plasmids encoding AMR. It has the potential to enhance the understanding of the significance of environmental *Citrobacter* species in the evolution and potential dissemination of antimicrobial resistance, particularly within the context of One Health.

7.5 Future perspectives and directions

As part of the OUTBREAK One Health surveillance initiative, the thesis involved collecting water samples from various sources, followed by culturing on carbapenem selective media. This process facilitated the isolation and whole genome sequencing (WGS) of 665 isolates, representing approximately 40 genera and numerous species. The thesis focused on in-depth genomic analyses of three key genera—*Elizabethkingia* spp., *Comamonas* spp., and *Citrobacter* spp.—selected for their prominence in the sample collection and global significance, as substantiated by a comprehensive literature review in Chapter 2.

Potential future work involves performing WGS on water samples from additional locations, including the other Australian states to begin with, to further explore carbapenem-resistant bacteria and the underlying mechanisms. Targeted exploration of these water-borne bacterial genera can enhance our understanding and management of antibiotic resistance spread, safeguarding water resources and public health [527].

Selecting isolates that encode key AMR genes and plasmid types for long-read sequencing, leading to the assembly and analysis of completed genomes, can provide a more comprehensive sequence assessment, advancing research on MGEs and antibiotic resistance spread [528].

Adopting a One Health approach emphasizes collaboration among relevant stakeholders and acknowledges that antibiotic resistance can spread between these

domains [43]. Future research should aim to highlight reservoirs of antibiotic resistance, helping with the implementation of antimicrobial stewardship programs to promote the responsible use of antibiotics in healthcare and agriculture. Reducing antibiotic usage can help minimize selection pressure for resistance.

Lastly, public health agencies should prioritise raising awareness about the significance of carbapenem resistance surveillance in environmental samples among healthcare professionals, the public, and environmental workers. This collective effort will contribute to better monitoring and control of the spread of antibiotic resistance, leading to improved public health outcomes.

References

1. Rolbiecki D, Harnisz M, Korzeniewska E, Jałowiecki Ł, Płaza G. Occurrence of Fluoroquinolones and Sulfonamides Resistance Genes in Wastewater and Sludge at Different Stages of Wastewater Treatment: A Preliminary Case Study. Applied Sciences. 2020;10:5816.

2. Harnisz M, Kiedrzyńska E, Kiedrzyński M, Korzeniewska E, Czatzkowska M, Koniuszewska I, et al. The impact of WWTP size and sampling season on the prevalence of antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater and the river system. Sci Total Environ. 2020;741:140466.

3. Buta M, Korzeniewska E, Harnisz M, Hubeny J, Zieliński W, Rolbiecki D, et al. Microbial and chemical pollutants on the manure-crops pathway in the perspective of "One Health" holistic approach. Sci Total Environ. 2021;785:147411.

4. Kies FK, Boutchebak S, Bendaida N. Soil Contamination by Pharmaceutical Pollutants: Adsorption of an Antibiotic (Amoxicillin) on an Agricultural Land. Proceedings. 2020;30:60.

5. Almakki A, Jumas-Bilak E, Marchandin H, Licznar-Fajardo P. Antibiotic resistance in urban runoff. Sci Total Environ. 2019;667:64–76.

6. Zhou X, Qiao M, Wang F-H, Zhu Y-G. Use of commercial organic fertilizer increases the abundance of antibiotic resistance genes and antibiotics in soil. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 2017;24:701–10.

7. Zhou Z, Yao H. Effects of Composting Different Types of Organic Fertilizer on the Microbial Community Structure and Antibiotic Resistance Genes. Microorganisms. 2020;8:268.

8. Pepi M, Focardi S. Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria in Aquaculture and Climate Change: A Challenge for Health in the Mediterranean Area. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18:5723.

9. Prestinaci F, Pezzotti P, Pantosti A. Antimicrobial resistance: a global multifaceted phenomenon. Pathog Glob Health. 2015;109:309–18.

10. Murray CJL, Ikuta KS, Sharara F, Swetschinski L, Robles Aguilar G, Gray A, et al. Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis. The Lancet. 2022;399:629–55.

11. Dadgostar P. Antimicrobial Resistance: Implications and Costs. Infect Drug Resist. 2019;12:3903–10.

12. AMR Review Paper - Tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations_1.pdf [Internet]. [cited 2020 Sep 8]. Available from: https://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/AMR%20 Review%20Paper%20-%20Tackling%20a%20crisis%20for%20the%20health%20and%20 wealth%20of%20nations_1.pdf

13. Ventola CL. The Antibiotic Resistance Crisis. P T. 2015;40:277-83.

14. WHO | Global action plan on AMR [Internet]. WHO. World Health Organization; [cited 2020 Sep 9]. Available from: http://www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/global-action-plan/en/

15. Peleg AY, Hooper DC. Hospital-Acquired Infections Due to Gram-Negative Bacteria. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:1804–13.

16. Mills MC, Lee J. The threat of carbapenem-resistant bacteria in the environment: Evidence of widespread contamination of reservoirs at a global scale. Environmental pollution. 2019;

17. Munita JM, Arias CA. Mechanisms of Antibiotic Resistance. Microbiol Spectr. 2016;4:10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0016–2015.

18. Majumder MAA, Rahman S, Cohall D, Bharatha A, Singh K, Haque M, et al. Antimicrobial Stewardship: Fighting Antimicrobial Resistance and Protecting Global Public Health. Infect Drug Resist. 2020;13:4713–38.

19. Mehrad B, Clark NM, Zhanel GG, Lynch JP. Antimicrobial Resistance in Hospital-Acquired Gram-Negative Bacterial Infections. Chest. 2015;147:1413–21.

20. Santajit S, Indrawattana N. Mechanisms of Antimicrobial Resistance in ESKAPE Pathogens. Biomed Res Int. 2016;2016:2475067.

21. Founou RC, Founou LL, Essack SY. Clinical and economic impact of antibiotic resistance in developing countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12:e0189621.

22. Basak S, Singh P, Rajurkar M. Multidrug Resistant and Extensively Drug Resistant Bacteria: A Study. J Pathog. 2016;2016:4065603.

23. Mulani MS, Kamble EE, Kumkar SN, Tawre MS, Pardesi KR. Emerging Strategies to Combat ESKAPE Pathogens in the Era of Antimicrobial Resistance: A Review. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:539.

24. Breijyeh Z, Jubeh B, Karaman R. Resistance of Gram-Negative Bacteria to Current Antibacterial Agents and Approaches to Resolve It. Molecules [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug 27];25. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7144564/

25. Miller SI. Antibiotic Resistance and Regulation of the Gram-Negative Bacterial Outer Membrane Barrier by Host Innate Immune Molecules. mBio [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Aug 27];7. Available from: https://mbio.asm.org/content/7/5/e01541-16

26. Reygaert WC. An overview of the antimicrobial resistance mechanisms of bacteria. AIMS Microbiol. 2018;4:482–501.

27. Peterson E, Kaur P. Antibiotic Resistance Mechanisms in Bacteria: Relationships Between Resistance Determinants of Antibiotic Producers, Environmental Bacteria, and Clinical Pathogens. Front Microbiol [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Aug 27];9. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02928/full

28. Karaiskos I, Giamarellou H. Multidrug-resistant and extensively drug-resistant Gram-negative pathogens: current and emerging therapeutic approaches. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2014;15:1351–70.

29. Álvarez-Martínez FJ, Barrajón-Catalán E, Micol V. Tackling Antibiotic Resistance with Compounds of Natural Origin: A Comprehensive Review. Biomedicines. 2020;8:405.

30. Sharma J, Sharma D, Singh A, Sunita K. Colistin Resistance and Management of Drug Resistant Infections. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2022;2022:4315030.

31. Holmes CL, Anderson MT, Mobley HLT, Bachman MA. Pathogenesis of Gram-Negative Bacteremia. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2021;34:e00234-20.

32. Diekema DJ, Hsueh P-R, Mendes RE, Pfaller MA, Rolston KV, Sader HS, et al. The Microbiology of Bloodstream Infection: 20-Year Trends from the SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;63:e00355-19.

33. Osthoff M, McGuinness SL, Wagen AZ, Eisen DP. Urinary tract infections due to extendedspectrum beta-lactamase-producing Gram-negative bacteria: identification of risk factors and outcome predictors in an Australian tertiary referral hospital. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2015;34:79–83.

34. Wenzler E, Fraidenburg DR, Scardina T, Danziger LH. Inhaled Antibiotics for Gram-Negative Respiratory Infections. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2016;29:581–632.

35. Chinemerem Nwobodo D, Ugwu MC, Oliseloke Anie C, Al-Ouqaili MTS, Chinedu Ikem J, Victor Chigozie U, et al. Antibiotic resistance: The challenges and some emerging strategies for tackling a global menace. Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis. 2022;36:e24655.

36. Miethke M, Pieroni M, Weber T, Brönstrup M, Hammann P, Halby L, et al. Towards the sustainable discovery and development of new antibiotics. Nat Rev Chem. 2021;5:726–49.

37. van der Zwet WC, Nijsen IEJ, Jamin C, van Alphen LB, von Wintersdorff CJH, Demandt AMP, et al. Role of the environment in transmission of Gram-negative bacteria in two consecutive outbreaks in a haematology-oncology department. Infect Prev Pract. 2022;4:100209.

38. Kraemer SA, Ramachandran A, Perron GG. Antibiotic Pollution in the Environment: From Microbial Ecology to Public Policy. Microorganisms. 2019;7:180.

39. Smith AR, Vowles M, Horth RZ, Smith L, Rider L, Wagner JM, et al. Infection control response to an outbreak of OXA-23 carbapenemase-producing carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii in a skilled nursing facility in Utah. Am J Infect Control. 2021;49:792–9.

40. Johnson JR, Stell AL, Delavari P. Canine feces as a reservoir of extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli. Infect Immun. 2001;69:1306–14.

41. Hoelle J, Johnson JR, Johnston BD, Kinkle B, Boczek L, Ryu H, et al. Survey of US wastewater for carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Journal of Water and Health. 2019;17:219–26.

42. Kim S-H, Wei C-I, Tzou Y-M, An H. Multidrug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae isolated from farm environments and retail products in Oklahoma. J Food Prot. 2005;68:2022–9.

43. Djordjevic SP, Morgan BS. A One Health genomic approach to antimicrobial resistance is essential for generating relevant data for a holistic assessment of the biggest threat to public health. Microbiol Aust. 2019;40:73–6.

44. Rinke C, Schwientek P, Sczyrba A, Ivanova NN, Anderson IJ, Cheng J-F, et al. Insights into the phylogeny and coding potential of microbial dark matter. Nature. 2013;499:431–7.

45. Schulz F, Eloe-Fadrosh EA, Bowers RM, Jarett J, Nielsen T, Ivanova NN, et al. Towards a balanced view of the bacterial tree of life. Microbiome. 2017;5:140.
46. Larsson DGJ, Flach C-F. Antibiotic resistance in the environment. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2022;20:257–69.

47. Inda-Díaz JS, Lund D, Parras-Moltó M, Johnning A, Bengtsson-Palme J, Kristiansson E. Latent antibiotic resistance genes are abundant, diverse, and mobile in human, animal, and environmental microbiomes. Microbiome. 2023;11:44.

48. Pendleton JN, Gorman SP, Gilmore BF. Clinical relevance of the ESKAPE pathogens. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2013;11:297–308.

49. Zhang A-N, Gaston JM, Dai CL, Zhao S, Poyet M, Groussin M, et al. An omics-based framework for assessing the health risk of antimicrobial resistance genes. Nat Commun. 2021;12:4765.

50. Bengtsson-Palme J, Larsson DGJ. Antibiotic resistance genes in the environment: prioritizing risks. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2015;13:396–396.

51. .Wyres KL, Holt KE. Klebsiella pneumoniae as a key trafficker of drug resistance genes from environmental to clinically important bacteria. Current Opinion in Microbiology. 2018;45:131–9.

52. Graham DW, Bergeron G, Bourassa MW, Dickson J, Gomes F, Howe A, et al. Complexities in understanding antimicrobial resistance across domesticated animal, human, and environmental systems. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2019;1441:17–30.

53. Lin J-N, Lai C-H, Yang C-H, Huang Y-H. Elizabethkingia infections in humans: from genomics to clinics. Microorganisms. 2019;7:295.

54. Kim K-H, Ten LN, Liu Q-M, Im W-T, Lee S-T. Comamonas granuli sp. nov., isolated from granules used in a wastewater treatment plant. J Microbiol. 2008;46:390–5.

55. Guo X, Wang Q, Xu H, He X, Guo L, Liu S, et al. Emergence of IMP-8-Producing Comamonas thiooxydans Causing Urinary Tract Infection in China. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2021;12:501.

56. Hassoubah SA. Genetic analysis of multidrug-resistant and AmpC-producing Citrobacter freundii. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2023;27:1147–54.

57. Ribeiro TG, Gonçalves BR, da Silva MS, Novais Â, Machado E, Carriço JA, et al. Citrobacter portucalensis sp. nov., isolated from an aquatic sample. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2017;67:3513–7.

58. Ribeiro TG, Clermont D, Branquinho R, Machado E, Peixe L, Brisse S. Citrobacter europaeus sp. nov., isolated from water and human faecal samples. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2017;67:170–3.

59. Wu W, Espedido B, Feng Y, Zong Z. Citrobacter freundii carrying blaKPC-2 and blaNDM-1: characterization by whole genome sequencing. Sci Rep. 2016;6:30670.

60. Zheng B, Huang C, Xu H, Yu X, Zhang J, Wang X, et al. Complete nucleotide sequences of two KPC-2-encoding plasmids from the same Citrobacter freundii isolate. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2018;73:531–3.

61. Cao X, Xie H, Huang D, Zhou W, Liu Y, Shen H, et al. Detection of a clinical carbapenemresistant Citrobacter portucalensis strain and the dissemination of C. portucalensis in clinical settings. J Glob Antimicrob Resist. 2021;27:79–81.

62. Huijbers PMC, Larsson DGJ, Flach C-F. Surveillance of antibiotic resistant Escherichia coli in human populations through urban wastewater in ten European countries. Environ Pollut. 2020;261:114200.

63. Hendriksen RS, Munk P, Njage P, van Bunnik B, McNally L, Lukjancenko O, et al. Global monitoring of antimicrobial resistance based on metagenomics analyses of urban sewage. Nat Commun. 2019;10:1124.

64. Hutinel M, Huijbers PMC, Fick J, Åhrén C, Larsson DGJ, Flach C-F. Population-level surveillance of antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli through sewage analysis. Eurosurveillance. 2019;24:1800497.

65. Aarestrup FM, Woolhouse MEJ. Using sewage for surveillance of antimicrobial resistance. Science. 2020;367:630–2.

66. Doijad S, Ghosh H, Glaeser S, Kämpfer P, Chakraborty T. Taxonomic reassessment of the genus Elizabethkingia using whole-genome sequencing: Elizabethkingia endophytica Kämpfer et al. 2015 is a later subjective synonym of Elizabethkingia anophelis Kämpfer et al. 2011. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 2016;66:4555–9.

67. Swain B, Rout S, Otta S, Rakshit A. Elizabethkingia meningoseptica: an unusual cause for septicaemia. JMM Case Reports. 2015;2.

68. González LJ, Vila AJ. Carbapenem Resistance in Elizabethkingia meningoseptica Is Mediated by Metallo-β-Lactamase BlaB. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012;56:1686–92.

69. Wu C, Xiong L, Liao Q, Zhang W, Xiao Y, Xie Y. Clinical manifestations, antimicrobial resistance and genomic feature analysis of the multi-drug resistance Elizabethkingia strain [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 May 13]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2629812/v1

70. Lin J-N, Lai C-H, Yang C-H, Huang Y-H. Comparison of clinical manifestations, antimicrobial susceptibility patterns, and mutations of fluoroquinolone target genes between Elizabethkingia meningoseptica and Elizabethkingia anophelis isolated in Taiwan. Journal of clinical medicine. 2018;7:538.

71. Chen S, Soehnlen M, Blom J, Terrapon N, Henrissat B, Walker ED. Comparative genomic analyses reveal diverse virulence factors and antimicrobial resistance mechanisms in clinical Elizabethkingia meningoseptica strains. Scholz HC, editor. PLoS ONE. 2019;14:e0222648.

72. Burnard D Burnard, L G, A H, A R, H B, K C, et al. Comparative genomics and antimicrobial resistance profiling of Elizabethkingia isolates reveals nosocomial transmission and in vitro susceptibility to fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole. J Clin Microbiol [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug 10]; Available from: https://europepmc.org/article/med/32580952

73. Liang C-Y, Yang C-H, Lai C-H, Huang Y-H, Lin J-N. Comparative Genomics of 86 Whole-Genome Sequences in the Six Species of the Elizabethkingia Genus Reveals Intraspecific and Interspecific Divergence. Sci Rep. 2019;9:19167.

74. Ryan MP, Sevjahova L, Gorman R, White S. The Emergence of the Genus Comamonas as Important Opportunistic Pathogens. Pathogens. 2022;11:1032.

75. Willems A, Gillis M. Comamonas. Bergey's Manual of Systematics of Archaea and Bacteria [Internet]. American Cancer Society; 2015 [cited 2021 Apr 12]. p. 1–17. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/9781118960608.gbm00945

76. Cooper GR, Staples ED, Iczkowski KA, Clancy CJ. Comamonas (Pseudomonas) testosteroni endocarditis. Cardiovascular Pathology. 2005;14:145–9.

77. Farooq S, Farooq R, Nahvi N. Comamonas testosteroni: Is It Still a Rare Human Pathogen? Case Rep Gastroenterol. 2017;11:42–7.

78. Kim HJ, Lee Y, Oh K, Choi S-H, Sung H, Huh JW. Septic Shock due to Unusual Pathogens, Comamonas testosteroni and Acinetobacter guillouiae in an Immune Competent Patient. Korean J Crit Care Med. 2015;30:180–3.

79. Abayasekara LM, Perera J, Chandrasekharan V, Gnanam VS, Udunuwara NA, Liyanage DS, et al. Detection of bacterial pathogens from clinical specimens using conventional microbial culture and 16S metagenomics: a comparative study. BMC Infect Dis. 2017;17:631.

80. Almuzara M, Barberis C, Traglia G, Famiglietti A, Ramirez MS, Vay C. Evaluation of matrixassisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry for species identification of nonfermenting Gram-negative bacilli. J Microbiol Methods. 2015;112:24–7.

81. Zhuang W, Liu H, Li J, Chen L, Wang G. Regulation of Class A β-Lactamase CzoA by CzoR and IscR in Comamonas testosteroni S44. Frontiers in Microbiology [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2023 Aug 5];8. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02573

82. Suzuki Y, Nakano R, Nakano A, Tasaki H, Asada T, Horiuchi S, et al. Comamonas thiooxydans Expressing a Plasmid-Encoded IMP-1 Carbapenemase Isolated From Continuous Ambulatory Peritoneal Dialysis of an Inpatient in Japan. Front Microbiol. 2022;13:808993.

83. Bi D, Xie Y, Tai C, Jiang X, Zhang J, Harrison EM, et al. A Site-Specific Integrative Plasmid Found in Pseudomonas aeruginosa Clinical Isolate HS87 along with A Plasmid Carrying an Aminoglycoside-Resistant Gene. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0148367.

84. Ranjan KP, Ranjan N. Citrobacter: An emerging health care associated urinary pathogen. Urol Ann. 2013;5:313–4.

85. Abbott SL. Klebsiella, Enterobacter, Citrobacter, Serratia, Plesiomonas , and Other Enterobacteriaceae. Manual of Clinical Microbiology [Internet]. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2011 [cited 2023 Jul 5]. p. 639–57. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1128/9781555816728.ch37

86. Baral P, Neupane S, Marasini BP, Ghimire KR, Lekhak B, Shrestha B. High prevalence of multidrug resistance in bacterial uropathogens from Kathmandu, Nepal. BMC Res Notes. 2012;5:38.

87. Ahmed T, Islam MdS, Haider N, Elton L, Hasan B, Nuruzzaman M, et al. Phenotypic and Genotypic Characteristics of Antimicrobial Resistance in Citrobacter freundii Isolated from Domestic Ducks (Anas platyrhynchos domesticus) in Bangladesh. Antibiotics (Basel). 2023;12:769.

88. Lindberg F, Normark S. Contribution of chromosomal beta-lactamases to beta-lactam resistance in enterobacteria. Rev Infect Dis. 1986;8 Suppl 3:S292-304.

89. Jones RN, Jenkins SG, Hoban DJ, Pfaller MA, Ramphal R. In vitro efficacy of six cephalosporins tested against Enterobacteriaceae isolated at 38 North American medical centres participating in the SENTRY Antimicrobial Surveillance Program, 1997–1998. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 2000;15:111–8.

90. Yao Y, Falgenhauer L, Falgenhauer J, Hauri AM, Heinmüller P, Domann E, et al. Carbapenem-Resistant Citrobacter spp. as an Emerging Concern in the Hospital-Setting: Results From a Genome-Based Regional Surveillance Study. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Apr 20];11. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb.2021.744431

91. Kern WV, Rieg S. Burden of bacterial bloodstream infection-a brief update on epidemiology and significance of multidrug-resistant pathogens. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2020;26:151–7.

92. Liu Z, Liu Y, Xi W, Liu S, Liu J, Mu H, et al. Genetic Features of Plasmid- and Chromosome-Mediated mcr-1 in Escherichia coli Isolates From Animal Organs With Lesions. Frontiers in Microbiology [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 May 24];12. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2021.707332

93. Shnaiderman-Torban A, Steinman A, Meidan G, Paitan Y, Abu Ahmad W, Navon-Venezia S. Petting Zoo Animals as an Emerging Reservoir of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase and AmpC-Producing Enterobacteriaceae. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:2488.

94. Goldberg DW, Fernandes MR, Sellera FP, Costa DGC, Loureiro Bracarense AP, Lincopan N. Genetic background of CTX-M-15-producing Enterobacter hormaechei ST114 and Citrobacter freundii ST265 co-infecting a free-living green turtle (Chelonia mydas). Zoonoses Public Health. 2019;66:540–5.

95. Qin J, Zhao Y, Wang A, Chi X, Wen P, Li S, et al. Comparative genomic characterization of multidrug-resistant Citrobacter spp. strains in Fennec fox imported to China. Gut Pathogens. 2021;13:59.

96. Fujita AW, Werner K, Jacob JT, Tschopp R, Mamo G, Mihret A, et al. Antimicrobial Resistance Through the Lens of One Health in Ethiopia: A Review of the Literature Among Humans, Animals, and the Environment. International Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2022;119:120–9.

97. Evans DR, Griffith MP, Sundermann AJ, Shutt KA, Saul MI, Mustapha MM, et al. Systematic detection of horizontal gene transfer across genera among multidrug-resistant bacteria in a single hospital. Lipsitch M, Ferguson NM, Lipsitch M, editors. eLife. 2020;9:e53886.

98. Partridge SR, Kwong SM, Firth N, Jensen SO. Mobile Genetic Elements Associated with Antimicrobial Resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2018;31:e00088-17.

99. Oladeinde A, Abdo Z, Press MO, Cook K, Cox NA, Zwirzitz B, et al. Horizontal Gene Transfer Is the Main Driver of Antimicrobial Resistance in Broiler Chicks Infected with Salmonella enterica Serovar Heidelberg. mSystems. 2021;6:e00729-21.

100. Vrancianu CO, Popa LI, Bleotu C, Chifiriuc MC. Targeting Plasmids to Limit Acquisition and Transmission of Antimicrobial Resistance. Frontiers in Microbiology [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2023 May 14];11. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00761

101. Zainon Noor Z, Rabiu Z, Sani M, Fatah A, Farizal Kamaroddin M, Perez M, et al. A Review of Bacterial Antibiotic Resistance Genes and Their Removal Strategies from Wastewater. Current Pollution Reports. 2021;7.

102. Bello-López JM, Cabrero-Martínez OA, Ibáñez-Cervantes G, Hernández-Cortez C, Pelcastre-Rodríguez LI, Gonzalez-Avila LU, et al. Horizontal Gene Transfer and Its Association with Antibiotic Resistance in the Genus Aeromonas spp. Microorganisms [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 Jul 21];7. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6780555/

103. Eichenberger EM, Thaden JT. Epidemiology and Mechanisms of Resistance of Extensively Drug Resistant Gram-Negative Bacteria. Antibiotics. 2019;8:37.

104. Diene SM, Rolain J-M. Carbapenemase genes and genetic platforms in Gram-negative bacilli: Enterobacteriaceae, Pseudomonas and Acinetobacter species. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2014;20:831–8.

105. Suay-García B, Pérez-Gracia MT. Present and Future of Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) Infections. Antibiotics (Basel). 2019;8:122.

106. Yigit H, Queenan AM, Anderson GJ, Domenech-Sanchez A, Biddle JW, Steward CD, et al. Novel carbapenem-hydrolyzing beta-lactamase, KPC-1, from a carbapenem-resistant strain of Klebsiella pneumoniae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2001;45:1151–61.

107. Bleichenbacher S, Stevens MJA, Zurfluh K, Perreten V, Endimiani A, Stephan R, et al. Environmental dissemination of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in rivers in Switzerland. Environmental Pollution. 2020;265:115081.

108. Ito H, Arakawa Y, Ohsuka S, Wacharotayankun R, Kato N, Ohta M. Plasmid-mediated dissemination of the metallo-beta-lactamase gene blaIMP among clinically isolated strains of Serratia marcescens. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1995;39:824–9.

109. Queenan AM, Bush K. Carbapenemases: the Versatile β-Lactamases. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 2007;20:440–58.

110. Walsh TR, Toleman MA, Poirel L, Nordmann P. Metallo-beta-lactamases: the quiet before the storm? Clin Microbiol Rev. 2005;18:306–25.

111. Yong D, Toleman MA, Giske CG, Cho HS, Sundman K, Lee K, et al. Characterization of a new metallo-beta-lactamase gene, bla(NDM-1), and a novel erythromycin esterase gene carried on a unique genetic structure in Klebsiella pneumoniae sequence type 14 from India. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2009;53:5046–54.

112. Nordmann P, Naas T, Poirel L. Global Spread of Carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17:1791–8.

113. Mobile DNA II. Edited by Nancy L Craig, Robert Craigie, Martin Gellert, and Alan M Lambowitz. The Quarterly Review of Biology. 2002;77:317–317.

114. Partridge SR, Kwong SM, Firth N, Jensen SO. Mobile Genetic Elements Associated with Antimicrobial Resistance. Clinical Microbiology Reviews [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Sep 10];31. Available from: https://cmr.asm.org/content/31/4/e00088-17

115. Baquero F, Coque TM, Martínez J-L, Aracil-Gisbert S, Lanza VF. Gene Transmission in the One Health Microbiosphere and the Channels of Antimicrobial Resistance. Front Microbiol. 2019;10:2892.

116. von Wintersdorff CJH, Penders J, van Niekerk JM, Mills ND, Majumder S, van Alphen LB, et al. Dissemination of Antimicrobial Resistance in Microbial Ecosystems through Horizontal Gene Transfer. Front Microbiol. 2016;7:173.

117. Pan Y, Zeng J, Li L, Yang J, Tang Z, Xiong W, et al. Coexistence of Antibiotic Resistance Genes and Virulence Factors Deciphered by Large-Scale Complete Genome Analysis. mSystems. 2020;5:e00821-19.

118. Coque TM, Cantón R, Pérez-Cobas AE, Fernández-de-Bobadilla MD, Baquero F. Antimicrobial Resistance in the Global Health Network: Known Unknowns and Challenges for Efficient Responses in the 21st Century. Microorganisms. 2023;11:1050.

119. Helinski DR. A Brief History of Plasmids. EcoSal Plus. 2022;10:eESP-0028-2021.

120. del Solar G, Giraldo R, Ruiz-Echevarría MJ, Espinosa M, Díaz-Orejas R. Replication and Control of Circular Bacterial Plasmids. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 1998;62:434–64.

121. Rouches MV, Xu Y, Cortes LBG, Lambert G. A plasmid system with tunable copy number. Nat Commun. 2022;13:3908.

122. Bennett PM. Plasmid encoded antibiotic resistance: acquisition and transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in bacteria. Br J Pharmacol. 2008;153:S347–57.

123. Davies J, Davies D. Origins and Evolution of Antibiotic Resistance. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2010;74:417–33.

124. Shintani M, Sanchez ZK, Kimbara K. Genomics of microbial plasmids: classification and identification based on replication and transfer systems and host taxonomy. Front Microbiol. 2015;6:242.

125. Udo EE, Grubb WB. A new incompatibility group plasmid in Staphylococcus aureus. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 1991;62:33–6.

126. Carattoli A. Resistance Plasmid Families in Enterobacteriaceae. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2009;53:2227–38.

127. Rozwandowicz M, Brouwer MSM, Fischer J, Wagenaar JA, Gonzalez-Zorn B, Guerra B, et al. Plasmids carrying antimicrobial resistance genes in Enterobacteriaceae. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2018;73:1121–37.

128. Garcillán-Barcia MP, Alvarado A, de la Cruz F. Identification of bacterial plasmids based on mobility and plasmid population biology. FEMS Microbiology Reviews. 2011;35:936–56.

129. Rozwandowicz M, Brouwer MSM, Fischer J, Wagenaar JA, Gonzalez-Zorn B, Guerra B, et al. Plasmids carrying antimicrobial resistance genes in Enterobacteriaceae. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2018;73:1121–37.

130. Siguier P, Gourbeyre E, Chandler M. Bacterial insertion sequences: their genomic impact and diversity. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 2014;38:865–91.

131. Muñoz-López M, García-Pérez JL. DNA Transposons: Nature and Applications in Genomics. Curr Genomics. 2010;11:115–28.

132. Siguier P, Gourbeyre E, Chandler M. Bacterial insertion sequences: their genomic impact and diversity. FEMS Microbiology Reviews. 2014;38:865–91.

133. Hallet B, Sherratt DJ. Transposition and site-specific recombination: adapting DNA cut-and-paste mechanisms to a variety of genetic rearrangements. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 1997;21:157–78.

134. Siguier P, Perochon J, Lestrade L, Mahillon J, Chandler M. ISfinder: the reference centre for bacterial insertion sequences. Nucleic Acids Res. 2006;34:D32–6.

135. Harmer CJ, Moran RA, Hall RM. Movement of IS26-associated antibiotic resistance genes occurs via a translocatable unit that includes a single IS26 and preferentially inserts adjacent to another IS26. mBio. 2014;5:e01801-01814.

136. Darling AE, Miklós I, Ragan MA. Dynamics of Genome Rearrangement in Bacterial Populations. PLOS Genetics. 2008;4:e1000128.

137. Schneider D, Lenski RE. Dynamics of insertion sequence elements during experimental evolution of bacteria. Res Microbiol. 2004;155:319–27.

138. Schrader L, Schmitz J. The impact of transposable elements in adaptive evolution. Molecular Ecology. 2019;28:1537–49.

139. Hickman AB, Dyda F. Mechanisms of DNA Transposition. Microbiol Spectr. 2015;3:MDNA3-0034–2014.

140. Chesnokova E, Beletskiy A, Kolosov P. The Role of Transposable Elements of the Human Genome in Neuronal Function and Pathology. Int J Mol Sci. 2022;23:5847.

141. Ladd M, Bordoni B. Genetics, Transposons. StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 8]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557780/

142. Carraro N, Burrus V. The dualistic nature of integrative and conjugative elements. Mob Genet Elements. 2015;5:98–102.

143. Liu M, Liu J, Liu G, Wang H, Wang X, Deng Z, et al. ICEO, a biological ontology for representing and analyzing bacterial integrative and conjugative elements. Sci Data. 2022;9:11.

144. Johnson CM, Grossman AD. Integrative and Conjugative Elements (ICEs): What They Do and How They Work. Annu Rev Genet. 2015;49:577–601.

145. Xu J, Pei D, Nicholson A, Lan Y, Xia Q. In Silico Identification of Three Types of Integrative and Conjugative Elements in Elizabethkingia anophelis Strains Isolated from around the World. mSphere [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Aug 10];4. Available from: https://msphere.asm.org/content/4/2/e00040-19

146. Sabbagh P, Rajabnia M, Maali A, Ferdosi-Shahandashti E. Integron and its role in antimicrobial resistance: A literature review on some bacterial pathogens. Iran J Basic Med Sci. 2021;24:136–42.

147. Lévesque C, Piché L, Larose C, Roy PH. PCR mapping of integrons reveals several novel combinations of resistance genes. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1995;39:185–91.

148. Hall RM, Collis CM. Mobile gene cassettes and integrons: capture and spread of genes by site-specific recombination. Mol Microbiol. 1995;15:593–600.

149. Fonseca ÉL, Vicente AC. Integron Functionality and Genome Innovation: An Update on the Subtle and Smart Strategy of Integrase and Gene Cassette Expression Regulation. Microorganisms. 2022;10:224.

150. Gillings MR. Integrons: Past, Present, and Future. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2014;78:257–77.

151. Harmer CJ, Hall RM. IS26-Mediated Formation of Transposons Carrying Antibiotic Resistance Genes. mSphere. 2016;1:e00038-16.

152. Gillings M, Boucher Y, Labbate M, Holmes A, Krishnan S, Holley M, et al. The evolution of class 1 integrons and the rise of antibiotic resistance. J Bacteriol. 2008;190:5095–100.

153. Ghaly TM, Gillings MR, Penesyan A, Qi Q, Rajabal V, Tetu SG. The Natural History of Integrons. Microorganisms. 2021;9:2212.

154. Ghaly TM, Penesyan A, Pritchard A, Qi Q, Rajabal V, Tetu SG, et al. Methods for the targeted sequencing and analysis of integrons and their gene cassettes from complex microbial communities. Microb Genom. 2022;8:000788.

155. Dobrindt U, Hochhut B, Hentschel U, Hacker J. Genomic islands in pathogenic and environmental microorganisms. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2004;2:414–24.

156. Gal-Mor O, Finlay BB. Pathogenicity islands: a molecular toolbox for bacterial virulence. Cell Microbiol. 2006;8:1707–19.

157. Juhas M. Genomic Islands and the Evolution of Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria. In: Villa TG, Viñas M, editors. Horizontal Gene Transfer: Breaking Borders Between Living Kingdoms [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2019 [cited 2021 Sep 27]. p. 143–53. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-21862-1_4

158. Schmidt H, Hensel M. Pathogenicity Islands in Bacterial Pathogenesis. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2004;17:14–56.

159. Rao RT, Sharma S, Sivakumar N, Jayakumar K. Genomic islands and the evolution of livestock-associated Staphylococcus aureus genomes. Biosci Rep. 2020;40:BSR20202287.

160. Fariq A, Blazier JC, Yasmin A, Gentry TJ, Deng Y. Whole genome sequence analysis reveals high genetic variation of newly isolated Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans IO-2C. Sci Rep. 2019;9:13049.

161. Pagano M, Martins AF, Barth AL. Mobile genetic elements related to carbapenem resistance in *Acinetobacter baumannii*. Braz J Microbiol. 2016;47:785–92.

162. Roy Chowdhury P, Scott M, Worden P, Huntington P, Hudson B, Karagiannis T, et al. Genomic islands 1 and 2 play key roles in the evolution of extensively drug-resistant ST235 isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Open Biol. 2016;6:150175.

163. Hishinuma T, Tada T, Kuwahara-Arai K, Yamamoto N, Shimojima M, Kirikae T. Spread of GES-5 carbapenemase-producing Pseudomonas aeruginosa clinical isolates in Japan due to clonal expansion of ST235. PLOS ONE. 2018;13:e0207134.

164. Wang J, Xu T, Ying J, Zhou W, Chen Q, Qian C, et al. PAU-1, a Novel Plasmid-Encoded Ambler Class A β-Lactamase Identified in a Clinical Pseudomonas aeruginosa Isolate. IDR. 2019;12:3827–34.

165. Hacker J, Carniel E. Ecological fitness, genomic islands and bacterial pathogenicity. EMBO Rep. 2001;2:376–81.

166. Schubert S, Picard B, Gouriou S, Heesemann J, Denamur E. Yersinia High-Pathogenicity Island Contributes to Virulence in Escherichia coli Causing Extraintestinal Infections. Infection and Immunity. 2002;70:5335–7.

167. Domingo-Calap P, Delgado-Martínez J. Bacteriophages: Protagonists of a Post-Antibiotic Era. Antibiotics. 2018;7:66.

168. Hatfull GF, Hendrix RW. Bacteriophages and their genomes. Curr Opin Virol. 2011;1:298–303.

169. Winter C, Bouvier T, Weinbauer MG, Thingstad TF. Trade-offs between competition and defense specialists among unicellular planktonic organisms: the "killing the winner" hypothesis revisited. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2010;74:42–57.

170. Chevallereau A, Pons BJ, van Houte S, Westra ER. Interactions between bacterial and phage communities in natural environments. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2022;20:49–62.

171. Campbell A. The future of bacteriophage biology. Nat Rev Genet. 2003;4:471–7.

172. Breitbart M, Bonnain C, Malki K, Sawaya NA. Phage puppet masters of the marine microbial realm. Nat Microbiol. 2018;3:754–66.

173. Xue C, Goldenfeld N. Coevolution Maintains Diversity in the Stochastic "Kill the Winner" Model. Phys Rev Lett. 2017;119:268101.

174. Watson BNJ, Staals RHJ, Fineran PC. CRISPR-Cas-Mediated Phage Resistance Enhances Horizontal Gene Transfer by Transduction. mBio. 2018;9:e02406-17.

175. Boyd EF. Bacteriophage-encoded bacterial virulence factors and phage-pathogenicity island interactions. Adv Virus Res. 2012;82:91–118.

176. Velazquez-Meza ME, Galarde-López M, Carrillo-Quiróz B, Alpuche-Aranda CM. Antimicrobial resistance: One Health approach. Vet World. 2022;15:743–9.

177. Miller JM, Binnicker MJ, Campbell S, Carroll KC, Chapin KC, Gilligan PH, et al. A Guide to Utilization of the Microbiology Laboratory for Diagnosis of Infectious Diseases: 2018 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the American Society for Microbiologya. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67:e1–94.

178. Rychert J. Benefits and Limitations of MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometry for the Identification of Microorganisms. Journal of Infectiology and Epidemiology [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 May

14];2. Available from: https://www.infectiologyjournal.com/articles/benefits-and-limitations-of-malditof-mass-spectrometry-for-the-identification-of-microorganisms.html

179. Oliva A, Miele MC, Al Ismail D, Di Timoteo F, De Angelis M, Rosa L, et al. Challenges in the Microbiological Diagnosis of Implant-Associated Infections: A Summary of the Current Knowledge. Frontiers in Microbiology [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 May 14];12. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2021.750460

180. Fournier P-E, Drancourt M, Colson P, Rolain J-M, Scola BL, Raoult D. Modern clinical microbiology: new challenges and solutions. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2013;11:574–85.

181. Vartoukian SR. Cultivation strategies for growth of uncultivated bacteria. J Oral Biosci. 2016;58:142–9.

182. Wang X, Jiao Y, Ma S, Yang J, Wang Z. Whole-Genome Sequencing: An Effective Strategy for Insertion Information Analysis of Foreign Genes in Transgenic Plants. Front Plant Sci. 2020;11:573871.

183. Punina NV, Makridakis NM, Remnev MA, Topunov AF. Whole-genome sequencing targets drug-resistant bacterial infections. Human Genomics. 2015;9:19.

184. Downing T. Tackling Drug Resistant Infection Outbreaks of Global Pandemic Escherichia coli ST131 Using Evolutionary and Epidemiological Genomics. Microorganisms. 2015;3:236–67.

185. Rabsch W, Prager R, Koch J, Stark K, Roggentin P, Bockemühl J, et al. Molecular epidemiology of Salmonella enterica serovar Agona: characterization of a diffuse outbreak caused by aniseed-fennel-caraway infusion. Epidemiol Infect. 2005;133:837–44.

186. Solà-Ginés M, Cameron-Veas K, Badiola I, Dolz R, Majó N, Dahbi G, et al. Diversity of Multi-Drug Resistant Avian Pathogenic Escherichia coli (APEC) Causing Outbreaks of Colibacillosis in Broilers during 2012 in Spain. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0143191.

187. Tan TW, Tong JC, Khan AM, de Silva M, Lim KS, Ranganathan S. Advancing standards for bioinformatics activities: persistence, reproducibility, disambiguation and Minimum Information About a Bioinformatics investigation (MIABi). BMC Genomics. 2010;11 Suppl 4:S27.

188. Quainoo S, Coolen JPM, van Hijum SAFT, Huynen MA, Melchers WJG, van Schaik W, et al. Whole-Genome Sequencing of Bacterial Pathogens: the Future of Nosocomial Outbreak Analysis. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2017;30:1015–63.

189. Argimón S, Masim MAL, Gayeta JM, Lagrada ML, Macaranas PKV, Cohen V, et al. Integrating whole-genome sequencing within the National Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance Program in the Philippines. Nat Commun. 2020;11:2719.

190. Reuter JA, Spacek DV, Snyder MP. High-Throughput Sequencing Technologies. Molecular Cell. 2015;58:586–97.

191. S. A., S Bittencourt a. FastQC: a quality control tool for high throughput sequence data – ScienceOpen [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2020 Oct 23]. Available from: https://www.scienceopen.com/document?vid=de674375-ab83-4595-afa9-4c8aa9e4e736

192. Alcock BP, Raphenya AR, Lau TTY, Tsang KK, Bouchard M, Edalatmand A, et al. CARD 2020: antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. Nucleic Acids Research. 2019;gkz935.

193. Gupta SK, Padmanabhan BR, Diene SM, Lopez-Rojas R, Kempf M, Landraud L, et al. ARG-ANNOT, a New Bioinformatic Tool To Discover Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Bacterial Genomes. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2014;58:212–20.

194. Alikhan N-F, Petty NK, Ben Zakour NL, Beatson SA. BLAST Ring Image Generator (BRIG): simple prokaryote genome comparisons. BMC Genomics. 2011;12:402.

195. Sievers F, Higgins DG. Clustal Omega for making accurate alignments of many protein sequences. Protein Science. 2018;27:135–45.

196. Goris J, Konstantinidis KT, Klappenbach JA, Coenye T, Vandamme P, Tiedje JM. DNA-DNA hybridization values and their relationship to whole-genome sequence similarities. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2007;57:81–91.

197. Richter M, Rosselló-Móra R, Oliver Glöckner F, Peplies J. JSpeciesWS: a web server for prokaryotic species circumscription based on pairwise genome comparison. Bioinformatics. 2016;32:929–31.

198. Chen L, Yang J, Yu J, Yao Z, Sun L, Shen Y, et al. VFDB: a reference database for bacterial virulence factors. Nucleic Acids Res. 2005;33:D325–8.

199. Toleman MA, Bennett PM, Walsh TR. ISCR elements: novel gene-capturing systems of the 21st century? Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2006;70:296–316.

200. Harris. S. R SR. SKA: Split Kmer Analysis Toolkit for Bacterial Genomic Epidemiology [Internet]. Genomics; 2018 Oct p. https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/453142v1. Available from: http://biorxiv.org/lookup/doi/10.1101/453142

201. Page AJ, Taylor B, Delaney AJ, Soares J, Seemann T, Keane JA, et al. SNP-sites: rapid efficient extraction of SNPs from multi-FASTA alignments. Microb Genom. 2016;2:e000056.

202. Carattoli A, Hasman H. PlasmidFinder and In Silico pMLST: Identification and Typing of Plasmid Replicons in Whole-Genome Sequencing (WGS). Methods Mol Biol. 2020;2075:285–94.

203. Bertelli C, Laird MR, Williams KP, Fraser University Research Computing Group S, Lau BY, Hoad G, et al. IslandViewer 4: expanded prediction of genomic islands for larger-scale datasets. Nucleic Acids Res. 2017;45:W30–5.

204. Trifinopoulos J, Nguyen L-T, von Haeseler A, Minh BQ. W-IQ-TREE: a fast online phylogenetic tool for maximum likelihood analysis. Nucleic Acids Res. 2016;44:W232-235.

205. Katz LS, Griswold T, Morrison SS, Caravas JA, Zhang S, Bakker HC den, et al. Mashtree: a rapid comparison of whole genome sequence files. Journal of Open Source Software. 2019;4:1762.

206. Darling AE, Jospin G, Lowe E, Iv FAM, Bik HM, Eisen JA. PhyloSift: phylogenetic analysis of genomes and metagenomes. PeerJ. 2014;2:e243.

207. Sullivan MJ, Petty NK, Beatson SA. Easyfig: a genome comparison visualizer. Bioinformatics. 2011;27:1009–10.

208. Letunic I, Bork P. Interactive Tree Of Life (iTOL) v4: recent updates and new developments. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47:W256–9.

209. Yu G. Using ggtree to Visualize Data on Tree-Like Structures. Curr Protoc Bioinformatics. 2020;69:e96.

210. Brettin T, Davis JJ, Disz T, Edwards RA, Gerdes S, Olsen GJ, et al. RASTtk: A modular and extensible implementation of the RAST algorithm for building custom annotation pipelines and annotating batches of genomes. Scientific Reports [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Dec 1];5. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/doi:10.1038/srep08365.epdf

211. Seemann T. Prokka: rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. Bioinformatics. 2014;30:2068–9.

212. Singhal N, Kumar M, Kanaujia PK, Virdi JS. MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry: an emerging technology for microbial identification and diagnosis. Front Microbiol [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Aug 20];6. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00791/full

213. Reuter JA, Spacek D, Snyder MP. High-Throughput Sequencing Technologies. Mol Cell. 2015;58:586–97.

214. Bankevich A, Nurk S, Antipov D, Gurevich AA, Dvorkin M, Kulikov AS, et al. SPAdes: A New Genome Assembly Algorithm and Its Applications to Single-Cell Sequencing. J Comput Biol. 2012;19:455–77.

215. Parks DH, Imelfort M, Skennerton CT, Hugenholtz P, Tyson GW. CheckM: assessing the quality of microbial genomes recovered from isolates, single cells, and metagenomes. Genome Res. 2015;25:1043–55.

216. Maiden MCJ, Bygraves JA, Feil E, Morelli G, Russell JE, Urwin R, et al. Multilocus sequence typing: A portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenic microorganisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:3140–5.

217. Treangen TJ, Ondov BD, Koren S, Phillippy AM. The Harvest suite for rapid core-genome alignment and visualization of thousands of intraspecific microbial genomes. Genome Biology. 2014;15:524.

218. Page AJ, Cummins CA, Hunt M, Wong VK, Reuter S, Holden MTG, et al. Roary: rapid large-scale prokaryote pan genome analysis. Bioinformatics. 2015;31:3691–3.

219. Croucher NJ, Page AJ, Connor TR, Delaney AJ, Keane JA, Bentley SD, et al. Rapid phylogenetic analysis of large samples of recombinant bacterial whole genome sequences using Gubbins. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015;43:e15.

220. Köster J, Rahmann S. Snakemake-a scalable bioinformatics workflow engine. Bioinformatics. 2012;28:2520–2.

221. Treangen TJ, Ondov BD, Koren S, Phillippy AM. The Harvest suite for rapid core-genome alignment and visualization of thousands of intraspecific microbial genomes. Genome Biol. 2014;15:524.

222. Yu G, Smith DK, Zhu H, Guan Y, Lam TT-Y. ggtree: an r package for visualization and annotation of phylogenetic trees with their covariates and other associated data. Methods in Ecology and Evolution. 2017;8:28–36.

223. Wickham H, R Francois, L Henry, K Müller. dplyr: A grammar of data manipulation. R package version 04, 2015. 2015;

224. Bache SM, Wickham H. magrittr: a forward-pipe operator for R. R package version, 2014. 2014;

225. Wickham H. ggplot2. WIREs Computational Statistics. 2011;3:180-5.

226. Wickham H, Hester J, Francois R. readr: read rectangular text data. R package. R foundation for statistical computing and graphics. 2018;

227. Wickham H. reshape2: Flexibly reshape data: a reboot of the reshape package. R package version, 2017. 2017;

228. Yu G. A tidy tool for phylogenetic tree data manipulation [R package tidytree version 0.1. 9]. Comprehensive R archive network, 2019. 2019;

229. Price MN, Dehal PS, Arkin AP. FastTree 2 – Approximately Maximum-Likelihood Trees for Large Alignments. PLOS ONE. 2010;5:e9490.

230. Hadfield J, Croucher NJ, Goater RJ, Abudahab K, Aanensen DM, Harris SR. Phandango: an interactive viewer for bacterial population genomics. Kelso J, editor. Bioinformatics. 2018;34:292–3.

231. Larsen MV, Cosentino S, Lukjancenko O, Saputra D, Rasmussen S, Hasman H, et al. Benchmarking of Methods for Genomic Taxonomy. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2014;52:1529–39.

232. Wood DE, Lu J, Langmead B. Improved metagenomic analysis with Kraken 2. Genome Biol. 2019;20:257.

233. Meier-Kolthoff JP, Auch AF, Klenk H-P. Genome sequence-based species delimitation with confidence intervals and improved distance functions. 2013;14.

234. Adékambi T, Drancourt M, Raoult D. The rpoB gene as a tool for clinical microbiologists. Trends Microbiol. 2009;17:37–45.

235. Florensa AF, Kaas RS, Clausen PTLC, Aytan-Aktug D, Aarestrup FM. ResFinder – an open online resource for identification of antimicrobial resistance genes in next-generation sequencing data and prediction of phenotypes from genotypes. Microb Genom. 2022;8:000748.

236. Kleinheinz KA, Joensen KG, Larsen MV. Applying the ResFinder and VirulenceFinder webservices for easy identification of acquired antibiotic resistance and E. coli virulence genes in bacteriophage and prophage nucleotide sequences. Bacteriophage. 2014;4:e27943.

237. Carattoli A, Zankari E, García-Fernández A, Voldby Larsen M, Lund O, Villa L, et al. In Silico Detection and Typing of Plasmids using PlasmidFinder and Plasmid Multilocus Sequence Typing. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;58:3895–903.

238. Feldgarden M, Brover V, Haft DH, Prasad AB, Slotta DJ, Tolstoy I, et al. Validating the AMRFinder Tool and Resistance Gene Database by Using Antimicrobial Resistance Genotype-Phenotype Correlations in a Collection of Isolates. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Sep 15];63. Available from: https://aac.asm.org/content/63/11/e00483-19

239. Villa L, García-Fernández A, Fortini D, Carattoli A. Replicon sequence typing of IncF plasmids carrying virulence and resistance determinants. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2010;65:2518–29.

240. Jolley KA, Bray JE, Maiden MCJ. Open-access bacterial population genomics: BIGSdb software, the PubMLST.org website and their applications. Wellcome Open Res. 2018;3:124.

241. Ishii S. Ecology of Pathogens and Antibiotic-resistant Bacteria in Environments: Challenges and Opportunities. Microbes Environ. 2019;34:1–4.

242. Poirel L, Rodriguez-Martinez J-M, Mammeri H, Liard A, Nordmann P. Origin of Plasmid-Mediated Quinolone Resistance Determinant QnrA. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2005;49:3523–5.

243. Wyres KL, Holt KE. Klebsiella pneumoniae as a key trafficker of drug resistance genes from environmental to clinically important bacteria. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2018;45:131–9.

244. Dworkin M, Falkow S, Rosenberg E, Schleifer K-H, Stackebrandt E, editors. The Prokaryotes: The Genera Chryseobacterium and Elizabethkingia [Internet]. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2006 [cited 2021 Apr 19]. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/0-387-30747-8

245. García-López M, Meier-Kolthoff JP, Tindall BJ, Gronow S, Woyke T, Kyrpides NC, et al. Analysis of 1,000 Type-Strain Genomes Improves Taxonomic Classification of Bacteroidetes. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2019;10:2083.

246. Jean SS, Lee WS, Chen FL, Ou TY, Hsueh PR. Elizabethkingia meningoseptica: an important emerging pathogen causing healthcare-associated infections. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2014;86:244–9.

247. Lei XP, Yi G, Wang KY, OuYang P, Chen DF, Huang XL, et al. Elizabethkingia miricola infection in Chinese spiny frog (Quasipaa spinosa). Transboundary and emerging diseases. 2019;66:1049–53.

248. King EO. Studies on a Group of Previously Unclassified Bacteria Associated with Meningitis in Infants. American Journal of Clinical Pathology. 1959;31:241–7.

249. Vandamme P. New Perspectives in the Classification of the Flavobacteria: Description of Chryseobacterium gen. nov., Bergeyella gen. nov., and Empedobacter norn. rev. 1994;5.

250. Li Y, Kawamura Y, Fujiwara N, Naka T, Liu H, Huang X, et al. Chryseobacterium miricola sp. nov., A Novel Species Isolated from Condensation Water of Space Station Mir. Systematic and Applied Microbiology. 2003;26:523–8.

251. Holmes B, Steigerwalt AG, Nicholson AC. DNA–DNA hybridization study of strains of Chryseobacterium, Elizabethkingia and Empedobacter and of other usually indole-producing non-fermenters of CDC groups IIc, IIe, IIh and IIi, mostly from human clinical sources, and proposals

of Chryseobacterium bernardetii sp. nov., Chryseobacterium carnis sp. nov., Chryseobacterium lactis sp. nov., Chryseobacterium nakagawai sp. nov. and Chryseobacterium taklimakanense comb. nov. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology. 2013;63:4639.

252. Nicholson AC, Gulvik CA, Whitney AM, Humrighouse BW, Graziano J, Emery B, et al. Revisiting the taxonomy of the genus Elizabethkingia using whole-genome sequencing, optical mapping, and MALDI-TOF, along with proposal of three novel Elizabethkingia species: Elizabethkingia bruuniana sp. nov., Elizabethkingia ursingii sp. nov., and Elizabethkingia occulta sp. nov. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek. 2018;111:55–72.

253. Kämpfer P, Busse H-J, McInroy JA, Glaeser SP. Elizabethkingia endophytica sp. nov., isolated from Zea mays and emended description of Elizabethkingia anophelisKämpfer et al. 2011. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 2015;65:2187–93.

254. Green O, Murray P, Gea-Banacloche JC. Sepsis caused by Elizabethkingia miricola successfully treated with tigecycline and levofloxacin. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease. 2008;62:430–2.

255. Lau SKP, Chow W-N, Foo C-H, Curreem SOT, Lo GC-S, Teng JLL, et al. Elizabethkingia anophelis bacteremia is associated with clinically significant infections and high mortality. Sci Rep. 2016;6:26045.

256. Teo J, Tan SY-Y, Tay M, Ding Y, Kjelleberg S, Givskov M, et al. First case of E anophelis outbreak in an intensive-care unit. The Lancet. 2013;382:855–6.

257. Sarma S, Kumar N, Jha A, Baveja U, Sharma S. Elizabethkingia meningosepticum: An emerging cause of septicemia in critically III patients. Journal of laboratory physicians. 2011;3:62.

258. Lin Y-T, Chiu C-H, Chan Y-J, Lin M-L, Yu K-W, Wang F-D, et al. Clinical and microbiological analysis of Elizabethkingia meningoseptica bacteremia in adult patients in Taiwan. Scand J Infect Dis. 2009;41:628–34.

259. Venkatesh V, Hegde A, M R. CLINICAL FEATURES AND ANTIMICROBIAL SUSCEPTIBILITIES OF ELIZABETHKINGIA MENINGOSEPTICA - AN EMERGING PATHOGEN FROM A TERTIARY CARE HOSPITAL IN MANGALORE. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research. 2018;110–3.

260. Seong H, Kim JH, Kim JH, Lee WJ, Ahn JY, Ku NS, et al. Risk Factors for Mortality in Patients with Elizabethkingia Infection and the Clinical Impact of the Antimicrobial Susceptibility Patterns of Elizabethkingia Species. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2020;9:1431.

261. Moore LSP, Owens DS, Jepson A, Turton JF, Ashworth S, Donaldson H, et al. Waterborne Elizabethkingia meningoseptica in Adult Critical Care1. Emerg Infect Dis. 2016;22:9–17.

262. Lin J-N, Lai C-H, Yang C-H, Huang Y-H, Lin H-H. Clinical manifestations, molecular characteristics, antimicrobial susceptibility patterns and contributions of target gene mutation to fluoroquinolone resistance in Elizabethkingia anophelis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2018;73:2497–502.

263. Chen S, Bagdasarian M, Walker ED. Elizabethkingia anophelis: Molecular Manipulation and Interactions with Mosquito Hosts. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2015;81:2233–43.

264. Janda JM, Lopez DL. Mini review: New pathogen profiles: Elizabethkingia anophelis. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease. 2017;88:201–5.

265. Li Y, Liu Y, Chew SC, Tay M, Salido MMS, Teo J, et al. Complete Genome Sequence and Transcriptomic Analysis of the Novel Pathogen Elizabethkingia anophelis in Response to Oxidative Stress. Genome Biol Evol. 2015;7:1676–85.

266. Liang C-Y, Yang C-H, Lai C-H, Huang Y-H, Lin J-N. Comparative Genomics of 86 Whole-Genome Sequences in the Six Species of the Elizabethkingia Genus Reveals Intraspecific and Interspecific Divergence. Scientific Reports. 2019;9:19167.

267. Jian M-J, Cheng Y-H, Perng C-L, Shang H-S. Molecular typing and profiling of topoisomerase mutations causing resistance to ciprofloxacin and levofloxacin in Elizabethkingia species. PeerJ. 2018;6:e5608.

268. Wozniak RAF, Waldor MK. Integrative and conjugative elements: mosaic mobile genetic elements enabling dynamic lateral gene flow. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2010;8:552–63.

269. Opota O, Diene SM, Bertelli C, Prod'hom G, Eckert P, Greub G. Genome of the carbapenemase-producing clinical isolate Elizabethkingia miricola EM_CHUV and comparative genomics with Elizabethkingia meningoseptica and Elizabethkingia anophelis : evidence for intrinsic multidrug resistance trait of emerging pathogens. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 2017;49:93–7.

270. Breurec S, Criscuolo A, Diancourt L, Rendueles O, Vandenbogaert M, Passet V, et al. Genomic epidemiology and global diversity of the emerging bacterial pathogen Elizabethkingia anophelis. Sci Rep. 2016;6:30379.

271. Hsu M-S, Liao C-H, Huang Y-T, Liu C-Y, Yang C-J, Kao K-L, et al. Clinical features, antimicrobial susceptibilities, and outcomes of Elizabethkingia meningoseptica (Chryseobacterium meningosepticum) bacteremia at a medical center in Taiwan, 1999-2006. European journal of clinical microbiology & infectious diseases : official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology. 2011;30:1271–8.

272. Lau SKP, Wu AKL, Teng JLL, Tse H, Curreem SOT, Tsui SKW, et al. Evidence for Elizabethkingia anophelis Transmission from Mother to Infant, Hong Kong. Emerg Infect Dis. 2015;21:232–41.

273. Lin J-N, Lai C-H, Yang C-H, Huang Y-H, Lin H-H. Elizabethkingia bruuniana infections in humans, Taiwan, 2005–2017. Emerging infectious diseases. 2019;25:1412.

274. Perrin A, Larsonneur E, Nicholson AC, Edwards DJ, Gundlach KM, Whitney AM, et al. Evolutionary dynamics and genomic features of the Elizabethkingia anophelis 2015 to 2016 Wisconsin outbreak strain. Nat Commun. 2017;8:15483.

275. Reed T, Watson G, Kheng C, Tan P, Roberts T, Ling C, et al. Elizabethkingia anophelis Infection in Infants, Cambodia, 2012-2018. Emerging infectious diseases. 2020;26:320–2.

276. Frank T, Gody JC, Nguyen LBL, Berthet N, Le Fleche-Mateos A, Bata P, et al. First case of Elizabethkingia anophelis meningitis in the Central African Republic. Lancet. 2013;381:1876.

277. Eriksen HB, Gumpert H, Faurholt CH, Westh H. Determination of Elizabethkingia Diversity by MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometry and Whole-Genome Sequencing. Emerg Infect Dis. 2017;23:320–3.

278. Kelly AJ, Karpathy SE, Gulvik CA, Ivey ML, Whitney AM, Bell ME, et al. A Real-Time Multiplex PCR Assay for Detection of Elizabethkingia Species and Differentiation between Elizabethkingia anophelis and E. meningoseptica. Journal of Clinical Microbiology. 2019;57:11.

279. Leray M, Knowlton N, Ho S-L, Nguyen BN, Machida RJ. GenBank is a reliable resource for 21st century biodiversity research. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2019;116:22651–6.

280. Brynildsrud O, Bohlin J, Scheffer L, Eldholm V. Rapid scoring of genes in microbial pangenome-wide association studies with Scoary. Genome Biology. 2016;17:238.

281. Ondov BD, Treangen TJ, Melsted P, Mallonee AB, Bergman NH, Koren S, et al. Mash: fast genome and metagenome distance estimation using MinHash. Genome Biology. 2016;17:132.

282. Carattoli A, Zankari E, García-Fernández A, Larsen MV, Lund O, Villa L, et al. In Silico Detection and Typing of Plasmids using PlasmidFinder and Plasmid Multilocus Sequence Typing. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2014;58:3895–903.

283. Larsson A. AliView: a fast and lightweight alignment viewer and editor for large datasets. Bioinformatics. 2014;30:3276–8.

284. Kahlmeter G, Brown DFJ, Goldstein FW, MacGowan AP, Mouton JW, Odenholt I, et al. European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) Technical Notes on antimicrobial susceptibility testing. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 2006;12:501–3.

285. Jorgensen JH, Hindler JF, Reller LB, Weinstein MP. New Consensus Guidelines from the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing of Infrequently Isolated or Fastidious Bacteria. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2007;44:280–6.

286. Javed MA, Cawthraw SA, Baig A, Li J, McNally A, Oldfield NJ, et al. Cj1136 Is Required for Lipooligosaccharide Biosynthesis, Hyperinvasion, and Chick Colonization by Campylobacter jejuni. Infection and Immunity. 2012;80:2361–70.

287. Auger J-P, Dolbec D, Roy D, Segura M, Gottschalk M. Role of the Streptococcus suis serotype 2 capsular polysaccharide in the interactions with dendritic cells is strain-dependent but remains critical for virulence. PLOS ONE. 2018;13:e0200453.

288. Ante VM, Farris LC, Saputra EP, Hall AJ, O'Bier NS, Oliva Chávez AS, et al. The Borrelia burgdorferi Adenylate Cyclase, CyaB, Is Important for Virulence Factor Production and Mammalian Infection. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2021;12:1121.

289. Benabdelhak H, Kiontke S, Horn C, Ernst R, Blight MA, Holland IB, et al. A Specific Interaction Between the NBD of the ABC-transporter HlyB and a C-Terminal Fragment of its Transport Substrate Haemolysin A. Journal of Molecular Biology. 2003;327:1169–79.

290. Ramamurthy T, Nandy RK, Mukhopadhyay AK, Dutta S, Mutreja A, Okamoto K, et al. Virulence Regulation and Innate Host Response in the Pathogenicity of Vibrio cholerae. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology. 2020;10:520.

291. González-Zorn B, Domínguez-Bernal G, Suárez M, Ripio M-T, Vega Y, Novella S, et al. SmcL, a novel membrane-damaging virulence factor in Listeria. International Journal of Medical Microbiology. 2000;290:369–74.

292. Xiao Y, Wang P, Zhu X, Xie Z. Pseudomonas donghuensis HYS gtrA/B/II Gene Cluster Contributes to Its Pathogenicity toward Caenorhabditis elegans. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. 2021;22:10741.

293. Alonzo F, Freitag NE. Listeria monocytogenes PrsA2 Is Required for Virulence Factor Secretion and Bacterial Viability within the Host Cell Cytosol. Infection and Immunity. 2010;78:4944–57.

294. Fetherston JD, Bertolino VJ, Perry RD. YbtP and YbtQ: two ABC transporters required for iron uptake in Yersinia pestis. Molecular Microbiology. 1999;32:289–99.

295. Ernst CM, Braxton JR, Rodriguez-Osorio CA, Zagieboylo AP, Li L, Pironti A, et al. Adaptive evolution of virulence and persistence in carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae. Nat Med. 2020;26:705–11.

296. Karlyshev AV, Champion OL, Churcher C, Brisson J-R, Jarrell HC, Gilbert M, et al. Analysis of Campylobacter jejuni capsular loci reveals multiple mechanisms for the generation of structural diversity and the ability to form complex heptoses. Molecular Microbiology. 2005;55:90–103.

297. Rowe HM, Huntley JF. From the Outside-In: The Francisella tularensis Envelope and Virulence. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology. 2015;5:94.

298. Novikov A, Marr N, Caroff M. A comparative study of the complete lipopolysaccharide structures and biosynthesis loci of Bordetella avium, B. hinzii, and B. trematum. Biochimie. 2019;159:81–92.

299. Lapp Z, Han JH, Wiens J, Goldstein EJC, Lautenbach E, Snitkin ES. Patient and Microbial Genomic Factors Associated with Carbapenem-Resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae Extraintestinal Colonization and Infection. Cleary DW, editor. mSystems. 2021;6:e00177-21.

300. Vila-Farrés X, Parra-Millán R, Sánchez-Encinales V, Varese M, Ayerbe-Algaba R, Bayó N, et al. Combating virulence of Gram-negative bacilli by OmpA inhibition. Sci Rep. 2017;7:14683.

301. Yorgey P, Rahme LG, Tan M-W, Ausubel FM. The roles of mucD and alginate in the virulence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in plants, nematodes and mice. Molecular Microbiology. 2001;41:1063–76.

302. Feng Y, Cao M, Shi J, Zhang H, Hu D, Zhu J, et al. Attenuation of Streptococcus suis virulence by the alteration of bacterial surface architecture. Sci Rep. 2012;2:710.

303. Hu R, Zhang Q, Gu Z. Molecular diversity of chromosomal metallo-β-lactamase genes in Elizabethkingia genus. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents. 2020;56:105978.

304. Booth SJ. Chryseobacterium Related Genera Infections☆. Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences [Internet]. Elsevier; 2014 [cited 2021 Oct 11]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128012383049229

305. Kämpfer P, Matthews H, Glaeser SP, Martin K, Lodders N, Faye I. Elizabethkingia anophelis sp. nov., isolated from the midgut of the mosquito Anopheles gambiae. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2011;61:2670–5.

306. Hu R, Yuan J, Meng Y, Wang Z, Gu Z. Pathogenic Elizabethkingia miricola infection in cultured black-spotted frogs, China, 2016. Emerging infectious diseases. 2017;23:2055.

307. Jiang H-Y, Ma J-E, Li J, Zhang X-J, Li L-M, He N, et al. Diets Alter the Gut Microbiome of Crocodile Lizards. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2017;8:2073.

308. Chen S, Soehnlen M, Blom J, Terrapon N, Henrissat B, Walker ED. Comparative genomic analyses reveal diverse virulence factors and antimicrobial resistance mechanisms in clinical Elizabethkingia meningoseptica strains. Scholz HC, editor. PLoS ONE. 2019;14:e0222648.

309. Snesrud E, McGann P, Walsh E, Ong A, Maybank R, Kwak Y, et al. Clinical and Genomic Features of the First Cases of Elizabethkingia anophelis Infection in New York, Including the First Case in a Healthy Infant Without Previous Nosocomial Exposure. 2019;3.

310. Teng JLL, Yeung M-Y, Yue G, Au-Yeung RKH, Yeung EYH, Fung AMY, et al. In silico analysis of 16S rRNA gene sequencing based methods for identification of medically important aerobic Gram-negative bacteria. J Med Microbiol. 2011;60:1281–6.

311. Han M-S, Kim H, Lee Y, Kim M, Ku NS, Choi JY, et al. Relative Prevalence and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Clinical Isolates of Elizabethkingia Species Based on 16S rRNA Gene Sequencing. Carroll KC, editor. J Clin Microbiol. 2017;55:274–80.

312. McTaggart LR, Stapleton PJ, Eshaghi A, Soares D, Brisse S, Patel SN, et al. Application of whole genome sequencing to query a potential outbreak of Elizabethkingia anophelis in Ontario, Canada. Access Microbiology [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Feb 20];1. Available from: https://www.microbiologyresearch.org/content/journal/acmi/10.1099/acmi.0.000017

313. Zdziarski P, Paściak M, Rogala K, Korzeniowska-Kowal A, Gamian A. Elizabethkingia miricola as an opportunistic oral pathogen associated with superinfectious complications in humoral immunodeficiency: a case report. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Aug 17];17. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5727958/

314. Mirza HC, Tuncer Ö, Ölmez S, Şener B, Tuğcu GD, Özçelik U, et al. Clinical strains of Chryseobacterium and Elizabethkingia spp. isolated from pediatric patients in a university hospital: performance of MALDI-TOF MS-based identification, antimicrobial susceptibilities, and baseline patient characteristics. Microbial Drug Resistance. 2018;24:816–21.

315. Konstantinidis KT, Tiedje JM. Genomic insights that advance the species definition for prokaryotes. PNAS. 2005;102:2567–72.

316. Richter M, Rosselló-Móra R. Shifting the genomic gold standard for the prokaryotic species definition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2009;

317. Varghese NJ, Mukherjee S, Ivanova N, Konstantinidis KT, Mavrommatis K, Kyrpides NC, et al. Microbial species delineation using whole genome sequences. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015;43:6761–71.

318. Chang T-Y, Chen H-Y, Chou Y-C, Cheng Y-H, Sun J-R. In vitro activities of imipenem, vancomycin, and rifampicin against clinical Elizabethkingia species producing BlaB and GOB metallo-beta-lactamases. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2019;38:2045–52.

319. Jean S-S, Hsieh T-C, Ning Y-Z, Hsueh P-R. Role of vancomycin in the treatment of bacteraemia and meningitis caused by Elizabethkingia meningoseptica. International journal of antimicrobial agents. 2017;50:507–11.

320. Humeniuk C, Arlet G, Gautier V, Grimont P, Labia R, Philippon A. β-Lactamases of Kluyvera ascorbata, Probable Progenitors of Some Plasmid-Encoded CTX-M Types. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002;46:3045–9.

321. Brady MT, Marcon MJ. Comamonadaceae [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2021 Apr 12]. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/comamonas

322. Yu X-Y, Li Y-F, Zheng J-W, Li Y, Li L, He J, et al. Comamonas zonglianii sp. nov., isolated from phenol-contaminated soil. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 2011;61:255–8.

323. Chipirom K, Tanasupawat S, Akaracharanya A, Leepepatpiboon N, Prange A, Kim K-W, et al. Comamonas terrae sp. nov., an arsenite-oxidizing bacterium isolated from agricultural soil in Thailand. J Gen Appl Microbiol. 2012;58:245–51.

324. Sun L-N, Zhang J, Chen Q, He J, Li Q-F, Li S-P. Comamonas jiangduensis sp. nov., a biosurfactant-producing bacterium isolated from agricultural soil. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 2013;63:2168–73.

325. Patureau D, Zumstein E, Delgenes JP, Moletta R. Aerobic Denitrifiers Isolated from Diverse Natural and Managed Ecosystems. Microbial Ecology. 2000;39:145–52.

326. Chang Y-H, Han J, Chun J, Lee KC, Rhee M-S, Kim Y-B, et al. Comamonas koreensis sp. nov., a non-motile species from wetland in Woopo, Korea. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 2002;52:377–81.

327. Guo Y, Gong H, Guo X. Rhizosphere bacterial community of Typha angustifolia L. and water quality in a river wetland supplied with reclaimed water. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2015;99:2883–93.

328. Palanisamy V, Gajendiran V, Mani K. Meta-analysis to identify the core microbiome in diverse wastewater. Int J Environ Sci Technol [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Sep 15]; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-021-03349-4

329. Boon N, Goris J, De Vos P, Verstraete W, Top EM. Bioaugmentation of Activated Sludge by an Indigenous 3-Chloroaniline-Degrading Comamonas testosteroni Strain, I2gfp. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2000;66:2906–13.

330. Wu J, Jiang C, Wang B, Ma Y, Liu Z, Liu S. Novel Partial Reductive Pathway for 4-Chloronitrobenzene and Nitrobenzene Degradation in Comamonas sp. Strain CNB-1. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:1759–65.

331. Tang Q, Lu T, Liu S-J. Developing a Synthetic Biology Toolkit for Comamonas testosteroni, an Emerging Cellular Chassis for Bioremediation. ACS Synthetic Biology [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2021 Sep 27]; Available from: https://pubs.acs.org/doi/pdf/10.1021/acssynbio.7b00430

332. Geng Z, Yu Y, Zhu S, Yu H, Liu J, Bian D, et al. Comparing polyethersulfone and polyurethane-immobilized cells of Comamonas testosteroni QYY in treatment of an accidental dye wastewater. Chem Res Chin Univ. 2017;33:36–43.

333. Yuan K, Li S, Zhong F. Characterization of a newly isolated strain Comamonas sp. ZF-3 involved in typical organics degradation in coking wastewater. Bioresource Technology. 2020;304:123035.

334. Zhu G, Zhang Y, Chen S, Wang L, Zhang Z, Rittmann BE. How bioaugmentation with Comamonas testosteroni accelerates pyridine mono-oxygenation and mineralization. Environ Res. 2021;193:110553.

335. Gumaelius L, Magnusson G, Pettersson B, Dalhammar G. Comamonas denitrificans sp. nov., an efficient denitrifying bacterium isolated from activated sludge. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 2001;51:999–1006.

336. Tago Y, Yokota A. Comamonas badia sp. nov., a floc-forming bacterium isolated from activated sludge. The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology. 2004;50:243–8.

337. Xing D, Cheng S, Logan BE, Regan JM. Isolation of the exoelectrogenic denitrifying bacterium Comamonas denitrificans based on dilution to extinction. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2010;85:1575–87.

338. Nguyen AQ, Vu HP, Nguyen LN, Wang Q, Djordjevic SP, Donner E, et al. Monitoring antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater treatment: Current strategies and future challenges. Science of The Total Environment. 2021;783:146964.

339. Andersson S, Kuttuva Rajarao G, Land CJ, Dalhammar G. Biofilm formation and interactions of bacterial strains found in wastewater treatment systems: Biofilm formation and interactions of bacterial strains. FEMS Microbiology Letters. 2008;283:83–90.

340. Farshad S, Norouzi F, Aminshahidi M, Heidari B, Alborzi A. Two cases of bacteremia due to an unusual pathogen, Comamonas testosteroni in Iran and a review literature. The Journal of Infection in Developing Countries. 2012;6:521–5.

341. Ojeda-Vargas M del M, Suárez-Alonso A, Pérez-Cervantes M de los A, Suárez-Gil E, Monzón-Moreno C. Urinary tract infection associated with Comamonas acidovorans. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. 1999;5:443–4.

342. Young C-C, Chou J-H, Arun AB, Yen W-S, Sheu S-Y, Shen F-T, et al. Comamonas composti sp. nov., isolated from food waste compost. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF SYSTEMATIC AND EVOLUTIONARY MICROBIOLOGY. 2008;58:251–6.

343. Latiefa B, Arnelia P, Vanessa J, Sehaam K, Wesaal K. Investigation into the microbial contamination in a spring water distribution system, Western Cape, South Africa. Afr J Microbiol Res. 2011;5:3200–14.

344. Bayhan Gİ, Tanır G, Karaman İ, Özkan Ş. Comamonas testosteroni: An Unusual Bacteria Associated with Acute Appendicitis. Balkan Med J. 2013;30:447–8.

345. Wu Y, Zaiden N, Cao B. The Core- and Pan-Genomic Analyses of the Genus Comamonas: From Environmental Adaptation to Potential Virulence. Front Microbiol [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2021 Apr 12];9. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6299040/ 346. Tiwari S, Nanda M. Bacteremia caused by Comamonas testosteroni an unusual pathogen. J Lab Physicians. 2019;11:87–90.

347. Tsui T-L, Tsao S-M, Liu K-S, Chen T-Y, Wang Y-L, Teng Y-H, et al. Comamonas testosteroni infection in Taiwan: Reported two cases and literature review. Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection. 2011;44:67–71.

348. Barbaro DJ, Mackowiak PA, Barth SS, Southern PM. Pseudomonas testosteroni Infections: Eighteen Recent Cases and a Review of the Literature. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 1987;9:124–9.

349. Arda B, Aydemir S, Yamazhan T, Hassan A, Tünger A, Serter D. Comamonas testosteroni meningitis in a patient with recurrent cholesteatoma. APMIS. 2003;111:474–6.

350. Reddy AK, Murthy SI, Jalali S, Gopinathan U. Post-operative endophthalmitis due to an unusual pathogen, Comamonas testosteroni. Journal of Medical Microbiology. 2009;58:374–5.

351. Franzetti F, Cernuschi M, Esposito R, Moroni M. Pseudomonas infections in patients with AIDS and AIDS-related complex. Journal of Internal Medicine. 1992;231:437–43.

352. Ben-Tovim T, Eylan E, Romano A, Stein R. Gram-negative bacteria isolated from external eye infections. Infection. 1974;2:162–5.

353. Zhou Y, Ma H, Dong Z, Shen M. Comamonas kerstersii bacteremia in a patient with acute perforated appendicitis: A rare case report. Medicine. 2018;97:e9296.

354. Codjoe FS, Donkor ES. Carbapenem Resistance: A Review. Med Sci (Basel) [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Oct 8];6. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5872158/

355. Matsunaga N, Hayakawa K. Estimating the impact of antimicrobial resistance. The Lancet Global Health. 2018;6:e934–5.

356. Gandra S, Alvarez-Uria G, Turner P, Joshi J, Limmathurotsakul D, Doorn HR van. Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Progress and Challenges in Eight South Asian and Southeast Asian Countries. Clinical Microbiology Reviews [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug 27];33. Available from: https://cmr.asm.org/content/33/3/e00048-19

357. Larsson DGJ, Andremont A, Bengtsson-Palme J, Brandt KK, de Roda Husman AM, Fagerstedt P, et al. Critical knowledge gaps and research needs related to the environmental dimensions of antibiotic resistance. Environment International. 2018;117:132–8.

358. Djordjevic SP, Jarocki VM, Morgan B, Donner E. Genomic Surveillance for One Health Antimicrobial Resistance: Understanding Human, Animal, and Environmental Reservoirs and Transmission. In: Manaia CM, Donner E, Vaz-Moreira I, Hong P, editors. Antibiotic Resistance in the Environment : A Worldwide Overview [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2020 [cited 2021 Sep 27]. p. 71–100. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2020_626

359. Tarabai H, Wyrsch ER, Bitar I, Dolejska M, Djordjevic SP. Epidemic HI2 Plasmids Mobilising the Carbapenemase Gene blaIMP-4 in Australian Clinical Samples Identified in Multiple Sublineages of Escherichia coli ST216 Colonising Silver Gulls. Microorganisms. 2021;9:567.

360. Piedra-Carrasco N, Fàbrega A, Calero-Cáceres W, Cornejo-Sánchez T, Brown-Jaque M, Mir-Cros A, et al. Carbapenemase-producing enterobacteriaceae recovered from a Spanish river ecosystem. PLOS ONE. 2017;12:e0175246.

361. Teixeira P, Tacão M, Pureza L, Gonçalves J, Silva A, Cruz-Schneider MP, et al. Occurrence of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in a Portuguese river: blaNDM, blaKPC and blaGES among the detected genes. Environ Pollut. 2020;260:113913.

362. Gomi R, Matsuda T, Yamamoto M, Chou P-H, Tanaka M, Ichiyama S, et al. Characteristics of Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae in Wastewater Revealed by Genomic Analysis. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2018;62:e02501-17.

363. Araújo S, Sousa M, Tacão M, Baraúna RA, Silva A, Ramos R, et al. Carbapenem-resistant bacteria over a wastewater treatment process: Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in untreated wastewater and intrinsically-resistant bacteria in final effluent. Science of The Total Environment. 2021;782:146892.

364. Cooper AL, Carter C, McLeod H, Wright M, Sritharan P, Tamber S, et al. Detection of carbapenem-resistance genes in bacteria isolated from wastewater in Ontario. Ivanova EP, editor. FACETS. 2021;6:569–91.

365. Nesporova K, Wyrsch ER, Valcek A, Bitar I, Chaw K, Harris P, et al. Escherichia coli Sequence Type 457 Is an Emerging Extended-Spectrum- β -Lactam-Resistant Lineage with Reservoirs in Wildlife and Food-Producing Animals. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;65:e01118-20.

366. Jarocki VM, Heß S, Anantanawat K, Berendonk TU, Djordjevic SP. Multidrug-Resistant Lineage of Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli ST182 With Serotype O169:H41 in Airline Waste. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2021;12:2301.

367. Nicolosi D, Nicolosi VM, Cappellani A, Nicoletti G, Blandino G. Antibiotic Susceptibility Profiles of Uncommon Bacterial Species Causing Severe Infections in Italy. Journal of Chemotherapy. 2009;21:253–60.

368. Li B, Qiu Y, Glidle A, Cooper J, Shi H, Yin H. Single cell growth rate and morphological dynamics revealing an "opportunistic" persistence. 2014;9.

369. Dai W, Zhu Y, Wang X, Sakenova N, Yang Z, Wang H, et al. Draft Genome Sequence of the Bacterium Comamonas aquatica CJG. Genome Announc. 2016;4:e01186-16.

370. Henze M, Loosdrecht M, Ekama G, Brdjanovic D. Biological Wastewater Treatment: Principles, Modelling and Design. Semantic Scholar. 2015;

371. Schulthess B, Bloemberg GV, Zbinden A, Mouttet F, Zbinden R, Böttger EC, et al. Evaluation of the Bruker MALDI Biotyper for Identification of Fastidious Gram-Negative Rods. Richter SS, editor. J Clin Microbiol. 2016;54:543–8.

372. Price MN, Dehal PS, Arkin AP. FastTree 2 – Approximately Maximum-Likelihood Trees for Large Alignments. PLoS One [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2021 Apr 15];5. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2835736/

373. Hadfield J, Croucher NJ, Goater RJ, Abudahab K, Aanensen DM, Harris SR. Phandango: an interactive viewer for bacterial population genomics. Bioinformatics. 2018;34:292–3.

374. Doster E, Lakin SM, Dean CJ, Wolfe C, Young JG, Boucher C, et al. MEGARes 2.0: a database for classification of antimicrobial drug, biocide and metal resistance determinants in metagenomic sequence data. Nucleic Acids Research. 2020;48:D561–9.

375. Darling AE, Mau B, Perna NT. progressiveMauve: Multiple Genome Alignment with Gene Gain, Loss and Rearrangement. Stajich JE, editor. PLoS ONE. 2010;5:e11147.

376. Pereira MB, Wallroth M, Kristiansson E, Axelson-Fisk M. HattCI: Fast and Accurate *attC* site Identification Using Hidden Markov Models. Journal of Computational Biology. 2016;23:891–902.

377. Sullivan MJ, Petty NK, Beatson SA. Easyfig: a genome comparison visualizer. Bioinformatics. 2011;27:1009–10.

378. Alikhan N-F, Petty NK, Ben Zakour NL, Beatson SA. BLAST Ring Image Generator (BRIG): simple prokaryote genome comparisons. BMC Genomics. 2011;12:402.

379. Wauters G, De Baere T, Willems A, Falsen E, Vaneechoutte M. Description of Comamonas aquatica comb. nov. and Comamonas kerstersii sp. nov. for two subgroups of Comamonas terrigena and emended description of Comamonas terrigena. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology. 2003;53:859–62.

380. Waack S, Keller O, Asper R, Brodag T, Damm C, Fricke WF, et al. Score-based prediction of genomic islands in prokaryotic genomes using hidden Markov models. BMC Bioinformatics. 2006;7:142.

381. Veyron S, Peyroche G, Cherfils J. FIC proteins: from bacteria to humans and back again. Pathogens and Disease [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2021 Sep 27];76. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/femspd/article/doi/10.1093/femspd/fty012/4898014

382. Dennis JJ. The evolution of IncP catabolic plasmids. Current Opinion in Biotechnology. 2005;16:291–8.

383. Bilgin H, Sarmis A, Tigen E, Soyletir G, Mulazimoglu L. Delftia acidovorans: A rare pathogen in immunocompetent and immunocompromised patients. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol. 2015;26:277–9.

384. Agrawal S, Orschler L, Sinn J, Lackner S. High-throughput profiling of antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater: comparison between a pond system in Namibia and an activated sludge treatment in Germany. Journal of Water and Health. 2020;18:867–78.

385. Nordmann P, Dortet L, Poirel L. Carbapenem resistance in Enterobacteriaceae: here is the storm! Trends Mol Med. 2012;18:263–72.

386. Peri AM, Doi Y, Potoski BA, Harris PNA, Paterson DL, Righi E. Antimicrobial treatment challenges in the era of carbapenem resistance. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease. 2019;94:413–25.

387. Runcharoen C, Moradigaravand D, Blane B, Paksanont S, Thammachote J, Anun S, et al. Whole genome sequencing reveals high-resolution epidemiological links between clinical and environmental Klebsiella pneumoniae. Genome Medicine. 2017;9:6.

388. Yao Y, Lazaro-Perona F, Falgenhauer L, Valverde A, Imirzalioglu C, Dominguez L, et al. Insights into a Novel blaKPC-2-Encoding IncP-6 Plasmid Reveal Carbapenem-Resistance

Circulation in Several Enterobacteriaceae Species from Wastewater and a Hospital Source in Spain. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2017;8:1143.

389. Zarfel G, Lipp M, Gürtl E, Folli B, Baumert R, Kittinger C. Troubled water under the bridge: Screening of River Mur water reveals dominance of CTX-M harboring Escherichia coli and for the first time an environmental VIM-1 producer in Austria. Science of The Total Environment. 2017;593–594:399–405.

390. Duran A, Okur F, Sahin V, Uyar I, Abacilar A, Akpinar M, et al. Comamonas testosteroni endocarditis in Turkey: A case report and review of the literature. International Medical Journal of Sifa University. 2015;2.

391. Nordmann P, Poirel L. Epidemiology and Diagnostics of Carbapenem Resistance in Gramnegative Bacteria. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2019;69:S521–8.

392. Yasayancan N. The 20th Comamonas Testosteroni Bacteremia Case in the Literature from Turkey: Mortal and Polymicrobial A Case Report and Literature Review. EJMO [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2021 Aug 3];1. Available from: http://www.ejmo.org/10.14744/ejmo.2017.16878/

393. Kaeuffer C, Schramm F, Meyer A, Hansmann Y, Guffroy A, Argemi X. First case of Comamonas aquatica bacteremia complicated by septic shock. Médecine et Maladies Infectieuses. 2018;48.

394. K.Moriya KK, K.Kikuchi, N.Matsuda, A.Yoshida, K.Okuzumi, Y.Uetera. Evaluation of matrixassisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry for species identification of Nonfermenting Gram-Negative Bacilli [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2021 Apr 12]. Available from: https://reader.elsevier.com/reader/sd/pii/S0167701215000834?token=6DE493E2D4210345530 CA325ECE887D65B4EA5ED0E9162E9A51615922B6273C245B412FBF9BF2A9F45D8EE8C5 B615E7C&originRegion=us-east-1&originCreation=20210412043126

395. Lood R, Ertürk G, Mattiasson B. Revisiting Antibiotic Resistance Spreading in Wastewater Treatment Plants – Bacteriophages as a Much Neglected Potential Transmission Vehicle. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2017;8:2298.

396. Ng C, Tan B, Jiang X-T, Gu X, Chen H, Schmitz BW, et al. Metagenomic and Resistome Analysis of a Full-Scale Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plant in Singapore Containing Membrane Bioreactors. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2019;10:172.

397. Aziz A, Basheer F, Sengar A, Irfanullah, Khan SU, Farooqi IH. Biological wastewater treatment (anaerobic-aerobic) technologies for safe discharge of treated slaughterhouse and meat processing wastewater. Science of The Total Environment. 2019;686:681–708.

398. Palanisamy V, Gajendiran V, Mani K. Meta-analysis to identify the core microbiome in diverse wastewater. Int J Environ Sci Technol [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2021 Sep 27]; Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s13762-021-03349-4

399. Jiang B, Zhou Z, Dong Y, Tao W, Wang B, Jiang J, et al. Biodegradation of Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene, and o-, m-, and p-Xylenes by the Newly Isolated Bacterium Comamonas sp. JB. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2015;176:1700–8.

400. Song Z, Edwards SR, Burns RG. Biodegradation of naphthalene-2-sulfonic acid present in tannery wastewater by bacterial isolates Arthrobacter sp. 2AC and Comamonas sp. 4BC. Biodegradation. 2005;16:237–52.

401. Liu J, Yu Y, Chang Y, Li B, Bian D, Yang W, et al. Enhancing quinoline and phenol removal by adding Comamonas testosteroni bdq06 in treatment of an accidental dye wastewater. International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation. 2016;115:74–82.

402. Wang C-C, Lee C-M, Chen L-J. Removal of Nitriles from Synthetic Wastewater by Acrylonitrile Utilizing Bacteria. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A. 2004;39:1767–79.

403. Jiang B, Zhou Z, Dong Y, Wang B, Jiang J, Guan X, et al. Bioremediation of Petrochemical Wastewater Containing BTEX Compounds by a New Immobilized Bacterium Comamonas sp. JB in Magnetic Gellan Gum. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 2015;176:572–81.

404. Andersson S, Dalhammar G, Land CJ, Rajarao GK. Characterization of extracellular polymeric substances from denitrifying organism Comamonas denitrificans. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2009;9.

405. Wu Y, Shukal S, Mukherjee M, Cao B. Involvement in Denitrification is Beneficial to the Biofilm Lifestyle of Comamonas testosteroni: A Mechanistic Study and Its Environmental Implications. Environ Sci Technol. 2015;49:11551–9.

406. Huyan J, Tian Z, Zhang Y, Zhang H, Shi Y, Gillings MR, et al. Dynamics of class 1 integrons in aerobic biofilm reactors spiked with antibiotics. Environ Int. 2020;140:105816.

407. Rosso F, Cedano JA, Parra-Lara LG, Sanz AM, Toala A, Velez JF, et al. Emerging carbapenem-resistant Aeromonas spp. infections in Cali, Colombia. The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2019;23:336–42.

408. White L, Hopkins KL, Meunier D, Perry CL, Pike R, Wilkinson P, et al. Carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae in hospital wastewater: a reservoir that may be unrelated to clinical isolates. Journal of Hospital Infection. 2016;93:145–51.

409. Manageiro V, Ferreira E, Caniça M, Manaia CM. GES-5 among the β-lactamases detected in ubiquitous bacteria isolated from aquatic environment samples. FEMS Microbiology Letters. 2014;351:64–9.

410. Recchia GD, Hall RMY 1995. Gene cassettes: a new class of mobile element. Microbiology. 1995;141:3015–27.

411. Imran Md, Das KR, Naik MM. Co-selection of multi-antibiotic resistance in bacterial pathogens in metal and microplastic contaminated environments: An emerging health threat. Chemosphere. 2019;215:846–57.

412. Rudakiya DM. Metal tolerance assisted antibiotic susceptibility profiling in Comamonas acidovorans. Biometals. 2018;31:1–5.

413. Yang Y, Yue Y, Song N, Li C, Yuan Z, Wang Y, et al. The YdiU Domain Modulates Bacterial Stress Signaling through Mn2+-Dependent UMPylation. Cell Reports. 2020;32:108161.

414. Dunon V, Bers K, Lavigne R, Top E, Springael D. Targeted metagenomics demonstrates the ecological role of IS1071 in bacterial community adaptation to pesticide degradation. Environmental microbiology. 2018;

415. Stolze Y, Eikmeyer F, Wibberg D, Brandis G, Karsten C, Krahn I, et al. IncP-1β plasmids of Comamonas sp. and Delftia sp. strains isolated from a wastewater treatment plant mediate resistance to and decolorization of the triphenylmethane dye crystal violet. Microbiology. 2012;158:2060–72.

416. Mathema VB, Thakuri BC, Sillanpää M. Bacterial mer operon-mediated detoxification of mercurial compounds: a short review. Arch Microbiol. 2011;193:837–44.

417. Top EM, Springael D. The role of mobile genetic elements in bacterial adaptation to xenobiotic organic compounds. Current Opinion in Biotechnology. 2003;14:262–9.

418. Sota M, Yano H, Nagata Y, Ohtsubo Y, Genka H, Anbutsu H, et al. Functional analysis of unique class II insertion sequence IS1071. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2006;72:291–7.

419. Dasari S, Ganjayi MS, Yellanurkonda P, Basha S, Meriga B. Role of glutathione Stransferases in detoxification of a polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon, methylcholanthrene. Chemico-Biological Interactions. 2018;294:81–90.

420. Desai BH. United Nations Environment Program (UNEP), 2017. Yearbook of International Environmental Law. 2017;28:498–505.

421. Essack SY. Environment: the neglected component of the One Health triad. Lancet Planet Health. 2018;2:e238–9.

422. Thakur S, Gray GC. The Mandate for a Global "One Health" Approach to Antimicrobial Resistance Surveillance. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2019;100:227–8.

423. Larsson DGJ, Flach C-F. Antibiotic resistance in the environment. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2022;20:257–69.

424. Larsson DGJ, Gaze WH, Laxminarayan R, Topp E. AMR, One Health and the environment. Nat Microbiol. 2023;8:754–5.

425. Arens S, Verbist L. Differentiation and susceptibility of Citrobacter isolates from patients in a university hospital. Clin Microbiol Infect. 1997;3:53–7.

426. Anderson MT, Mitchell LA, Zhao L, Mobley HLT. Citrobacter freundii fitness during bloodstream infection. Sci Rep. 2018;8:11792.

427. Chao C-T, Lee S-Y, Yang W-S, Chen H-W, Fang C-C, Yen C-J, et al. Citrobacter Peritoneal Dialysis Peritonitis: Rare Occurrence with Poor Outcomes. Int J Med Sci. 2013;10:1092–8.

428. Basra P, Koziol A, Wong A, Carrillo CD. Complete Genome Sequences of Citrobacter braakii Strains GTA-CB01 and GTA-CB04, Isolated from Ground Beef. Genome Announc. 2015;3:e01307-14.

429. Kwak H-L, Han S-K, Park S, Park SH, Shim J-Y, Oh M, et al. Development of a Rapid and Accurate Identification Method for Citrobacter Species Isolated from Pork Products Using a Matrix-Assisted Laser-Desorption Ionization Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry (MALDITOF MS). Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2015;25:1537–41.

430. Yuan C, Yin Z, Wang J, Qian C, Wei Y, Zhang S, et al. Comparative Genomic Analysis of Citrobacter and Key Genes Essential for the Pathogenicity of Citrobacter koseri. Front Microbiol

[Internet]. 2019 [cited 2021 Aug 5];0. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02774/full

431. Drelichman V, Band JD. Bacteremias due to Citrobacter diversus and Citrobacter freundii. Incidence, risk factors, and clinical outcome. Arch Intern Med. 1985;145:1808–10.

432. Tang LM, Chen ST, Lui TN. Citrobacter meningitis in adults. Clin Neurol Neurosurg. 1994;96:52–7.

433. Shih C-C, Chen Y-C, Chang S-C, Luh K-T, Hsieh W-C. Bacteremia Due to Citrobacter Species: Significance of Primary Intraabdominal Infection. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 1996;23:543–9.

434. Prais D, Nussinovitch M, Harel L, Amir J. Citrobacter koseri (diversus) meningitis in an otherwise healthy adolescent. Scand J Infect Dis. 2003;35:202–4.

435. Tan C-K, Lai C-C, Lin S-H, Liao C-H, Huang Y-T, Hsueh P-R. Fatal Citrobacter farmeri Meningitis in a Patient with Nasopharyngeal Cancer. J Clin Microbiol. 2010;48:1499–500.

436. McPherson C, Gal P, Ransom JL. Treatment of Citrobacter koseri infection with ciprofloxacin and cefotaxime in a preterm infant. Ann Pharmacother. 2008;42:1134–8.

437. Jacoby GA. AmpC β-Lactamases. Clinical Microbiology Reviews. 2009;22:161–82.

438. Carattoli A, Tosini F, Giles WP, Rupp ME, Hinrichs SH, Angulo FJ, et al. Characterization of plasmids carrying CMY-2 from expanded-spectrum cephalosporin-resistant Salmonella strains isolated in the United States between 1996 and 1998. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002;46:1269–72.

439. Batchelor M, Threlfall EJ, Liebana E. Cephalosporin resistance among animal-associated Enterobacteria: a current perspective. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2005;3:403–17.

440. Mohamed ES, Khairy RMM, Abdelrahim SS. Prevalence and molecular characteristics of ESBL and AmpC β -lactamase producing Enterobacteriaceae strains isolated from UTIs in Egypt. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2020;9:198.

441. Luo X, Yu L, Feng J, Zhang J, Zheng C, Hu D, et al. Emergence of Extensively Drug-Resistant ST170 Citrobacter portucalensis with Plasmids pK218-KPC, pK218-NDM, and pK218-SHV from a Tertiary Hospital, China. Microbiology Spectrum. 2022;10:e02510-22.

442. Kieffer N, Poirel L, Bessa LJ, Barbosa-Vasconcelos A, da Costa PM, Nordmann P. VIM-1, VIM-34, and IMP-8 Carbapenemase-Producing Escherichia coli Strains Recovered from a Portuguese River. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2016;60:2585–6.

443. Tarabai H, Wyrsch ER, Bitar I, Dolejska M, Djordjevic SP. Epidemic HI2 Plasmids Mobilising the Carbapenemase Gene blaIMP-4 in Australian Clinical Samples Identified in Multiple Sublineages of Escherichia coli ST216 Colonising Silver Gulls. Microorganisms. 2021;9:567.

444. Araújo S, Sousa M, Tacão M, Baraúna RA, Silva A, Ramos R, et al. Carbapenem-resistant bacteria over a wastewater treatment process: Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in untreated wastewater and intrinsically-resistant bacteria in final effluent. Science of The Total Environment. 2021;782:146892.

445. Nguyen AQ, Vu HP, Nguyen LN, Wang Q, Djordjevic SP, Donner E, et al. Monitoring antibiotic resistance genes in wastewater treatment: Current strategies and future challenges. Science of The Total Environment. 2021;783:146964.

446. Bürgmann H, Frigon D, H Gaze W, M Manaia C, Pruden A, Singer AC, et al. Water and sanitation: an essential battlefront in the war on antimicrobial resistance. FEMS Microbiology Ecology. 2018;94:fiy101.

447. Plaza-Rodríguez C, Alt K, Grobbel M, Hammerl JA, Irrgang A, Szabo I, et al. Wildlife asSentinels of Antimicrobial Resistance in Germany? Frontiers in Veterinary Science [Internet].2021[cited2023May24];7.Availablehttps://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2020.627821

448. Bodawatta KH, Hird SM, Grond K, Poulsen M, Jønsson KA. Avian gut microbiomes taking flight. Trends in Microbiology. 2022;30:268–80.

449. Dolejska M, Masarikova M, Dobiasova H, Jamborova I, Karpiskova R, Havlicek M, et al. High prevalence of Salmonella and IMP-4-producing Enterobacteriaceae in the silver gull on Five Islands, Australia. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2016;71:63–70.

450. Mukerji S, Stegger M, Truswell AV, Laird T, Jordan D, Abraham RJ, et al. Resistance to critically important antimicrobials in Australian silver gulls (Chroicocephalus novaehollandiae) and evidence of anthropogenic origins. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74:2566–74.

451. Mukerji S, Gunasekera S, Dunlop JN, Stegger M, Jordan D, Laird T, et al. Implications of Foraging and Interspecies Interactions of Birds for Carriage of Escherichia coli Strains Resistant to Critically Important Antimicrobials. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2020;86:e01610-20.

452. Mukerji S, Sahibzada S, Abraham R, Stegger M, Jordan D, Hampson DJ, et al. Proximity to human settlement is directly related to carriage of critically important antimicrobial-resistant Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae in Silver Gulls. Vet Microbiol. 2023;280:109702.

453. Cummins ML, Sanderson-Smith M, Newton P, Carlile N, Phalen DN, Maute K, et al. Whole-Genome Sequence Analysis of an Extensively Drug-Resistant Salmonella enterica Serovar Agona Isolate from an Australian Silver Gull (Chroicocephalus novaehollandiae) Reveals the Acquisition of Multidrug Resistance Plasmids. mSphere. 2020;5:e00743-20.

454. Nesporova K, Wyrsch ER, Valcek A, Bitar I, Chaw K, Harris P, et al. Escherichia coli Sequence Type 457 Is an Emerging Extended-Spectrum-β-Lactam-Resistant Lineage with Reservoirs in Wildlife and Food-Producing Animals. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;65:e01118-20.

455. Tarabai H, Wyrsch ER, Bitar I, Dolejska M, Djordjevic SP. Epidemic HI2 Plasmids Mobilising the Carbapenemase Gene blaIMP-4 in Australian Clinical Samples Identified in Multiple Sublineages of Escherichia coli ST216 Colonising Silver Gulls. Microorganisms. 2021;9:567.

456. Medvecky M, Papagiannitsis CC, Wyrsch ER, Bitar I, Cummins ML, Djordjevic SP, et al. Interspecies Transmission of CMY-2-Producing Escherichia coli Sequence Type 963 Isolates between Humans and Gulls in Australia. mSphere. 2022;7:e0023822.

457. Wyrsch ER, Nesporova K, Tarabai H, Jamborova I, Bitar I, Literak I, et al. Urban Wildlife Crisis: Australian Silver Gull Is a Bystander Host to Widespread Clinical Antibiotic Resistance. mSystems. 2022;7:e0015822.

458. Hem S, Wyrsch ER, Drigo B, Baker DJ, Charles IG, Donner E, et al. Genomic Analysis of Carbapenem-Resistant Comamonas in Water Matrices: Implications for Public Health and Wastewater Treatments. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2022;88:e0064622.

459. Gaio D, Anantanawat K, To J, Liu M, Monahan L, Darling AE. Hackflex: low-cost, high-throughput, Illumina Nextera Flex library construction. Microb Genom. 2022;8:000744.

460. Chen S, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Gu J. fastp: an ultra-fast all-in-one FASTQ preprocessor. Bioinformatics. 2018;34:i884–90.

461. Siguier P, Perochon J, Lestrade L, Mahillon J, Chandler M. ISfinder: the reference centre for bacterial insertion sequences. Nucleic Acids Research. 2006;34:D32–6.

462. Carattoli A, Zankari E, García-Fernández A, Voldby Larsen M, Lund O, Villa L, et al. In Silico Detection and Typing of Plasmids using PlasmidFinder and Plasmid Multilocus Sequence Typing. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2014;58:3895–903.

463. WHO. Critically important antimicrobials for human medicine: 6th revision [Internet]. https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241515528. 2019 [cited 2023 May 24]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241515528

464. Partridge SR, Ginn AN, Paulsen IT, Iredell JR. pEl1573 Carrying blaIMP-4, from Sydney, Australia, Is Closely Related to Other IncL/M Plasmids. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012;56:6029–32.

465. Roy Chowdhury P, Ingold A, Vanegas N, Martínez E, Merlino J, Merkier AK, et al. Dissemination of Multiple Drug Resistance Genes by Class 1 Integrons in Klebsiella pneumoniae Isolates from Four Countries: a Comparative Study. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy. 2011;55:3140–9.

466. Breijyeh Z, Jubeh B, Karaman R. Resistance of Gram-Negative Bacteria to Current Antibacterial Agents and Approaches to Resolve It. Molecules. 2020;25:1340.

467. Wang J, Ma Z-B, Zeng Z-L, Yang X-W, Huang Y, Liu J-H. The role of wildlife (wild birds) in the global transmission of antimicrobial resistance genes" zr. 2017;38:212–212.

468. Wu J, Huang Y, Rao D, Zhang Y, Yang K. Evidence for Environmental Dissemination of Antibiotic Resistance Mediated by Wild Birds. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:745.

469. Dolejska M, Literak I. Wildlife Is Overlooked in the Epidemiology of Medically Important Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;63:e01167-19.

470. Aberkane S, Compain F, Decré D, Pantel A, Vittecoq M, Solassol J, et al. Persistence of blaCMY-2-producing Proteus mirabilis in two gull colonies at a 1-year interval in Southern France. J Glob Antimicrob Resist. 2017;9:138–40.

471. Russo TP, Pace A, Varriale L, Borrelli L, Gargiulo A, Pompameo M, et al. Prevalence and Antimicrobial Resistance of Enteropathogenic Bacteria in Yellow-Legged Gulls (Larus michahellis) in Southern Italy. Animals (Basel). 2021;11:275.

472. Vittecoq M, Brazier L, Elguero E, Bravo IG, Renaud N, Manzano-Marín A, et al. Multiresistant Enterobacteriaceae in yellow-legged gull chicks in their first weeks of life. Ecol Evol. 2022;12:e8974.

473. Martín-Maldonado B, Rodríguez-Alcázar P, Fernández-Novo A, González F, Pastor N, López I, et al. Urban Birds as Antimicrobial Resistance Sentinels: White Storks Showed Higher Multidrug-Resistant Escherichia coli Levels Than Seagulls in Central Spain. Animals. 2022;12:2714.

474. Peleg AY, Franklin C, Bell JM, Spelman DW. Dissemination of the metallo-beta-lactamase gene blaIMP-4 among gram-negative pathogens in a clinical setting in Australia. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;41:1549–56.

475. Espedido BA, Partridge SR, Iredell JR. bla(IMP-4) in different genetic contexts in Enterobacteriaceae isolates from Australia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2008;52:2984–7.

476. Leung GH, Gray TJ, Cheong EY, Haertsch P, Gottlieb T. Persistence of related bla-IMP-4 metallo-beta-lactamase producing Enterobacteriaceae from clinical and environmental specimens within a burns unit in Australia - a six-year retrospective study. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2013;2:35.

477. Sidjabat HE, Townell N, Nimmo GR, George NM, Robson J, Vohra R, et al. Dominance of IMP-4-producing enterobacter cloacae among carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in Australia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015;59:4059–66.

478. Zhu Y, Zhang W, Schwarz S, Wang C, Liu W, Chen F, et al. Characterization of a blaIMP-4carrying plasmid from Enterobacter cloacae of swine origin. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2019;74:1799–806.

479. Kizny Gordon A, Phan HTT, Lipworth SI, Cheong E, Gottlieb T, George S, et al. Genomic dynamics of species and mobile genetic elements in a prolonged blaIMP-4-associated carbapenemase outbreak in an Australian hospital. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2020;75:873–82.

480. Roberts LW, Catchpoole E, Jennison AV, Bergh H, Hume A, Heney C, et al. Genomic analysis of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in Queensland reveals widespread transmission of blaIMP-4 on an IncHI2 plasmid. Microb Genom. 2020;6:e000321.

481. Dolejska M, Masarikova M, Dobiasova H, Jamborova I, Karpiskova R, Havlicek M, et al. High prevalence of Salmonella and IMP-4-producing Enterobacteriaceae in the silver gull on Five Islands, Australia. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. 2016;71:63–70.

482. Sidjabat HE, Townell N, Nimmo GR, George NM, Robson J, Vohra R, et al. Dominance of IMP-4-producing enterobacter cloacae among carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in Australia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015;59:4059–66.

483. Fernando SA, Phan T, Parker C, Cai T, Gottlieb T. Increased detection of carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae on post-clean sampling of a burns unit's wet surfaces. J Hosp Infect. 2019;101:179–82.

484. Dennis JJ. The evolution of IncP catabolic plasmids. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2005;16:291–8.

485. Yao Y, Lazaro-Perona F, Falgenhauer L, Valverde A, Imirzalioglu C, Dominguez L, et al. Insights into a Novel blaKPC-2-Encoding IncP-6 Plasmid Reveal Carbapenem-Resistance

Circulation in Several Enterobacteriaceae Species from Wastewater and a Hospital Source in Spain. Frontiers in Microbiology [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2023 Apr 20];8. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01143

486. Dong D, Mi Z, Li D, Gao M, Jia N, Li M, et al. Novel IncR/IncP6 Hybrid Plasmid pCRE3-KPC Recovered from a Clinical KPC-2-Producing Citrobacter braakii Isolate. mSphere. 2020;5:e00891-19.

487. Ghiglione B, Haim MS, Penzotti P, Brunetti F, D Amico González G, Di Conza J, et al. Characterization of Emerging Pathogens Carrying blaKPC-2 Gene in IncP-6 Plasmids Isolated From Urban Sewage in Argentina. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11:722536.

488. Wu W, Espedido B, Feng Y, Zong Z. Citrobacter freundii carrying blaKPC-2 and blaNDM-1: characterization by whole genome sequencing. Sci Rep. 2016;6:30670.

489. Li Y, Fang C, Qiu Y, Dai X, Zhang L. Genomic characterization of a carbapenem-resistant Citrobacter freundii cocarrying blaKPC-2 and blaNDM-1. J Glob Antimicrob Resist. 2022;29:289–92.

490. Underwood S, Avison MB. Citrobacter koseri and Citrobacter amalonaticus isolates carry highly divergent beta-lactamase genes despite having high levels of biochemical similarity and 16S rRNA sequence homology. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2004;53:1076–80.

491. Naas T, Aubert D, Ozcan A, Nordmann P. Chromosome-encoded narrow-spectrum Ambler class A beta-lactamase GIL-1 from Citrobacter gillenii. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2007;51:1365–72.

492. Barlow M, Hall BG. Origin and Evolution of the AmpC β-Lactamases of Citrobacter freundii. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2002;46:1190–8.

493. Phan M-D, Peters KM, Sarkar S, Forde BM, Lo AW, Stanton-Cook M, et al. Third-generation cephalosporin resistance conferred by a chromosomally encoded blaCMY-23 gene in the Escherichia coli ST131 reference strain EC958. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015;70:1969–72.

494. Robbins JD, Robbins JB. Reexamination of the Protective Role of the Capsular Polysaccharide (Vi antigen) of Salmonella typhi. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 1984;150:436–49.

495. Hone DM, Attridge SR, Forrest B, Morona R, Daniels D, LaBrooy JT, et al. A galE via (Vi antigen-negative) mutant of Salmonella typhi Ty2 retains virulence in humans. Infection and Immunity. 1988;56:1326–33.

496. Arya SC. Field Effectiveness of Vi Polysaccharide Typhoid Vaccine in the People's Republic of China. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2002;185:845.

497. Wu W, Feng Y, Tang G, Qiao F, McNally A, Zong Z. NDM Metallo-β-Lactamases and Their Bacterial Producers in Health Care Settings. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2019;32:e00115-18.

498. Luo X, Yu L, Feng J, Zhang J, Zheng C, Hu D, et al. Emergence of Extensively Drug-Resistant ST170 Citrobacter portucalensis with Plasmids pK218-KPC, pK218-NDM, and pK218-SHV from a Tertiary Hospital, China. Microbiol Spectr. 2022;10:e0251022. 499. Kikuchi Y, Matsui H, Asami Y, Kuwae A, Inahashi Y, Hanaki H, et al. Landscape of blaNDM genes in Enterobacteriaceae. J Antibiot (Tokyo). 2022;75:559–66.

500. Shen S, Huang X, Shi Q, Guo Y, Yang Y, Yin D, et al. Occurrence of NDM-1, VIM-1, and OXA-10 Co-Producing Providencia rettgeri Clinical Isolate in China. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2021;11:789646.

501. Tyson GH, Li C, Hsu C-H, Ayers S, Borenstein S, Mukherjee S, et al. The mcr-9 Gene of Salmonella and Escherichia coli Is Not Associated with Colistin Resistance in the United States. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2020;64:e00573-20.

502. Kieffer N, Royer G, Decousser J-W, Bourrel A-S, Palmieri M, Ortiz De La Rosa J-M, et al. mcr-9, an Inducible Gene Encoding an Acquired Phosphoethanolamine Transferase in Escherichia coli, and Its Origin. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2019;63:e00965-19.

503. Snyman Y, Whitelaw AC, Barnes JM, Maloba MRB, Newton-Foot M. Characterisation of mobile colistin resistance genes (mcr-3 and mcr-5) in river and storm water in regions of the Western Cape of South Africa. Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control. 2021;10:96.

504. Dropa M, Daoud Z. Editorial: The global threat of carbapenem-resistant gram-negative bacteria. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jul 13];12. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb.2022.974268

505. Meletis G. Carbapenem resistance: overview of the problem and future perspectives. Ther Adv Infect Dis. 2016;3:15–21.

506. Samreen, Ahmad I, Malak HA, Abulreesh HH. Environmental antimicrobial resistance and its drivers: a potential threat to public health. Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance. 2021;27:101–11.

507. Aslam B, Khurshid M, Arshad MI, Muzammil S, Rasool M, Yasmeen N, et al. Antibiotic Resistance: One Health One World Outlook. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Jul 13];11. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb.2021.771510

508. Martínez JL. Ecology and Evolution of Chromosomal Gene Transfer between Environmental Microorganisms and Pathogens. Microbiology Spectrum. 2018;6:10.1128/microbiolspec.mtbp-0006–2016.

509. Forsberg KJ, Reyes A, Wang B, Selleck EM, Sommer MOA, Dantas G. The shared antibiotic resistome of soil bacteria and human pathogens. Science. 2012;337:1107–11.

510. Ma X, Dong X, Cai J, Fu C, Yang J, Liu Y, et al. Metagenomic Analysis Reveals Changes in Bacterial Communities and Antibiotic Resistance Genes in an Eye Specialty Hospital and a General Hospital Before and After Wastewater Treatment. Front Microbiol. 2022;13:848167.

511. Kunhikannan S, Thomas CJ, Franks AE, Mahadevaiah S, Kumar S, Petrovski S. Environmental hotspots for antibiotic resistance genes. Microbiologyopen. 2021;10:e1197.

512. Peng Z, Maciel-Guerra A, Baker M, Zhang X, Hu Y, Wang W, et al. Whole-genome sequencing and gene sharing network analysis powered by machine learning identifies antibiotic resistance sharing between animals, humans and environment in livestock farming. PLoS Comput Biol. 2022;18:e1010018.

513. Johnson TJ, Lang KS. IncA/C plasmids. Mob Genet Elements. 2012;2:55-8.

514. Hayes F. The Horizontal Gene Pool — Bacterial Plasmids and Gene Spread. Heredity. 2001;86:251–2.

515. Shintani M, Takahashi Y, Yamane H, Nojiri H. The Behavior and Significance of Degradative Plasmids Belonging to Inc Groups in *Pseudomonas* within Natural Environments and Microcosms. Microbes and Environments. 2010;25:253–65.

516. Lerminiaux NA, Cameron ADS. Horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes in clinical environments. Can J Microbiol. 2019;65:34–44.

517. Wyrsch ER, Nesporova K, Tarabai H, Jamborova I, Bitar I, Literak I, et al. Urban Wildlife Crisis: Australian Silver Gull Is a Bystander Host to Widespread Clinical Antibiotic Resistance. mSystems. 2022;7:e00158-22.

518. Pankok F, Taudien S, Dekker D, Thye T, Oppong K, Wiafe Akenten C, et al. Epidemiology of Plasmids in Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae with Acquired Extended Spectrum Beta-Lactamase Genes Isolated from Chronic Wounds in Ghana. Antibiotics (Basel). 2022;11:689.

519. Roy Chowdhury P, Fourment M, DeMaere MZ, Monahan L, Merlino J, Gottlieb T, et al. Identification of a novel lineage of plasmids within phylogenetically diverse subclades of IncHI2-ST1 plasmids. Plasmid. 2019;102:56–61.

520. Junker F, Cook AM. Conjugative plasmids and the degradation of arylsulfonates in Comamonas testosteroni. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1997;63:2403–10.

521. Boon N, Goris J, De Vos P, Verstraete W, Top EM. Genetic Diversity among 3-Chloroanilineand Aniline-Degrading Strains of the Comamonadaceae. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2001;67:1107– 15.

522. Król JE, Penrod JT, McCaslin H, Rogers LM, Yano H, Stancik AD, et al. Role of IncP-1β plasmids pWDL7::rfp and pNB8c in chloroaniline catabolism as determined by genomic and functional analyses. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2012;78:828–38.

523. Ma Y-F, Wu J-F, Wang S-Y, Jiang C-Y, Zhang Y, Qi S-W, et al. Nucleotide sequence of plasmid pCNB1 from comamonas strain CNB-1 reveals novel genetic organization and evolution for 4-chloronitrobenzene degradation. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2007;73:4477–83.

524. Chen K, Xu X, Zhang L, Gou Z, Li S, Freilich S, et al. Comparison of Four Comamonas Catabolic Plasmids Reveals the Evolution of pBHB To Catabolize Haloaromatics. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2016;82:1401–11.

525. Zajmi A, Teo J, Yeo CC. Epidemiology and Characteristics of Elizabethkingia spp. Infections in Southeast Asia. Microorganisms. 2022;10:882.

526. Zajmi A, Teo J, Yeo CC. Epidemiology and Characteristics of Elizabethkingia spp. Infections in Southeast Asia. Microorganisms. 2022;10:882.

527. Aslam B, Wang W, Arshad MI, Khurshid M, Muzammil S, Rasool MH, et al. Antibiotic resistance: a rundown of a global crisis. Infect Drug Resist. 2018;11:1645–58.

528. Kwon HJ, Chen Z, Evans P, Meng J, Chen Y. Characterization of Mobile Genetic Elements Using Long-Read Sequencing for Tracking Listeria monocytogenes from Food Processing Environments. Pathogens. 2020;9:822.

Appendixes

Appendix 1

Spreadsheet containing metadata of all isolates used in the study for Chapter 4. Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-</u> mmc1.xlsx

Appendix 2

Spreadsheet containing assembly statistics of study isolates.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc2.xlsx</u>

Appendix 3

Pairwise SNP matrices for *E. anophelis* and *E. miricola* isolates.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc4.xlsx</u>

Appendix 4

New species identification by using 16S rRNA and *rpoB* sequence identities by ANIb, ANIm and GGDC.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc5.xlsx</u>

Appendix 5

Gene presence/absence matrix generated by Roary.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc6.xlsx</u>

Appendix 6

Scoary to calculate of genes present in *E. umeracha* sp. nov. isolates using a total of 1886 genes identified in the seven novel isolates.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc7.xlsx</u>
STRING identified functional enrichments of tryptophan biosynthesis, molybdenum and cofactor biosynthesis.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc8.xlsx</u>

Appendix 8

MDS analysis on putative virulence factors identified this collection.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc9.xlsx</u>

Appendix 9

AST data by MIC using <u>EUCAST</u> non-species and NCSI non-Enterobacteriaceae PK-PD breakpoints .

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc12.xlsx</u>

Appendix 10

Phage analysis on 94 *Elizabethkingia* genomes via Phaster.

Accessible via link: <u>https://ars.els-cdn.com/content/image/1-s2.0-S2666517421000638-mmc14.xlsx</u>



Appendix 11: A progressive Mauve analysis of *Elizabethkigia umeracha* sp.novel with all available reference sequences.



Appendix 12: MUSCLE alignments of all *Elizabethkingia* species carried *bla*_{GOB}, with distribution of several distinct signature deletions of 2–4 amino acids within the different alleles.



Appendix 13: *bla*_{CME} tree of *Elizabethkingia* isolates in our study.



Appendix 14: Plasmid alignments of all *E. anophelis* from aquatic environment (n=16) and clinical isolates (n=22) to reference plasmid CP016375 using BRIG. A) plasmid maps and alignment of a representative plasmid from *E.anophelis* from Australian aquatic environment (EK-QUAD-EK_02) against all plasmids identified from *E.anophelis* in this study (aquatic environment and clinical isolates).Inner rings show Blastn alignment against related plasmid sequences (from inside to outside started by aquatic environment isolates followed in order by clinical isolates).Center histogram shows GC content.(B)Ananalysis buy using a plasmid reference from Genbank with accession CP016375 fromstrain F3201.

Appendix 15

Spreadsheet containing metadata of all isolates used in the study for Chapter 5 Accessible via link: <u>https://journals.asm.org/doi/suppl/10.1128/aem.00646-</u> 22/suppl_file/aem.00646-22-s0001.xlsx

Appendix 16 Full assembly statistics Accessible via link: <u>https://journals.asm.org/doi/suppl/10.1128/aem.00646-</u> 22/suppl_file/aem.00646-22-s0002.xlsx

BLASTn (ANIb), ANI average nucleotide identity MUMer (ANIm), and in silico DNA-DNA hybridization (DDH) analyses to identify *Comamonas denitrificans*. Accessible via link:<u>https://journals.asm.org/doi/suppl/10.1128/aem.00646-</u> 22/suppl_file/aem.00646-22-s0003.xlsx

Appendix 18

Metadata and accession numbers for isolates used in this study, including RefSeq genomes.

Accessible via link : https://figshare.com/account/projects/177588/articles/24080496

Appendix 19

Genomic data, including allelic variants for known and novel STs, for strains sequenced in present *Citrobacter* study

Accessible via link: https://figshare.com/account/articles/24082524

Appendix 20

Fourteen other plasmid sequences from GenBank highly related to pE11573 (> 90% coverage and 100% identity).

Accessible via link: : https://figshare.com/account/articles/24082533



Appendix 21: Original and curated *Citrobacter* phylogenies used to speciate genomes from the *Citrobacter* study collection.



Appendix 22: Virulence-associated genes (VAGs) among the 77 isolates from our *Citrobacter* study.